A WORLD-LEADING
MENTAL HEALTHCARE
SYSTEM BY 2035:
COMMITMENTS FOR A
CROSS-GOVERNMENT
MENTAL HEALTH AND
WELLBEING PLAN

Royal College of Psychiatrists

DHSC
Discussion
Paper:
Submission 1
July 2022

About the Royal College of Psychiatrists

We are the professional medical body responsible for supporting psychiatrists throughout their careers from training through to retirement, and in setting and raising standards of psychiatry in the United Kingdom.

We work to secure the best outcomes for people with mental illness, intellectual disabilities and developmental disorders by promoting excellent mental health services, supporting the prevention of mental illness, training outstanding psychiatrists, promoting quality and research, setting standards and being the voice of psychiatry.

Contents

1.	Executive summary	4
2.	Introduction	50
	Looking back	51
	Looking ahead	53
	Our vision for the Plan: 2025-2035	54
	Our principles for the Plan	55
	About our response	56
3.	How can we promote positive mental wellbeing and prevent the onset of mental ill-health?	58
	Reduce socio-economic inequalities, deprivation, and poverty	58
	Take action on climate change, pollution, and biodiversity loss	60
	Put health at the heart of urban and community planning	60
	Put mental health at the heart of ICS population management	62
	Reduce stigma and discrimination	63
	Promote self-help	63
	Reduce social isolation and loneliness and invest in community assets	64
	Improve perinatal and parental outcomes	64
	Improve outcomes in childhood and adolescence	65
	Protect children and young people from online harm	66
	Prevent depression, eating disorders and dementia	69
	Reduce employee stress and increase wellbeing	70
4.	How can we intervene earlier when people need support with their mental health?	71
	Invest in a whole system response to children and young people's mental health	71
	Ensure mental health support is a central component of enhanced models of primary care	72
	Increase access to IAPT services	74
	Invest in healthcare roles that support integrated care	74
5.	How can we improve the quality and effectiveness of treatment for mental health conditions?	76
	Reduce inequalities in access, experience, and outcomes in mental health provision	76
	Improve people's experience of care when transitioning between services	77
	Make mental health services safer	78
	Learn from deaths	79
	Focus on quality improvement and reduce unwarranted variation	80
	Choose interventions wisely and safe prescribing	81
	Measure and collect patient outcomes data	
	Make mental health services greener	
	Invest in the health and wellbeing of NHS and social care staff	84
6	How can we support people living with mental health conditions to live well?	86

		rove the physical health of people with severe mental illnesses and/or intellectual disabilitie autistic people	
	Integ	grate and personalise mental health care for people with long-term conditions	88
	Incre	ease support for carers	90
	Supp	port people to find and retain meaningful employment	90
	Impi	rove the welfare system	92
	Supp	port people with problem debt	92
	Supp	port people to access safe housing	93
7.	Н	ow can we improve support for people in crisis?	94
	Expa	and access to mental health services	94
	Intro	oduce new waiting time standards in mental health	97
	Impi	rove the urgent and emergency care pathway for those with a mental illness	98
	Impl	lement the Mental Health Act Reform Bill	. 100
		amit to preventing suicide and provide better information and support to those bereaved or eted by suicide	. 101
8.	C	ross-cutting enablers	. 104
a. tra		aplement the NHS LTP in full by 2028/29 with the restoration of all existing service ories	. 104
	b.	Ensure ICSs are setup to improve the mental health and wellbeing of their population	
	c.	Strengthen leadership and increase transparency and accountability	
	d.	Increase funding for NHS mental health services	
	e.	Invest in the NHS mental health estate	
	f.	Ensure public mental health budgets have a growing share of public health spending	
	g.	Increase funding for drug and alcohol use disorder service	
	h.	Increase funding for mental health social care	
	i.	Invest in digital technology	
	j.	Increase funding for research	
	k.	Build a strong and resilient mental health workforce	
9	R	eferences	123

1. Executive summary

The government's commitment to level up and address unequal outcomes and life chances across the country has never been more pressing. Improving the mental health and wellbeing of the nation is integral to this commitment, particularly for people who experience worse outcomes than the general population.

We welcomed the former Secretary of State for Health and Social Care's commitment to ensuring the NHS is set up properly for success, levelling up across the NHS and social care, pursuing personalisation, as well as using emerging technologies and data. The Government's mental health and wellbeing plan will be central to delivering this commitment and we commend it to the new Secretary of State and urge them to take this agenda forward.

Mental illness remains one of the largest single causes of disability in England² with up to one in five mothers suffering from depression, anxiety, or psychosis during pregnancy or in the first year after childbirth³, one in six children and young people aged 6–19 having a probable mental disorder⁴, 1–2% of adults having a severe mental illness (SMI)⁵ and one in 30 adults living with drug dependence.⁶

Mental illness also disproportionately affects people living in poverty, those who are unemployed, and those who face racial discrimination.⁷

Yet, we know that only a minority of people in England with a mental illness, including substance/alcohol use, receive any form of treatment. The only exception to this is for people experiencing psychosis. ⁸

The government's last cross-government mental health strategy only achieved half of its objectives in full, and only two have been partially achieved. The ambition for more people to have good mental health, more people with mental illness to have good physical health, and more people to have a positive experience of care and support has not been achieved.

Within the NHS, the Long Term Plan (LTP) is making good progress to transform mental health services across the country, building on the foundations of the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (FYFVMH). However, as with the FYFVMH, major barriers to delivery remain. Many of these were apparent before the COVID-19 pandemic but have undoubtedly been exacerbated by recent events.

Firstly, a clear, ambitious mental health workforce is lacking. Secondly, sustained increased investment at a local level has been variable. Thirdly, we remain behind in the ambition to improve the quality and flow of data, particularly for older adult services, and children and young people's services. The capacity and capability of NHS Digital (NHSD) (now subsumed within NHSE) to meet the recommendations for a data revolution should be enhanced. Fourth, there has not always been sufficiently joined-up leadership and governance at a senior level across Government departments and with NHSE. This Plan is an opportunity to further align these processes more strategically. Fifth, there is a tendency for health strategies and plans to be produced in silos without enough thought to the relevant interdependencies.

The Chief Executive of NHS England (NHSE), Amanda Pritchard, recently set out her top priorities for the NHS: recovery, reform, resilience, and respect. Achieving these ambitions will mean recovering from the inevitable impact of the pandemic on the nation's mental health, reforming and improving mental healthcare for the future, ensuring mental health services are resilient to future shocks, and respecting all staff and patients with much greater attention paid to equality, diversity, and inclusion (EDI).

As NHS leaders implement their plans for 2022/23 and beyond, we are pleased to see a continued commitment to improve mental health services and services for people with learning disabilities and/or autistic people through continued growth in mental health investment to transform and expand community health services and improve access.⁹

We have made progress since the introduction of the FYFVMH and the current NHS LTP, but the treatment gap remains substantial. The scale of the challenge in mental health is so great that demand continues to outstrip capacity. With mental health referrals at record levels of 4.3 million last year and a backlog of at least 1.5 million people still waiting to start treatment, pressure on the NHS is likely to reach unprecedented levels. ¹⁰

Clearly, NHS treatment cannot be the only answer to our national mental health challenge. Investing in public mental health through evidence-based health promotion, prevention and early intervention initiatives is the only way to reduce the prevalence of mental illness in the population and consequently the burden of mental illness in the long-term. The current cost of living crisis makes this situation more urgent. Food insecurity, fuel poverty, debt and loneliness are a reality for millions of people.

But there is far less coverage of interventions to prevent associated impacts of mental illness, such as premature mortality, and negligible coverage of interventions to prevent mental illness from arising or to promote mental wellbeing and resilience. This implementation failure results in preventable population scale suffering, broad impacts and associated economic costs. Furthermore, it breaches the right to health and the Equality Act, and the implementation gap has further widened during the pandemic.

The United Nations Sustainable Developmental agenda set 17 ambitious and transformational goals for people and for the planet in January 2016, with the aim that all will be achieved by 2030. Goal three seeks to ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all, at all ages. The target of achieving universal coverage by 2030 applies to the treatment of mental disorder, prevention of mental disorder and promotion of mental wellbeing. The Government has committed to achieving the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by 2030 but this will require a collaborative, planned approach over the next eight years.

Sustainable development for people and the planet is defined as development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. The interlinkages and integrated nature of the SDGs balance the three dimensions of sustainable development: economic, social, and environmental. This cross-government mental health and wellbeing plan must be seen in the context of achieving this goal.

Our vision for the Plan: 2025-2035

To drive progress over the next decade, the Government must build on the foundations set by No Health Without Mental Health, ¹³ Future in Mind¹⁴, the FYFVMH, and the NHS LTP¹⁵. It must also align with other global and national calls to action.

Our vision for 2035 is to create a world-leading mental healthcare system in England; one that is designed to promote good health and wellbeing, prevent mental ill health, intervene at the earliest opportunity, and to provide universal and timely access to high-quality treatment and support for those who need it.

We recommend the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC), other Governmental departments, the NHS and its arm's-length bodies, local government, and key partners commit to ambitious and targeted action so that collectively:

- 1. by 2035, the prevalence of mental disorders in the English population has been reduced by five percentage points, and disparities in prevalence across population groups have been reduced
- **2.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of delivering universal health coverage for the treatment of mental disorders, prevention of mental disorders and promotion of mental wellbeing in England
- **3.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of reducing premature mortality from mental disorders and illness (through prevention and treatment, and promoting mental health and wellbeing) by one-third in England
- **4.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of providing universal access to quality essential health care services so that everyone who needs mental health treatment and support in England will be able to access it at the right place and at the right time, including through NHS primary care, urgent and emergency care, and secondary and specialist mental health services
- **5.** by 2030, we have improved the quality, safety and effectiveness of treatment and care for those needing services for their mental health, measured through patient experience, effectiveness, safety, and patient outcomes (that matter most to patients)
- **6.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of strengthening the prevention and treatment of substance abuse and harmful use of alcohol in England
- 7. by 2030, we have built a strong and resilient mental health workforce with mental health leaders empowered to develop the healthcare services of the future through Integrated Care Systems (ICSs), Partnerships (ICPs) and Boards (ICBs)
- **8.** by 2030, we have set up local systems to invest in mental health services and integrated pathways of care in an equitable and sustainable way that reflect significant historic underinvestment, and
- **9.** by 2035, there is equitable funding for world-class mental health research, giving us a greater knowledge and understanding of effective treatments and service models that contribute to better patient experiences, recovery, and long-term outcomes around the world.

Our principles for the Plan

The development of the Plan should be underpinned by a set of values and principles drawn from the responses to the consultation. This will help clarify what the strategy is to achieve and how this will be achieved.

- > It must be ambitious, realistic and measurable
- ➤ It must be co-produced
- ➤ It must be joined-up
- ➤ It must be transparent
- > It must have prevention and early intervention front and centre
- > It must be underpinned by cross-cutting commitments to reduce inequalities across the board
- ➤ It must have an accompanying Implementation Plan with comprehensive workforce and funding projections and commitments
- > It must be future proof

About our response

We believe this consultation, alongside the forthcoming update of the NHS LTP, is an opportunity to develop a world-leading mental healthcare system by 2035. Preventing poor mental and physical health must be front and centre of the levelling up mission if we are to protect the NHS and enable more people to live longer, healthier, and happier lives. For those who need treatment and support, we must reduce the treatment gap and reduce disparities in access, quality of care, safety, experience, and outcomes. We welcome the opportunity to share our recommendations with the government to support the development of a new cross-government, 10-year plan for mental health and wellbeing, and a refreshed suicide prevention plan for England.

Summary of recommendations

	Actions	Responsible organisation
HOW CAN WE PROMO ILL-HEALTH?	TE POSITIVE MENTAL WELLBEING AND PREVENT THE ON	SET OF MENTAL
Reduce socio-economic inequalities, deprivation, and poverty	The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to develop a National Strategy on Inequalities led by the Prime Minister to reduce widening social, economic, environmental and health inequalities. ¹⁶	DLUHC
poverty	DLUHC to set a target to reduce levels of child poverty to 10%, putting it on par with the lowest rates in Europe. 17	DLUHC
	DLUHC to put health and mental health equity and wellbeing at the heart of local, regional, and national economic planning and strategy. 18	DLUHC
	DHSC to fund Public Health at a level of 0.5% of GDP with spending focused proportionately across the social gradient. ¹⁹	DHSC
	The Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) and DHSC to ensure Public Health develops capacity and expands its focus on social determinants of health. ²⁰	OHID and DHSC
	OHID to develop social determinants of health interventions to improve healthy behaviours. ²¹ ²²	OHID
	DLUHC to increase the deprivation weighting in the local government funding formula, and invest in the development of economic, social, and cultural resources in the most deprived communities. ²³	DLUHC
	DLUHC to invest in the development of economic, social, and cultural resources in the most deprived communities. ²⁴	DLUHC
	DLUHC to invest in the resilience of areas that were damaged and weakened before and during the pandemic. ²⁵	DLUHC
	DLUHC to tackle domestic and gender violence and abuse.	DLUHC
	DWP to ensure that all workers receive at least the national living wage as a step towards achieving the long-term goal of preventing in-work poverty. ²⁶	DWP
	DWP to make the social safety net sufficient for people not in full-time work to receive a minimum income for healthy living. ²⁷	DWP
	DWP to review the taxation and benefits system to ensure they achieve greater equity and are not regressive. ²⁸	DWP

	DWP to make permanent the £1,000-a-year increase in the standard allowance for Universal Credit. ²⁹	DWP
	DWP to end the five-week wait for Universal Credit and provide cash grants for low-income households. 30	DWP
	DWP to remove sanctions and reduce conditionalities in benefit payments, eradicating benefit caps and lifting the two-child limits. ³¹	DWP
	DWP to provide tapering levels of benefits to avoid cliff edges. 32	DWP
	DWP to increase child benefit for lower-income families to reduce child and food poverty. ³³	DWP
	DLUHC to eradicate food poverty permanently and remove reliance on food charities. 34	DLUHC
	DLUHC to extend free school meal provision for all children in households in receipt of Universal Credit. 35	DLUHC
	DLUHC to give sufficient support to food aid providers and charities. ³⁶	DLUHC
Take action on climate change, pollution, and biodiversity loss	The Department for Environment and Rural Affairs (Defra) to prioritise a unified approach with sufficient resources to tackle the climate and ecological crisis across all aspects of government.	Defra
	Defra to follow the UK Health Alliance on Climate Change (UKHACC) principles for a healthy and green recovery to place environmental and health factors at the heart of any economic recovery following the COVID-19 pandemic.	Defra
	Defra to base decisions on changes to land and water usage on tools which include assessment of prospective impacts to mental and physical health.	Defra
	 All research organisations to: ensure that future research in planetary health includes multidisciplinary studies examining how the mental health of different vulnerable groups are affected by climate-related hazards, pollution and biodiversity loss, and establish and quantify the co-benefits to mental health of taking action against climate change, biodiversity loss and pollution. 	Research organisations
	 The Medical School Council to: ensure the impact of the climate and ecological emergency, and the role medical professionals can play in preventing and mitigating this, are a core part of the curriculum, and work with medical schools to ensure students are taught about the overuse of tests and interventions. 	Medical School Council
	All organisations responsible for postgraduate and continuing medical education to ensure that practicing doctors receive similar updates to undergraduates.	All organisations responsible for

		postgraduate and continuing medical education
Put health at the heart of urban and community planning	DLUHC to ensure all new housing developments include within their plans a priority to promote good mental health and wellbeing of their population and improve access to health services for people of all ages with mental ill health. Dementia-friendly communities should be a fundamental part of the design. New housing development sites can learn lessons from 'Healthy New Towns' demonstrator sites, including: developing health services that help people to stay well strengthening and integrating 'out-of-hospital' care developing the future workforce linking health services to wider community assets supporting self-management using digital technology to support care creating integrated health and wellbeing centres maximising the benefits of integrated health and wellbeing centres strategic estates planning developing a schedule of accommodation, and options for project funding.	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to build more good-quality homes that are affordable and environmentally sustainable. ³⁷	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to ensure 100% of new housing is carbon-neutral by 2030, with an increased proportion being either affordable or in the social housing sector. ³⁸	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to reduce sources of air pollution from road traffic in more deprived areas. 39	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to increase support for those who live in the private rented sector by increasing the local housing allowance to cover 50% of market rates. 40	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to remove the cap on council tax. 41	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to urgently reduce homelessness and extend and make watertight the protections against eviction. 42	DLUHC and local authorities
	DLUHC to implement recommendations from the Royal Society for Public Health report, Health on the High Street, including:	DLUHC and local authorities

	o local authorities nationwide to introduce A5 planning restrictions within 400 metres	
	o local authorities nationwide to introduce A5 planning restrictions within 400 metres of primary and secondary schools	
	1 1	
	o DLUHC to provide local authorities with the power and support to restrict the	
	opening of new betting shops and other unhealthy outlets where there are already	
	clusters	
	o vape shops to ensure all customers who smoke are aware of their local stop smoking	
	service	
	o industry and all businesses selling food on the high street – cafés, pubs, fast food	
	outlets, convenience stores, leisure centres – to reduce the calories in their products	
	o Facebook and Google to provide discounted advertising opportunities to local,	
	independent health-promoting businesses	
	o local authorities to support meaningful use of shops by making records on vacant	
	commercial properties publicly accessible	
	o councils to set differential rent classes for tenants based on how health-promoting	
	their business offer is, and	
	o business rates relief for businesses that try to improve the public's health.	
	Local authorities to substantially invest in the infrastructure to support walking, cycling,	Local authorities
	leisure activity, sport and active travel, and neighbourhood walkability with well-designed	
	neighbourhoods.	
	DLUHC and OHID to tackle obesogenic environments on high streets by:	DLUHC and OHID
	• addressing the junk food offer around schools by banning unhealthy fast-food outlets	
	from within a five-minute walk of school gates	
	ending discounts targeted at school children	
	 ending app-based food delivery services to school gates 	
	 building better places to go, including better quality parks with the use of young 	
	people in mind, and physical signage outside schools directing young people to their	
	nearest park, and	
	• limiting the reach of junk food adverts, including banning the advertising of	
	unhealthy food products across all council-owned advertising sites.	
Put mental health at the	ICSs to adopt population health management approaches that focus on public mental	ICSs
heart of ICS population	health and wellbeing. This should include work on perinatal mental health, children, and	
management	young people (where some of the greatest opportunities for prevention lie), and on wider	
	services such as addiction, homelessness or housing services and employment support.	

	ICSs to invest in school-based programmes, including bullying and violence prevention, interventions to promote adolescent social-emotional functioning and developmental trajectories, universal resilience-focused interventions, school-based promotion of self-regulation, school based mindfulness programmes, youth mentoring programmes, psychosocial interventions delivered by teachers, prevention of smoking, alcohol, and drug use. ⁴³	ICSs
	ICSs to ensure that population health management approaches allow for an understanding of the health inequalities and health service utilisation by creating a linked dataset with patient-level information from acute services, primary care, primary care prescribing, mental health, community services, continuing healthcare, social care, public health, and specialised commissioning. Using these data can help clinicians to review pathways and services, and to understand the quality, strategic and financial opportunities, and risks.	ICSs
	NHSE to provide local ICSs with guidance and examples of good practice, demonstrating how population health approaches can help address mental health issues as well as wider public health problems.	NHSE
Reduce stigma and discrimination	DHSC should fund an anti-stigma campaign to help end the stigma and discrimination often experienced by people with mental health problems.	DHSC
uiscrimmation	DHSC and DfE should continue to fund MindEd so they can continue to provide free educational resource on children, young people, adults, and older people's mental health.	DHSC and DfE
Promote self-help	DHSC to commit to fully fund both adult and children and young people's Every Mind Matters platforms, taking into consideration the needs of people across demographics.	DHSC
Reduce social isolation and loneliness and invest in community assets	OHID and NHSE to develop a preventative strategy with initiatives to reduce the incidence of loneliness along with other factors that are known to reduce the risk of mental illness in older people.	OHID and NHSE
	Local authorities should offer interventions that promote social interaction through volunteering opportunities, community engagement, social skills training, and befriending, for example. The NHS might not be well placed to lead on this but could provide infrastructure, evaluations, input to the communities (by invitation), teaching or physical health checks.	Local authorities
	Primary Care Networks (PCN's) to map assets and resources within the community, with due consideration of mental health and wellbeing resources. The ease in which patients can access these resources (with a particular focus on excluded groups), and the ease in which primary care professionals can refer to them, should be regularly reviewed.	PCNs

	NHSE and PCNs to expand the roll out of social prescribing in primary care in line with the ambitions and recommendations of the College's Position Statement on this important intervention. ⁴⁴	NHSE and PCNs
Improve perinatal and parental outcomes	HM Treasury and Department for Education (DfE) to increase levels of spending on the early years and (as a minimum) meet the OECD average and ensure allocation of funding is proportionately higher for more deprived areas. 45	HM Treasury and DfE
	DfE and DHSC to increase the availability and quality of early years services, including Children's Centres, in all regions of England and to reduce inequalities in early years development. 46	DfE and DHSC
	DHSC and DfE to expand perinatal and early years mental health services within Universal Services (maternity services, health visiting, Sure Start centres and primary care).	DHSC
	OHID and NHSE to reverse the decline in the health visiting and school nursing workforce through a demand-driven, well-resourced national workforce strategy and plan.	OHID and NHSE
	DHSC to fund local authorities to enable them to provide health visiting and school nursing services at a level that delivers everything that Government and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance expect of them.	DHSC
	NHSE and OHID should ensure antenatal classes universally include information about mental health and wellbeing, as well as parenting and parenting programmes.	NHSE and OHID
	NHSE and OHID to invest in interventions to address perinatal outcomes including targeting parent tobacco, alcohol, and substance use during pregnancy and interventions targeting birth outcomes such as low birth weight, preterm birth, prenatal infection, and poor maternal nutrition, and breastfeeding support. ⁴⁷	NHSE and OHID
	NHSE and OHID to expand the existing package of measures aimed at parents, including parenting programmes and promotion of child/parent attachment. 48	NHSE and OHID
Improve outcomes in childhood and adolescence	DHSC to reverse declines in the mental health of children and young people and improve levels of wellbeing from the present low rankings internationally. 49	DHSC
	OHID to ensure that trauma and adverse childhood experiences are a priority for public health. It should produce clear guidance and support for local authorities to coordinate efforts to improve the prevention of, and responses to, trauma. ⁵⁰	OHID
	DHSC, DfE and DLUHC to increase resources for preventing abuse and identifying and supporting children experiencing abuse. ⁵¹	DHSC, DfE and DLUHC
	DHSC to implement the recommendations of the Independent Review of Children's Social Care in full, swiftly and with appropriate resourcing.	DHSC

	DHSC to invest in services for Looked after children through foster parent training	DHSC
	improved parenting practices and reduced child disruptive behaviour. ⁵²	Bilde
	DfE to increase attainment to match the best in Europe by reducing inequalities. 53	DfE
	DfE to invest in school-based programmes, including bullying and violence prevention, interventions to promote adolescent social-emotional functioning and developmental trajectories, universal resilience-focused interventions, school-based promotion of self-regulation, school based mindfulness programmes, youth mentoring programmes, psychosocial interventions delivered by teachers, prevention of smoking, alcohol, and drug use. ⁵⁴	DfE
	DfE to ensure that all young people are engaged in education, employment or training up to the age of 21. 55	DfE
	DfE to increase the number of post-school apprenticeships and support in-work training throughout the life course. ⁵⁶	DfE
	DfE to develop and fund additional training schemes for school leavers and unemployed young people. 57	DfE
	DfE to restore the per-student funding for secondary schools and especially sixth form, at least in line with 2010 levels and up to the level of London (excluding London weighting). 58	DfE
	DfE to further support young people's training, education, and employment schemes to reduce the numbers who are NEET, and urgently address gaps in access to apprenticeships. ⁵⁹	DfE
	DfE to raise minimum wage for apprentices and further incentivise employers to offer such schemes. ⁶⁰	DfE
	DfE to invest in Special Educational Needs services to deliver behavioural and educational interventions that improve children's inclusion and participation in school, cognitive development, interventions to support reading for children with intellectual disability in schools, and parenting programmes. ⁶¹	DfE
	DfE to give excluded students additional support and enrol those who need it into Pupil Referral Units. ⁶²	DfE
	DfE to prioritise funding for youth services. ⁶³	DfE
	DfE and DHSC to promote interventions to increase physical activity in children and young people. ⁶⁴	DfE
Protect children and young people from online harm	The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) and the Regulator to urgently review and establish a protocol for the sharing of data from social media companies with universities for research into benefits and harms on children and young people.	DCMS and Regulator

Urgent review of the ethical framework for using digital data – the same standards need to apply as in other areas of research.	DCMS and Regulator
DCMS and NHSE to fund a follow-up of the NHSD (now within NHSE) prevalence study to examine the impact of social media on vulnerable children and young people over time.	DCMS and NHSE
To instruct the regulator to establish a levy on tech companies proportionate to their worldwide turnover. This would be used to fund independent research and training packages for clinicians, teachers and others working with children and young people. As with the gambling industry and social responsibility measures, the gaming and social media industry should be required to increase social responsibility measures similarly, such as emulate the gambling industry's duty of care practices (e.g., personalised behavioural feedback, stop messages) in gaming/social media platforms.	DCMS and Regulator
Enable the regulator to undertake a joint review with the UK Gambling Commission to review regulation regarding loot boxes in line with other countries which have recognized loot boxes as a form of gambling.	DCMS and Regulator
Undertake a consultation in 2020 on a yellow card warning system similar to that used for medicines, in order for professionals and potentially parents/carers/young people to report harms of social media and gaming companies.	DCMS and Regulator
Prioritise the strictest enforcement of Data Protection law and in particular, UK DPA 2018 "Age-appropriate design" to services targeting and / or popular with children, including a requirement that services should default to assuming users need child protection until explicit action is taken to opt-out.	DCMS and Regulator
Mitigate the harm to children caused by habit-forming features of the service by consideration and analysis of how processes (including algorithmic serving of content, the display of other users' approval of posts and notifications) contribute to development of habit-forming behaviour.	Technology companies
Social media platforms should flag up engagement with risky content and operate and offer a free direct hotline for at-risk or vulnerable individuals.	Technology companies
Social media companies should provide user configurable controls (not in the cloud) that can block incoming content of the young person's choosing (by default 'full safety measures on') and provide feedback on content they are planning to send (e.g., BBC Own It app for an example).	Technology companies
Social media companies should promote and contribute to mental health charities in home countries to support any vulnerable individuals.	Technology companies

Gaming companies and social media platforms should regularly fund research related to their products, to be conducted by independent external bodies and provide on a regular basis user data for research purposes to academic institutions.	Technology companies
Funding of media literacy awareness campaigns.	Technology companies
Teachers have a key role to play in terms of education about online safety.	Education professionals
Schools and colleges should have policies relating to device use and a digital code of conduct. Good practice should be sought out and shared. A multi-stakeholder engagement of peers, parents and school staff should be encouraged to support, inform, and update school policies.	Education professionals
If teachers are concerned about the level of technology used by children and young people and the possible impact on their health and well-being, they should seek guidance from resources such as the MindEd modules and discuss the issue with their mental health leads within schools, as well as sharing concerns with parents.	Education professionals
The Personal, Social and Health Education Association syllabuses should be developed further to include online safety, and further resource development should be prioritised.	Education professionals
Opportunities for group working away from screens should be encouraged whenever possible.	Education professionals
Questions around technology use should become a core part of biopsychosocial assessments and formulations; the online world can be just as important to young people as their offline world. It is helpful to ask children and young people about any areas that worry them in their digital lives, whilst keeping a check on their use and its disruption of healthy or necessary activities.	Healthcare professionals
Psychiatrists should be mindful of the possible impact of technology use when children and young people report difficulties in areas such as sleeping, academic performance, mood, behaviour or eating.	Healthcare professionals
Mental health conditions such as depression and behavioural problems may make children more vulnerable to problematic technology use; clinicians should be aware of the impact of technology.	Healthcare professionals
Clinicians must be aware of the additional needs of vulnerable parents, such as those suffering from depression, who may struggle to support their child around problematic technology use. If problematic technology use is identified:	Healthcare professionals
• the assessing clinician will seek to understand the impact of all presenting difficulties including potential problematic use on family relationships, educational performance	

 and social interactions. In this context, the clinician will start to understand the potential level of problematic technology use it has not yet been fully elucidated whether conditions such as depression and anxiety are contributing factors to problematic internet use or gaming or are a result of the condition. It is recommended that, where more than one condition is present, the clinician documents the duration of all conditions, and clinicians should be aware of the safeguarding implications of online content and contact. 	
Services should deliver training in the concept of technology addiction. Online resources such as minded.org are useful training resources and should be further developed as knowledge increases in this area.	People involved in training and service development
Pathways to specialist services also need to be developed. There are models for other specialist pathways, such as eating disorders, where locality services treat children and young people whose symptoms are less severe. This enables locality teams to maintain expertise and recognise conditions, ensuring that children and young people can be treated as soon as possible. Where symptoms are more severe, children and young people will need specialist care. As treatment for technology addiction is still developing, this may involve travelling to specialist clinics, however as more awareness of the condition develops, the level of expertise will increase. Local protocols will need to be developed based on the diagnostic criteria available. What must be acknowledged is that children and young people with technology addiction are more likely to experience additional mental health needs such as depression, anxiety, developmental conditions such as ADHD and eating disorders.	People involved in training and service development
 Embedding the use of device-collected screen time and internet usage-type data in ongoing (or commencing) large-scale cohort studies examining other variables including health outcomes is essential to allow for: longitudinal research studies with children and young people at different developmental stages, examining whether technology causes harmful outcomes as well as potential benefits examining different types of screen use, as well as content, and exploring a variety of health-related outcomes. Screen time use data cannot rely purely on self-report determining the effects of extensive online media usage on cognitive development. there is a need for qualitative studies exploring children's and young people's perspectives, including gender differences 	Researchers

	 research is needed that focuses on potentially vulnerable groups such as those with mental health and neurodevelopmental disorders, looked-after children, LGBTQIA+ young people and very young children websites that normalise or promote concepts such as self-harm, suicide and anorexia should be studied and their impact on young people understood. Additionally, when limitations are proactively placed on sites by technology companies, the impact of these limitations on the health and well-being of children and young people should be studied research needs to elucidate the possible concepts of technology addiction and examine the potential for addiction, including further development of screening tools and treatment programmes research is needed into the incidence of problematic technology use across the UK, and the development of further brain neuroimaging studies is needed that will examine the posited affected areas, not only for overuse but also to examine tolerance and withdrawal effects. 	
	Research is needed to understand how young people with mental health needs are using the internet and what support could be put in place.	Researchers
	Research is also needed to understand the possible benefits of programmes that can help people manage their digital technology use, for example, apps that can block the use of other apps and the use of time restrictions. Personalised programmes for media addiction, for example, including specialised Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and systemic family therapy, need to be developed and evaluated. Programmes need to take into account heterogeneity around potential causes (e.g., severe mental illness, low selfesteem, loneliness, ADHD, individual's predisposition to addiction) and engagement with specific internet content or transactions (e.g., social media, online gaming or gambling).	Researchers
	Therapeutic trials should have integrated mediation analyses as a core aspect of trial design in order to determine which psychological and/or neurological changes predict and accompany successful treatment outcomes.	Researchers
	Further research into the use of social media platforms for support, for example, in relation to suicide prevention.	Researchers
Prevent depression, eating disorders and dementia	DHSC and other government departments to prevent depression through good quality employment, physical activity, reduction in social isolation and loneliness, early access to psychological and educational interventions.	DHSC and OGDs

	DHSC and other government departments to invest in lifestyle modification and dissonance-based prevention programs to prevent eating disorders.	DHSC and OGDs
	DHSC and other government departments to invest in interventions that address the twelve modifiable risk factors which could prevent or delay 40% of dementia include treatment of hypertension, reduction of obesity and associated diabetes, physical activity. limiting alcohol use, avoiding smoking, prevention of air pollution and head injury, addressing insomnia, and use of hearing aids for hearing loss.	DHSC and OGDs
Reduce employee stress and increase wellbeing	DWP to implement the recommendations of the Stevenson/Farmer review on mental health and employers in full and oversee its implementation.	DWP
	 Employers to invest in workplace interventions to reduce employee stress and increase wellbeing through: strategic approaches to improve mental wellbeing in the workplace taking account workplace culture, workload, job quality, autonomy and employee concerns about mental health including stigma supportive work environment external sources of support organisation-wide approaches training and support for managers individual-level approaches approaches for employees who have or are at risk of poor mental health organisational-level approaches for high-risk populations, and engaging with employees and their representatives. 	Employers
	 Employers to invest in workplace interventions to promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental disorder including⁶⁵: workplace resources which can improve employee wellbeing and organisational performance increasing employee control via flexible working resilience promotion programmes which were more effective for those at higher risk of stress workplace-based physical activity promotion mindfulness and yoga protective labour and social policies which modified association between work stress and mental disorder 	Employers

0	procedural justice and relational justice in the workplace which were
	associated with reduced depression

- o interventions to prevent employment related stress and mental disorder
- o interventions to address work-related stress and promote wellbeing, and
- online interventions to reduce workplace stress or improve mindfulness through online mindfulness interventions reduced employee stress symptoms. Targeted online stress management interventions led to small reductions in stress, though the strength of associations varied among the interventions.

HOW CAN WE INTERVENE EARLIER WHEN PEOPLE NEED SUPPORT WITH THEIR MENTAL HEALTH?

Invest in a whole system
response to children and
young people's mental health

	high quality services to all those who need there in line with the Healthy Child	Local authornics
	high-quality service to all those who need them, in line with the Healthy Child	
1	Programme.	Dugg
	DHSC to fund the roll-out of early support hubs for children and young people aged 11 –	DHSC
	25.	
	NHSE to provide additional funding to enable the full implementation of the Mental	NHSE
	Health Support Teams (MHST) review recommendations, with a focus on strengthening	
	provision for children with greater and more complex needs. Providing recommendations	
	are implemented, support the furthering of the roll out of MHST beyond 2023/24 to	
	ensure access for 100% of pupils.	
	NHSE to ensure staff in MHST have received training so that they feel equipped to	NHSE
	identify the mental health needs of vulnerable groups of children and young people,	
	including young people not in education, employment or training (NEETs), children with	
	neurodevelopmental problems (including Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder	
	[ADHD], autism spectrum disorders [ASD] and intellectual disabilities), children with	
	long-term health conditions, children with behavioural difficulties, looked-after children,	
	young carers, refugees and migrant children, children with a first language other than	
	English, children in the criminal justice system, abused children, LGBTQIA+ young	
	people, and to refer them appropriately when required.	
	DHSC to work with DfE to implement the forthcoming recommendations of the	DHSC and DfE
	children's social care review, particularly where these relate to meeting the needs of	
	children with mental illnesses and prioritise this agenda as part of the new cross-	
	Government mental health strategy.	

Local authorities to commission and fund health visiting services that are able to offer a Local authorities

	DHSC and NHSE to identify pressure points and provide targeted investment to scale services and recover performance including children and young people's eating disorder services and acute care.	DHSC and NHSE
	DHSC to review the evidence for rolling out Mental Health First Aid to those who work in youth clubs, sports clubs and other recreational groups, Churches, and other religious organisations.	DHSC
Ensure mental health support is a central component of enhanced models of primary care	NHSE and PCNs to implement the recommendations of the Fuller Stocktake report ⁶⁶ , and specifically relevant to mental health: enable all PCNs to evolve into integrated neighbourhood teams, supporting better continuity and preventive healthcare as well as access, with a blended generalist and specialist workforce drawn from all sectors. Secondary care consultants – including psychiatrists, geriatricians, respiratory consultants, paediatricians – should be aligned to neighbourhood teams with commitments reflected in job plans, along with members of community and mental health teams. With teams collocated within neighbourhoods, to extend models of personalised care, embed enhanced health in care homes and develop a consistent set of diagnostic tests. At place level, bring together teams on admissions avoidance, discharge and flow – including urgent community response, virtual wards and community mental health crisis teams. Focus on community engagement and outreach, across the life course. Proactively identify and target individuals who can benefit from interventions in neighbourhoods, committing to delivering neighbourhood teams first for Core20PLUS5 populations. Co-ordinate vaccinations, screening and health checks at place level, in accordance with national standards, and create a clear development plan to support the sustainability of primary care and translate the framework provided by Next steps for integrated primary care into reality, across all neighbourhoods. Ensure a particular focus on unwarranted variation in access, experience and outcomes. Ensure understanding of current spending distribution across primary care, compared with the system allocation and health inequalities. Support primary care where it wants to work with other providers at scale, by establishing or joining provider collaboratives, GP federations, supra-PCNs or working with or as part of community mental health and acute providers. Tackle gaps in provision, including where appropriate, commissioning new providers in particular for	NHSE and PCNs

	NHSE to ensure there is adequate access to information across the interfaces between	NHSE and ICSs
	primary, acute, and mental health care.	
	NHSE to explore the potential for community pharmacists to perform medication reviews for people on longer-term psychotropic medication prescriptions.	NHSE
	PCNs to accept dual GP registrations for students and work to be able to manage care in a more coordinated way.	PCNs
Increase access to IAPT services	NHSE and ICSs to ensure everyone with common mental disorders can access psychological therapies each year.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to expand the choice of therapies available in the Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme for all mental health diagnoses.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE to review the current exclusion criteria for accessing IAPT services and consider the factors affecting the number of people who do not complete treatment.	NHSE
	NHSE to develop a strategy to reduce the gap in access between older adults, Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups, students and any other group not currently served well by IAPT services.	NHSE
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure parity of access to IAPT services for older people (who are significantly less able to access psychological therapies by dint of frailty and multimorbidity) and people with an intellectual disability. Services need to comply with equality legislation by making a reasonable adjustment to their services to facilitate people with intellectual disabilities using IAPT services.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to significantly expand IAPT services for people with long-term conditions.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure the quality and people's experience of IAPT services continually improves. Improving the numbers of people who recover, reducing geographic variation between services, and reducing inequalities in access and outcomes for particular population groups are all important aspects of the development of IAPT services.	NHSE and ICSs
Invest in healthcare roles that support integrated care	NHSE and ICSs to invest in new roles that supported integrated mental and physical healthcare. This should include ensuring that at least 10% of the 1,000 Physician Associates being trained each year work in mental health.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE to ensure investment in new roles includes funding for the increases required in psychiatric capacity to train and supervise new roles.	NHSE

HOW CAN WE IMPROVE THE QUALITY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF TREATMENT FOR MENTAL HEALTH CONDITIONS?

Reduce inequalities in access, experience, and outcomes in mental health provision

NHSE and ICSs to ensure everyone who uses mental health services has equitable access to effective early interventions and equitable experiences of care and outcomes, regardless of age or ethnicity.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure there is a year-on-year reduction in the disparities between people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups and the rest of the population, in terms of both numbers of people detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 and the range of appropriate treatments offered including alternatives to detention.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs should expand LGBTQIA+ services as well as outreach services to deprived children, young people and families, hard-to-reach groups, and those from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs should ensure people at risk of discrimination, and protected groups under the Equalities Act subject to the Mental Health Act have access to an advocate with specialist knowledge of legislation to advocate appropriately for them.	NHSE and ICSs
MoJ should ensure mental health tribunal panels better reflect the communities they work with.	MoJ
DHSC to produce a strategy for reducing race inequality in mental health, building on the Race Disparity Audit, including work with schools, the police, youth and community services and mental health services to improve access, outcomes, and experiences for people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.	DHSC
NHSE, ICSs and mental health providers must develop and monitor data relating to access and outcomes for groups of people with protected characteristics, including by gender, age, sexuality and ethnicity and disability.	NHSE, ICSs and mental health providers
DHSC and NHSE to take forward in full the recommendations of the Women's Mental Health Taskforce.	DHSC and NHSE
NHSE and ICSs should take steps to improve access and outcomes for LGBTQIA+ communities and set an expectation that commissioners will recognise the value of specialist LGBTQIA+ services, commissioning them to meet local needs.	NHSE and ICSs
Government to legislate to extend the definition of disability in the Equality Act to protect people with fluctuating mental health problems.	Government
ICSs to commission services that use population health data to identify health inequality and have an explicit plan to address this.	ICSs

	Regular training for all Home Office and healthcare staff on early indicators of mental health conditions and the circumstances in which capacity assessments should be triggered. This should be linked to safeguarding training along with the development of a screening tool for assessment of capacity for all detainees and robust pathways including the provision (in keeping with the conclusions of the Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland, 2018) of appropriate advocacy services for those found to lack mental capacity to make relevant decisions. ⁶⁷	Home Office
	The Home Office to ensure that refugees and migrants with existing mental illness are only be detained in very exceptional circumstances.	Home Office
Improve people's experience of care when transitioning between services	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that strategic, operational, and clinical leaders need to be given protected time to undertake the work required to expand and harmonise services to better meet the needs of young adults, which must include proactive efforts to develop a common language to describe services and bridge cultural differences across children and young people's and adult services.	NHSE and ICSs
	ICSs to ensure that young people and their parents/carers should be at the centre of their individual transition planning between specialist mental health services and have a role in the wider service development and delivery.	ICSs
	ICSs to support joint working between leaders of child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), adult mental health services (AMHS), local authority services and third sector organisations to improve the experience for young people of transition between mental health services. Additional funding is likely to be required to meet increased demand and for additional staff to support carefully planned transitions, which should feel virtually seamless for the young person themselves.	ICSs
	ICSs to ensure that training needs are identified for staff working within CAMHS and AMHS to support developmentally appropriate clinical care for young people. The RCPsych should develop training programmes for psychiatrists to work with 0-5's, under 18's and 18-25's when this is not part of their specialist training.	ICSs
Make mental health services safer	NHSE, ICSs and mental health providers to ensure the average NHS trust score for 'organising care' in the Care Quality Commission's (CQC) community mental health survey improves year-on-year, with no trust posting a decline.	NHSE, ICSs and mental health providers
	NHSE to re-design what is meant by aftercare, including reforming eligibility criteria to improve equity of access, resolving some of the complex arrangements across health and social care, especially regarding funding.	NHSE
	Mental health trusts to ensure all patients in contact with mental health services have a simple goal-orientated care plan as well as a personalised safety plan including an agreed	Mental health trusts

	set of activities, strategies, people, and organisations to contact for support if they become	
	suicidal.	
Learn from deaths	All NHS trusts to identify deaths that warrant an investigation and put in place a process to learn from them in cases where a patient had been receiving treatment and support for their mental illness, with a particular focus on people 'at risk' such as those who are from a Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups.	NHS trusts
	NHSE and ICSs to roll-out the 'Learning from Deaths' tool produced by the College's Centre for Quality Improvement (CCQI) ⁶⁸ , which support trusts to respond to concerns about any aspect of their care; and provides trusts with guidance on using individual reviews to consolidate learning identified using the tool.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE to commission annual thematic reviews to support the implementation of the Tool and learning.	NHSE
Focus on quality improvement and reduce unwarranted variation	NHSE to introduce a new quality commitment to ensure availability of appropriate, safe, and high-quality mental health, learning disability and autism inpatient care (and alternatives to inpatient care) in every system for adults, children, and young people.	NHSE
	NHSE and ICSs to work with Royal Colleges and partners to review and decommission models of inpatient provision which are incompatible with safe, high-quality care and therapeutic outcomes.	NHSE, ICSs, Royal Colleges, and partners
	ICSs to address the inequalities in access to local community support which results in marginalised groups being overrepresented in the most restrictive settings and reduce variation in access, experience & outcomes.	ICSs
	CQC and NHSE to significantly increase and enhance the quality improvement support available to mental health trusts to enhance their safety and quality.	CQC and NHSE
	NHSE to expand the Getting it right first time (GIRFT) programme to cover other mental health services, such as community services for adults and older adults; personality disorders; as well as intellectual disability services.	NHSE
	CQC to reintroduce an annual national survey of the experiences of mental health inpatient services.	CQC
	NHSE to develop a repository of best practice in mental healthcare for ICSs.	NHSE
	NHSE to commission national clinical audits focused on mental health (to achieve parity with physical health services). These could focus on services for infants and their parents or primary caregivers, children and young people, working-age adults, older adults, and groups who report worse experiences and outcomes from NHS mental health services.	NHSE
	All mental health services to comply with national quality standards, e.g., via RCPsych quality networks.	Mental health providers

	NHSE to improve the quality and completeness of routine data (e.g., mental health	NHSE
	services dataset (MHSDS)) for use in national clinical audits, to reduce audit burden.	
	NHSE to improve completeness and quality of MHSDS and other basic information on service provision.	NHSE
	NHSE to reduce unwarranted variation in mental health service provision across the country and utilise quality networks to support this ambition.	NHSE
Choose interventions wisely	NHS healthcare leaders to embed a culture in which patients and clinicians regularly	NHS leaders
and safe prescribing	discuss the clinical value and effectiveness of proposed treatments or interventions with	
	the explicit aim of reducing the amount of inappropriate clinical activity.	VHICE
	NHSE to promote the implementation of safe prescribing and withdrawal management for medicines associated with dependence or withdrawal.	NHSE
	NHSE to further promote the Stopping over medication of people with a learning	NHSE
	disability, autism or both (STOMP) and Supporting Treatment and Appropriate	
	Medication in Paediatrics (STAMP) initiatives across the NHS.	
Measure and collect patient	NHSE and ICSs to prioritise the collection and recording of routine outcomes measures	NHSE and ICSs
outcomes data	for:	
	perinatal mental health care	
	children and young people's mental health care	
	community mental health care	
	 adult crisis and acute mental health care 	
	 integrated IAPT service 	
	 adult eating disorder services, and 	
	 tailored outreach and engagement for flu/COVID-19 vaccination and physical health 	
	checks.	
	ICSs to work with system partners to develop and collect outcome measures in mental	ICSs
	health aligned with the College's report.	
Make mental health services	NHSE to ensure the NHS reaches carbon net-zero by 2040 and 2045 and this target is	NHSE
greener	central to the commitments in the NHS LTP Refresh.	
	DHSC and ICSs to replace ageing buildings across the mental health estate.	DHSC and ICSs
	Every NHS health organisation, commissioner, and provider to produce a Green Plan and regularly review this.	NHS health organisation, commissioners, and providers
		1

	NTTO 11 . 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	NTTG 11
	NHS providers to develop and implement a biodiversity action plan which examines	NHS providers
	'greening (incorporating more environmentally friendly systems) of estates, buildings,	
	and care pathways, and establishes links with green care providers.	
	NHS providers to establish a natural services network to map all sites in their local area	NHS providers
	that provide opportunities for sustainable interaction with nature and/or activities that	
	preserve the natural environment and promote these to mental health services.	
	NHS providers to incorporate the goals of <i>Choosing Wisely</i> into daily practice, including:	NHS providers
	 encouraging doctors to provide patients with resources that increase their 	
	understanding about potential environmental harms of biomedical/pharmaceutical	
	interventions and help them understand that doing nothing or fewer interventions can	
	sometimes be the best approach.	
	 encouraging and empowering patients to ask questions such as, "Do I really need this 	
	test or procedure? What are the risks? Are there simpler safer options? What happens	
	if I do nothing?"	
	ICSs to appoint a social prescribing Lead to oversee all community teams developing a	ICSs
	social prescribing function to identify local opportunities for complementary health-	icss
	improving activities.	
	ICSs to expand the NHS sustainability awards. Continue recognising sustainable clinical	ICSs
	work across the NHS with consideration towards developing an additional award for the	ICSS
	work of mental health services in achieving a high standard of sustainable practice.	
	• •	COC and other gaverning
	Governing NHS bodies across the UK to jointly develop a minimum set of standards for	CQC and other governing bodies across the UK
	providers in developing sustainable services and	bodies across the UK
	ICSs to include these minimum standards in their contracts, and	
	 ICSs to develop a sustainable mental health service toolset: provide a working set of 	
	standards by which mental health services can develop effective sustainable	
	development plans which reflect the need for estates and clinical staff to work	
	collaboratively when developing and delivering sustainable mental health services.	
Invest in the health and	NHSE to further expand staff mental health and wellbeing hubs.	NHSE
wellbeing of NHS and social	NHSE and NHS employers to make the protection and promotion of staff wellbeing	NHSE and NHS
care staff	central to the culture of the NHS, through embedding reflective spaces within ICSs and	employers
	NHS organisations to enable staff to recover from the impact of the pandemic and to	
	make routine emotional and psychological support for staff moving forward.	
	NHSE and NHS employers to review and reduce mandatory training to ensure it is	NHSE and NHS
	personalised and meaningful. Other activities and policies that do not treat staff as	employers

	individuals should also be identified and rolled back to relieve them of commitments that	
	are irrelevant to their day-to-day job.	
HOW CAN WE SUPPOR	RT PEOPLE LIVING WITH MENTAL HEALTH CONDITIONS TO	D LIVE WELL?
Improve the physical health of people with severe mental illnesses and/or intellectual	NHSE and OHID to reduce premature mortality for those with a mental illness/disorder and those with intellectual disabilities (through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being) by one-third by 2030.	NHSE and OHID
disabilities and autistic people	NHSE to ensure people on the SMI primary care register and the Learning Disability register receive comprehensive physical health checks and reduce disparities in access between different population groups.	NHSE
	OHID and NHSE introduce a new Tobacco Control Plan focused on tackling smoking in all people with a mental health condition, through targeted investment and effective data monitoring systems, underpinned by targets for reduced smoking prevalence in this population.	OHID and NHSE
	 OHID and NHSE to promote interventions to prevent smoking uptake and support cessation including: interventions to prevent smoking tobacco control programmes which include legislative smoking bans, plain packaging and mass media campaigns interventions to support smoking cessation and reduction through pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions, and the implementation of "No smoking" policies in mental health secondary care settings to reduce smoking rates.⁶⁹ 	OHID and NHSE
	NHSE to ensure IAPT services include support for smokers to quit, to improve both mental and physical health outcomes.	NHSE
	OHID and NHSE to ensure national communications activity on promoting positive mental health should include messages about the benefits of stopping smoking and avoiding starting. Similarly, national 'stop smoking' communications should include information on the benefits to mental health.	OHID and NHSE
	ICSs to ensure co-production with service users locally should be supported to resource peer support workers using quality improvement methodology, to maximise signposting to help and quit rates.	ICSs
	OHID and NHSE to address major gaps in the data to monitor smoking rates across all populations with a mental health condition, to measure the provision of evidence-based support and the outcome of treatment.	OHID and NHSE

	DHSC to introduce public policies that restrict alcohol availability and/or raise taxes on alcohol to reduce drinking.	DHSC
	NHSE to invest in brief and digital interventions to reduce harmful alcohol consumption through primary care-based brief interventions so that we can reduce alcohol consumption in hazardous and harmful drinkers.	NHSE
	NHSE to invest in targeted alcohol interventions for people with mental disorder through brief interventions including digital approaches.	NHSE
	NHSE to invest in digitally delivered interventions to reduce the use of cannabis.	NHSE
	NHSE to invest in inventions to prevent drug use among people with a mental disorder and comorbid substance misuse.	NHSE
	NHSE and OHID to promote physical activity to improved symptoms and outcomes of mental disorders.	NHSE and OHID
	NHSE to invest in weight management interventions.	NHSE
	NHSE to ensure the COVID-19 vaccination programmes considers those with a mental disorder and/or intellectual disability.	NHSE
Integrate and personalise mental health care for people with long-term conditions	NHSE to develop robust integrated pathways of care for long-term conditions that address psychosocial needs, including the management of co-morbid mental illness. Psychiatric expertise (particularly Old Age psychiatrists) is required for the assessment and management of complex cases and should be built into the pathway.	NHSE
conditions	NICE to reconsider its current strategy, which separates physical and mental health recommendations in their guidance.	NICE
	NHSE to rapidly expand the roll out of integrated psychological therapy services for people with medically unexplained symptoms and long-term physical health conditions as set out in the NHS LTP.	NHSE
	Healthcare professionals to ensure screen everyone admitted with acute complications of diabetes whose aetiology is unclear or not medically explained for mental illness. Staff need to be appropriately trained to do this.	Healthcare professionals
	Healthcare professionals to screen all patients prescribed second-generation antipsychotics for diabetes.	Healthcare professionals
	All mental health providers to create a diabetes register, with immediate priority given to units where individuals may have prolonged inpatient admissions, such as secure hospitals.	Mental health providers
	All mental health providers to audit current practices in diabetes care and consider:	Mental health providers

 the implementation of diabetes-related competencies as part of mandatory training with a particular focus on managing and avoiding hypoglycaemia and safe use of insulin basic skills for staff in the management of diabetes and mental health that are in keeping with their job role to care for patients with comorbidity awareness of local pathways and policies for contacting diabetes or mental health services, and if best practice tariff criteria are met for diabetes ketoacidosis and hypoglycaemia and for children and young people with diabetes. 	
NHSE to ensure people with dementia receive a timely diagnosis.	NHSE
NHSE to ensure people with dementia are offered post-diagnostic treatment and support, which should be NICE-recommended, and the support needs should be outlined in the initial care plan. This care plan should be reviewed within at least 12 months of being agreed, then reviewed every 12 months in accordance with changes in the person's needs. Revisions should be jointly developed and agreed with the person (and, if applicable, their carer).	NHSE
NHSE to ensure carers for people with dementia should also be offered post-diagnostic support and/ or a carer's needs assessment.	NHSE
ICSs should assess the different levels of risk of developing dementia as well as specific needs, such as those with early-onset dementia, people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds and people with intellectual disabilities and capture this within their Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and local Dementia Needs Assessment.	ICSs
NHSE to consider new models to support older people with dementia and mental health issues in the community, moving beyond the model that depends on memory clinics. This might incorporate a model whereby patients remain under the care of an Old Age psychiatrist from diagnosis until death, rather than being discharged back to a GP. This should involve regular check-ups and brief interventions when problems are identified. This aims to improve the quality of care provided, reduce hospital admissions and GP caseloads.	NHSE
NHSE to ensure the commissioning of any new cardiovascular or respiratory disease service must specifically consider the psychological needs of that population from the outset and ensure that appropriately skilled mental health professionals are integrated and supported to function within that service.	NHSE

	NHSE to ensure all patients on a cancer treatment pathway are referred to psychological	NHSE
	and mental health support in the community, in a timely manner.	NHSE
	NHSE to ensure the commissioning of any new cancer service must specifically consider	NHSE
	the psychological needs of that population from the outset and that appropriately skilled	
	mental health professionals are integrated and supported to function within that service.	
	NHSE to develop robust integrated care pathways for patients with cancer that meet their	NHSE
	psychosocial needs, including the management of co-morbid mental illness.	
	NHSE to recommend the widespread commissioning of integrated cancer psychological	NHSE
	support services in acute trusts and cancer centres, consisting of a stepped-care approach	
	to managing psychological distress as per NICE guidance (access to counselling,	
	psychology, and liaison psychiatry).	
	NHSE to ensure that all GPs are able to refer patients on a cancer treatment pathway to	NHSE
	psychological and mental health support in the community, in a timely manner.	
	NHSE to commission services which should include primary care advice lines and	NHSE
	prescriber support to GPs, led by psychiatrists with cancer care experience.	
	NHSE to recommend commissioning of inpatient cancer liaison psychiatry services	NHSE
	consisting of at least some dedicated medical and nursing resource, in line with demand.	
	NHSE, National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), the Medical Research Council and	NHSE, NIHR, the
	the Wellcome Trust to liaise with other interested parties such as RCPsych, the Academy	Medical Research Council
	of Medical Royal Colleges, the Academy of Medical Sciences to significantly improve	and the Wellcome Trust
	funding and support to integrated education and research involving cancer and mental	and partners
	health.	NHACE
	NHSE should consider integrated training opportunities and enhanced generalist skills.	NHSE
	This should include mental health competencies for 'non-mental health professionals'	
	including nurses, doctors, staff working in acute settings, GPs, advanced care	
	practitioners, pharmacists, and voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) staff.	
	It should also include physical health competencies for mental health staff, including	
	psychiatrists, psychologists, and social care staff. NHSE should also consider integrated	
	training opportunities, such as the management of common chronic physical and mental	
	comorbidities such as alcohol and mood disorders and diabetes and depression.	
Increase support for carers	DHSC to invest in interventions for carers through support, psychoeducation, intent-based	DHSC
	interventions, internet based information and education alongside professional support. It	
	is also important to specifically consider the needs of young carers.	

Support people to find and retain meaningful employment	DWP to work with employers to ensure they support the wellbeing of their staff, including fully implementing the Thriving at Work report. Public sector organisations should be at the forefront of change and make use of their economic power (for example supply chains) to encourage wider uptake. This should take into account the changing nature of work and the recommendations of the Taylor Review.	DWP
	DHSC and the DWP to work together to give a guarantee that anyone with a serious mental illness who wants help with employment is able to access IPS.	DHSC and DWP
	DHSC to invest in interventions with a specific focus on work, such as exposure therapy and CBT-based and problem-focused return-to-work programmes.	DHSC
	DHSC to invest in work-directed intervention to clinical support, telephone or online cognitive behavioural therapy, and structured telephone outreach and care management programmes.	DHSC
	DWP and DHSC to give workers with mental health problems early access to occupationally focused healthcare, which should include helping them to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work.	DWP and DHSC
	DWP and DHSC to expand vocational support services in both NHS and community settings for patients with mental health problems to help them remain in, or return to, work.	DWP and DHSC
	DWP to improve access to flexible benefits and sick leave for patients with chronic fluctuating health conditions to help patients remain in, or return to, work.	DWP
	DWP to ensure that all employers (including the NHS) recognise the benefits of ensuring that all supervisors, from the most junior upwards, feel confident to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease.	DWP
	NHS employers should ensure all healthcare staff understand the close links between someone's state of mental health and their ability to work, which is especially important when providing care for people who work in safety-critical occupations (e.g., vehicle operators, emergency services etc.).	NHS employers
	NHS employers to ensure all healthcare staff provide care in a way that helps patients stay in, or return to, appropriate work.	NHS employers
	NHS employers to ensure all NHS staff understand the key role that occupational health services have in helping to support patients staying in, or returning to, appropriate work.	NHS employers
	NHS employers to ensure, as a priority, that all NHS supervisors, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff	NHS employers

on health rather than disease. Mental healthcare professionals to routinely explore a patient's employment history— including their current employment status—to understand what role it may have played in contributing to their state of mental health. Mental healthcare professionals to view it as an important treatment outcome to help patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental			
Mental healthcare professionals to routinely explore a patient's employment history— including their current employment status—to understand what role it may have played in contributing to their state of mental health. Mental healthcare professionals to view it as an important treatment outcome to help patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs		and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses	
including their current employment status — to understand what role it may have played in contributing to their state of mental health. Mental healthcare professionals to view it as an important treatment outcome to help patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs			
contributing to their state of mental health. Mental healthcare professionals to view it as an important treatment outcome to help patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental			
Mental healthcare professionals to view it as an important treatment outcome to help patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs			professionals
patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs			
Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs			Mental health
mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs		patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work.	professionals
for any care provided. Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs		Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the	Mental health
Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental Mental health professionals Mental health providers to challenge any discrimination of helping their staff and to support sanyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs		mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome	professionals
communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs		for any care provided.	
discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs		Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately	Mental health
patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work. All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		communicating with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any	professionals
All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. NHSE and ICSs NHSE and ICSs		discrimination or stigma that exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their	
feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		patients remain in, or return to, appropriate work.	
speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs			Employers
health rather than disease. All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs			
health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work. All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		health rather than disease.	
All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental	Employers
helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work. Improve the welfare system DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work.	
Improve the welfare systemDWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this.DWPSupport people withNHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mentalNHSE and ICSs			Employers
with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this. Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs		helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work.	
Support people with NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental NHSE and ICSs	Improve the welfare system	DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone	DWP
		with a mental illness and publish transparent data to demonstrate this.	
	Support people with	NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support people with mental	NHSE and ICSs
problem debt illness experiencing financial difficulty, and wherever possible ensure people have access	problem debt	illness experiencing financial difficulty, and wherever possible ensure people have access	
to high-quality housing, debt, and financial advice.		to high-quality housing, debt, and financial advice.	
Support people to access safe DHSC and NHSE to develop a long-term plan for ICSs and local authorities to prioritise DHSC and NHSE	Support people to access safe	DHSC and NHSE to develop a long-term plan for ICSs and local authorities to prioritise	DHSC and NHSE
	housing		
accommodation and support to live independently.	•	accommodation and support to live independently.	
DHSC and DLUHC to reform the social housing system so that it better meets the needs DHSC and DLUHC			DHSC and DLUHC
of people with a mental illness and adopt a sustainable funding model for supported			
housing to ensure everyone who needs supported housing is able to access it.			

	HM Treasury, DHSC and DLUHC to agree a new long-term funding settlement for social care to complement improvements in mental health services support.	HM Treasury, DHSC and DLUHC
HOW CAN WE IMPRO	VE SUPPORT FOR PEOPLE IN CRISIS?	
Expand access to mental	NHSE and ICSs to increase access to Infant Mental Health Services.	NHSE and ICSs
health services	NHSE and ICSs to increase access to Community Perinatal Mental Health Services for	NHSE and ICSs
	women in the perinatal period and increase the paternal mental health support available.	
	NHSE and ICSs to increase access to evidence-based specialist mental health care for	NHSE and ICSs
	women with a severe mental illness during the perinatal period.	
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure Community Perinatal Mental Health Services include access to	NHSE and ICSs
	psychological therapies and the right range of specialist community or inpatient care so	
	that comprehensive, high-quality services are in place across England.	1100
	NHSE and ICSs to increase access to integrated treatment and support, through IAPT,	NHSE and ICSs
	Mental Health Support Teams in schools, and CAMHS with appropriate waiting times for	
	children and young people. NHSE and ICSs to develop an equivalent model for Crisis Resolution and Home	NHSE and ICSs
	Treatment Teams for children and young people, which should be multi-agency	NHSE and ICSS
	(including social workers) and adapted to meet the needs of children and young people.	
	NHSE and ICSs to introduce a 4–6 week waiting time standard for access to specialist	NHSE and ICSs
	NHS children and young people's mental health services, building on the expansion of	TVIISE and Tess
	specialist NHS services already underway.	
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure there are developmentally informed services for children and	NHSE and ICSs
	young people up until the age of 25 years, and this should be appropriately resourced	
	between child and adolescent and adult mental health services.	
	Primary care providers to roll out suicide skills training for primary care professionals, such as STORM training.	Primary care providers
	NHSE and ICSs to empower and support primary care leaders to collaborate with mental	NHSE and ICSs
	health leaders involved in the design and implementation of the Community Mental	
	Health Framework.	
	PCNs, ICSs and NHSE to make pathways to primary mental health care fairer for groups	PCNs, ICSs and NHSE
	of people who face additional barriers and/or struggle to access services through the	
	traditional primary care route.	2.
	All primary care providers to have a specific mental health care pathway that covers the	Primary care providers
	lifespan of people with intellectual disabilities, autistic people, or both.	

All primary care providers to hold registers for people with intellectual disability and autistic people.	Primary care providers
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that information resources about various care pathways are accessible for those with Intellectual Disabilities so that patients can understand and participate in their treatment pathway.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure community mental health services meet a defined set of recommended NICE guidelines and more staff are able to give continuity of support to a larger number of patients with SMI to prevent relapse, hospitalisation and the use of the Mental Health Act 1983.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure community Rehabilitation and Recovery teams are available in every mental health trust with an appropriate number of inpatient beds to avoid the use of 'locked rehab' units.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure all settings in which older people with a mental illness are resident have easy access to a mental health support team that includes the services of a specialist in old age psychiatry.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to increase the number of people who can benefit from a personal health budget.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to significantly reduce the reliance on inpatient services for people with an intellectual disability and/or autistic people.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to significantly enhance community services for adults and children with an intellectual disability and/or autistic people.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that people experiencing a first episode of psychosis start treatment with a NICE-recommended package of care with a specialist Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) service within two weeks of referral.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that all specialist EIP provision is graded at level 4, in line with NICE recommendations.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure 24/7 crisis and liaison pathways for all ages are implemented. Crisis resolution and home treatment teams should incorporate a model specifically to meet the different needs and risks of older adults (particularly in relation to co-morbid physical health issues). These teams should also be adequately resourced to offer intensive home treatment as an alternative to an acute inpatient admission.	NHSE and ICSs
ICSs should monitor and respond to demand and capacity within mental health services.	ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to introduce a new standard so that patients should expect to wait a maximum of four hours for admission to an acute psychiatric ward or acceptance for home-based treatment following assessment, for those who need it.	NHSE and ICSs
nome-based readment following assessment, for those who need it.	

NHSE and ICSs to ensure that 85% bed occupancy rates in mental health trusts are consistently achieved.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to reduce delayed discharges/delayed transfers of care for patients in mental health inpatient settings.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to invest in supported housing and other accommodation-based support.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that NHS mental health trusts eliminate both inappropriate	NHSE and ICSs
external and internal (within the home provider) out-of-area placements.	
NHSE and ICSs to invest, in the short-term, in additional adult acute inpatient beds for	NHSE and ICSs
areas with consistently high rates of inappropriate out-of-area placements and/or	
persistently high bed occupancy rates.	
DHSC, NHSE and ICSs to fund and procure age-appropriate alternative forms of mental	DHSC, NHSE and ICSs
health crisis provision. This should be extended to include children and young people and	
older adults and should not be limited to care homes in the case of the latter.	
NHSE and ICSs to collect data on the availability of crisis alternatives, including activity,	NHSE and ICSs
workforce, finance, and outcome metrics.	
NHSE and ICSs to work with local authorities and partners to provide better support for people in crisis that is not deemed to be a mental health crisis. This needs to be a non-clinical response to meet people's needs, which might be related to housing, addiction, or relationship difficulties, to name but a few. An example of this support is Distress Brief Intervention (DBI) in Scotland. DBI consists of two parts, with part one seeing trained frontline health, police, paramedic, and primary care staff help ease any individual. They then ask the person if they would like further support and, if they agree, they are referred to the DBI service with a promise of contact within the next 24 hours to start providing further face-to-face support. Part two is provided by commissioned and trained third sector staff who contact the person within 24 hours of referral and provide community-based problem-solving support, wellness, and distress management planning, supported connections and signposting.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to substantially increase the availability of psychological therapies accessible in secondary, tertiary care and specialist settings. For children and young people with more complex issues, they should access more specialised therapies if first and second line IAPT treatments have failed.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that adults with an eating disorder who require urgent treatment start this within one week. For adults with an eating disorder requiring routine treatment, this should start within four weeks.	NHSE and ICSs

NHSE and ICSs to ensure that there is a dedicated community eating disorders service, which is integrated with medical care and supports a seamless transition from children and young people's services to adult care and from inpatient care to reduce the length of stay.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE to provide targeted funding to support provider collaboratives in developing and trialling integrated specialist pathways which offer more personalised care for patients who are acutely unwell.	NHSE
NHSE and ICSs to promote the implementation of the Medical Emergencies in Eating Disorders (MEED) guidelines.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that people with complex mental health problems, including personality disorders, have greater access to a range of evidence-based psychotherapies tailored to their needs.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that the principles of reflective, psychologically minded practice and enabling environments underpin training of professionals and delivery of integrated models of care in community and inpatient settings across physical, mental health and social care.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE to ensure that every ICS has NHS specialist addictions services led by appropriately trained and experienced addiction psychiatrists. This should include adequate provision for children and young people and older adults experiencing addictions.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE to ensure that more veterans are able to access NHS mental health services (Transition, Intervention and Liaison Service (TILS) and Complex Treatment Service (CTS)) with an initial face-to-face assessment within 2 weeks and a first clinical appointment, where appropriate, two weeks thereafter. There should also be a greater focus on increasing services available to female veterans.	NHSE
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that there is an explicit provision in each locality for those with autism. This should extend beyond the diagnostic process, to provide services for the treatment of their co-occurring mental and physical disorders and include the coherent involvement of the wide range of agencies and services that can benefit the individual.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that Liaison and Diversion services provide a multi-agency assessment and referral service within police custody and the courts across England hold cases in the short-term to prevent people from falling through the net.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to ensure that solitary confinement (defined as more than 22 hours in segregation without meaningful human contact) is banned immediately for children and young people in the youth justice system.	NHSE and ICSs

	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that Community Sentence Treatment Requirements is significantly expanded as proposed in the Government White Paper on a Smarter Approach to Sentencing. This will allow for those with more severe mental illnesses to	NHSE and ICSs
	benefit from community sentences. NHSE and ICSs to ensure that adults receive dedicated mental health screening within 24–48 hours after entering prison and 70% of people who need treatment or support are followed up within a month.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that there is a minimum ratio of prison officers to prisoners to increase basic safety, protect from dangerous, mind-altering drugs and increase access to mental health services in prison. NHSE and ICSs should also conduct an urgent assessment of how to better attract and retain a prison mental health workforce, including forensic psychiatrists, to deliver mental health care.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that all young people identified as 'in need' by youth justice liaison and diversion workers have an appropriate service they can be referred to.	NHSE and ICSs
	DHSC and the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) to reform the criminal justice system to make prisons safer and divert more people to community options.	DHSC and MoJ
	MoJ to conduct a detailed assessment on the impact of changes to Legal Aid on people with mental health problems and ensure improved and fair access to adequate legal advice and support.	МоЈ
Introduce new waiting time standards in mental health	NHSE to develop a clear implementation plan for new mental health access standards (developed through the Clinically-led Review of NHS Standards), which is ambitious but achievable, and provide specific funding to enable specialist eating disorder services to meet these new targets.	NHSE
	NHSE to introduce new waiting time standards for other areas of mental health provision, including: perinatal mental health services children and young people's mental health services (not including eating disorders) adult crisis and acute mental health care adults who receive mental health treatment following a referral for mental health support from learning disability and autism services children and young people who receive mental health treatment following a referral for mental health support from learning disability and autism services adult eating disorder services, and integrated IAPT services.	NHSE

Improve the urgent and	NHSE and ICSs to expedite work already underway to connect Integrated Urgent Care	NHSE and ICSs
emergency care pathway for	services to 24/7 mental health crisis services in each locality.	
those with a mental illness	NHSE and ICSs to increase the number of mental health specialists working in the 111	NHSE and ICSs
	service and ensure call handlers are trained so that they are better able to triage and direct	
	patients to the appropriate 24/7 urgent NHS mental health telephone support services for	
	their area.	
	NHSE and ICSs to routinely collect standardised data on mental health-related calls	NHSE and ICSs
	handled by the 111 service, including age and gender, and the outcome.	WISE and Iess
		NHIGE 1100
	NHSE and ICSs to review the implementation of NHS mental health telephone support,	NHSE and ICSs
	advice, and triage services and expedite the further improvements needed identified	
	through this exercise. Any review should consider the extent to which:	
	 the service has integrated with Integrated Urgent Care Services and NHS 111 	
	successfully	
	• the full crisis pathway has been mapped in each local area	
	 the services are providing an age-appropriate response 	
	• the services are ensuring equity in access to those with mental health needs and co-	
	occurring conditions such as learning disability or autism, and	
	• other agencies such as police, ambulance and local authorities can access advice and	
	support.	
	NHSE and ICSs to invest in bespoke mental health crisis vehicles to reduce inappropriate	NHSE and ICSs
	ambulance or police conveyance to A&E. This will reduce pressure on ambulance fleets	NIISE and ICSs
	and provide a safe and appropriate alternative to full-size ambulance vehicles.	
	NHSE and ICSs to create new joined-up functions between mental health services,	NHSE and ICSs
	ambulance services and other urgent and emergency care services, and significantly	
	expand the education and mental health training of the paramedic and wider ambulance	
	workforce.	
	NHSE and ICSs to expedite plans already in place to put mental health professionals in	NHSE and ICSs
	ambulance and police control rooms and to be deployed to provide 'on-the-scene'	
	responses.	
	•	ICSs
	ICSs to work in partnership with young people to design services they find welcoming,	1038
	non-stigmatising and helpful.	NHIGH
	NHSE to ensure the forthcoming urgent and emergency care strategy includes mental	NHSE
	health.	

	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that acute hospitals and/or paediatric departments provide	NHSE and ICSs
	access to a Core24 liaison psychiatry service for everyone who needs it. These teams	
	should include psychiatrists with expertise in older adults.	
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that integrated inpatient and outpatient services include liaison	NHSE and ICSs
	psychiatry to meet the needs of patients with more complex problems.	
	DHSC to invest capital funding to develop age-appropriate assessment spaces in A&E	DHSC
	and acute hospitals for people with mental health/learning disability needs.	
	DHSC to ensure that, within the existing Health Infrastructure Plan or where investment	DHSC
	is being made for a new or upgraded acute hospital, plans include sufficient space for	
	integrated mental and physical healthcare (liaison mental health services) to be delivered.	
Implement the Mental	DHSC, OGDs and NHSE to implement the Mental Health Act Reform Bill, supported by	DHSC, OGDs and NHSE
Health Act Reform Bill	adequate revenue and capital investment, including in workforce training and	
	development.	
	DHSC to ensure that investment is accompanied by a workforce plan to ensure the	DHSC
	required workforce is in place at the time of implementation. Without requisite	
	investment in the workforce, we would recommend that the timeframes for	
	implementation be revised.	
	Invest capital funding to improve digital technology within mental health trusts including	DHSC
	the digitisation of the MHA.	
Commit to preventing	NHSE and ICSs to provide better information, resources, and support to those bereaved or	NHSE and ICSs
suicides and provide better	affected by suicide as over 20% of the Coroners Preventing Future Deaths reports each	
information and support to	year are about poor communication with families.	
those bereaved or affected	All healthcare providers to employ Family Liaison officers (FLO).	Healthcare providers
by suicide	All healthcare providers to have training on working with families (e.g., making families	Healthcare providers
by suicide	count).	1
	NHSE and ICSs to support family bereavement services in all areas of the country.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every mental health provider has a pastoral Suicide Lead.	NHSE and ICSs
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every healthcare provider enables reflective practice for all	NHSE and ICSs
	staff in all health organisations, including specific groups to process the impact of patient	
	suicide.	
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every healthcare provider provides resources and support	NHSE and ICSs
	for patients bereaved by peer suicide.	
	NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every healthcare provider improves learning systems after	NHSE and ICSs
	a death.	THE BUILDING
	u doudin	

NHSE and ICSs to ensure that healthcare providers move away from Risk Assessment tools, as they are ineffective and not recommended by NICE and the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health (NCISH). As it is not possible to accurately predict the suicide of a given person at a particular point in time, healthcare professionals should offer a compassionate and therapeutic assessment, undertake a personalised risk assessment (to identify risks, not to predict suicide but to intervene), identify needs and collaboratively develop a risk mitigation plan, and coproduce a Safety Plan.	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to prioritise reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk drawing on the examples of tailored services providing intervention after presentation e.g., ASSIST, Distress Brief Intervention, and brief interventions in repeated self-harm (BIRSH).	NHSE and ICSs
NHSE and ICSs to move away from culture of inclusion and exclusion as many statutory services specifically exclude people from care based on being high-risk or complex.	NHSE and ICSs
NHS providers to develop spaces to reflect on inequality and prejudice that will lead to action.	NHS providers
Healthcare professionals to be aware of the impact of stigma and negative attitudes that, although often unconscious, are detrimental to patients and their carers.	Healthcare professionals
NHS providers to support research, data collection and monitoring and ensure real-time data collection is supported by adequate funding for academics to analyse it to gain a greater insight into the aetiological factors of suicide.	NHS providers
NHSE to extend rapid surveillance data which is gathered about child deaths to move to above 18 years, to capture university students and extend OHID funding to cover all ages.	NHSE
OHID and OGDs to reduce access to the means of suicide as a public health intervention.	OHID and OGDs
DCMS to ensure the media maximises its role in prevention by reporting suicide responsibly.	DCMS
DHSC and Defra to review and act on the recommendations of the forthcoming report from the EFRA Select Committee inquiry into rural mental health and suicide.	DHSC and Defra
DHSC to expand suicide training for all frontline staff who look after children and young people, such as teachers and GPs. et	DHSC
DHSC and NHSE to expand the Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) program to include autistic people who do not have a learning disability.	DHSC and NHSE
DHSC and NHSE to support the timely adoption of MBBRACE report recommendations across the country.	DHSC and NHSE

CROSS-CUTTING ENA	BLERS	
Implement the NHS LTP in full by 2028/29 with the	NHSE and DHSC to commit to the restoration of services to trajectories as outlined in the NHSE Mental Health Implementation Plan by 2023/24-2024/25.	NHSE and DHSC
restoration of all existing service trajectories	NHSE and DHSC to review the continuing demand for mental health services arising from COVID-19 pandemic and allocate sufficient funding for recovery that is equitable to the elective recovery programme.	NHSE and DHSC
	NHSE and DHSC to publish interim in-year targets for the NHS LTP mental health programme so the public can see that ICSs are on track to deliver.	NHSE and DHSC
Ensure ICSs are setup to improve the mental health	ICSs to have Mental Health reflected as a top priority with the full programme delivery supported and tracked at ICS board level.	ICSs
and wellbeing of their population	ICSs to have a credible workforce plan to demonstrate how it will be meeting the mental health priorities of the local population.	ICSs
	ICSs to ensure that senior mental health leadership will be a core component of all place-based planning.	ICSs
	ICSs to ensure that Integrated Care Strategies drive a coordinated public mental health approach across all parts of the system. Guidance should be clear on how the system itself can be designed to prevent poor mental health and support good mental health.	ICSs
	ICS leaders to develop a system-wide outcomes framework, including mental health and wellbeing outcomes, which defines the partners' collective ambition for improving outcomes for people living in the area, which should be then used to monitor performance against the outcomes framework annually.	ICSs
	Mental health leadership at ICS level must always include people who use services.	ICSs
	ICSs exceeding core expectations should work with those who are struggling through a peer-learning approach.	ICSs
	NHSE should systematically capture and share learning from areas that are furthest ahead.	NHSE
	NHSE to review each ICBs five-year systems plan annually to be assured that: • it meets the ambition set out by their ICS	NHSE
	 has a clear plan to improve mental health and wellbeing outcomes in population health and healthcare 	
	 tackles inequalities in mental health and wellbeing outcomes, experience and access to care and support 	
	 reflects the national priorities and ambitions of the NHS LTP for Mental Health and the forthcoming cross-government mental health and wellbeing plan 	

	• sufficiently takes account of how they will commission specialist mental health	
	services previously commissioned by NHSE, and	
	 aligns clearly with the national mental health workforce plan and is realistic and deliverable locally. 	
	NHSE to use the findings from these annual assessments to provide tailored support and	NHSE
	guidance to ICBs.	
Strengthen leadership and	The Cabinet Office to establish a Mental Health Cabinet Committee to ensure collective	Cabinet Office
increase transparency and	responsibility for improving the mental health and wellbeing of the nation.	
accountability	The Cabinet Office to ensure that the Mental Health Policy Tool is implemented by all	Cabinet Office
	departments, and utilised and completed in a transparent way for all policy development.	
	This tool has been developed to assist government departments with considering mental	
	health in their policy development. This has been in development for some time, with	
	colleagues from across government and stakeholders working together.) WYOT
	NHSE to provide the requisite funding, support, and resourcing so NHS providers can	NHSE
	deliver on the recommendations from the NHS Leadership by General Sir Gordon	
	Messenger in full, including:	
	 targeted interventions on collaborative leadership and organisational values 	
	 positive equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) action 	
	 consistent management standards delivered through accredited training 	
	 a simplified, standard appraisal system for the NHS 	
	 a new career and talent management function for managers 	
	 effective recruitment and development of non-executive directors (NEDs), and 	
	encouraging top talent into challenged parts of the system.	
	Every local authority should appoint a 'member champion' for mental health as part of	Local authorities
	the Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities in order to lead the way in their local	
	areas.	
	NHSE to commit to publishing the Mental Health Dashboard every quarter and include	NHSE
	trust-level data and workforce data to create a more comprehensive picture of	
	opportunities and challenges at the commissioner, provider, and ICS levels.	
	NHSE to make routine data available so that there is transparency about how local areas	NHSE
	commission services that account for age, gender, ethnicity, disability, and sexuality.	Pugg
	DHSC to publish an annual report on the implementation of the NHS LTP and this cross-	DHSC
	government mental health and wellbeing plan.	DUCC
	Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to report:	DHSC

	 whether there will be an increase in the amount of spending from NHSE and ICBs on mental health and if there will be an increase in the proportion of spending on mental health spending compared with total expenditure in the previous year how much is being spent on mental health (in total and as a proportion of overall healthcare spending) in the current year by NHS and ICBs and as a proportion of total spending, and how much each ICB has spent on mental health for the year and the proportion of its total spending it represents. 	
Increase funding for NHS mental health services	 DHSC and NHSE to ensure a long-term commitment to the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) beyond 2024/25 for NHS-funded mental health services. The MHIS should be strengthened along the lines suggested by NHSE⁷⁰ prior to the pandemic to include the following elements: ICBs must increase investment by at least their overall allocation growth plus a further 'percentage increment to reflectadditional funding included in allocations' The shares of this resource spent with mental health providers and invested in children's and young people's mental health services specifically must increase, and ICB investment plans should be subject to local review at the system level, including by a nominated lead provider of mental health services. This should ensure the plans are 'credible' to deliver the necessary workforce and activity commitments. 	DHSC and NHSE
	 NHSE to strengthen the way the MHIS operates (as set out by the HFMA)⁷¹ by, allowing systems to agree the assessment of investment over a longer period of time to enable ICSs to invest where needed without being penalised for improving mental health services more quickly ensuring additional non-recurrent mental health spending due to COVID-19 is excluded when assessing baseline expenditure ensuring the achievement of the MHIS is assessed at system level with ICB and ICP sign off ensuring quality and outcome measures are included in the assessment of the MHIS revising MHIS categories so that they are consistent with the NHS LTP, and ensuring the primary measure of the MHIS excludes continuing healthcare/packages of care and prescribing. 	NHSE and DHSC
	NHSE to ensure the additional £1.5bn allocated to deal with the rising costs of energy and fuel, as well as wider inflation, is fairly apportioned to mental health trusts. We know that	NHSE

	around £350m more investment is now needed by 2023/24 to fulfil the NHS LTP commitments because of the impact of inflation, using the latest GDP deflators. ⁷²	
	NHSE to update the NHS Mental Health dashboard based on the recent recategorisation exercise to allow for trend analysis.	NHSE
Invest in the NHS mental health estate	At the next CSR, HM Treasury, DHSC and NHSE to provide ring-fenced investment for mental health NHS trusts as part of a multi-year capital settlement. This additional capital funding uplift should be in addition to trusts' day-to-day capital budgets and should include: a new Health Infrastructure Plan (HIP) for Mental Health. Within this, commit to a new £1bn building and redevelopment programme for Mental Health to enable 12 major building and redevelopment schemes to be awarded to mental health NHS trusts by 2030. improve the therapeutic environment of mental health and learning disability/autism inpatient settings by: eliminating mixed sex accommodation procuring en-suite facilities for all existing single rooms minimising the risks of harm through innovative safety improvement projects, and making the estate more suitable for people with disabilities reaffirm the commitment to complete the elimination of dormitory provision and replace with single en-suite rooms invest in new building and redevelopment schemes for community mental health facilities, including clinical and office space, and the essential improvements to digital infrastructure, and new building and redevelopment schemes for crisis mental health facilities, including the procurement of sufficient mental health ambulances/ transport vehicles; creating age-appropriate mental health assessment spaces in A&Es (or alternative) and acute hospitals; and procuring age-appropriate alternative forms of mental health crisis provision.	HM Treasury, DHSC and NHSE

	 eradicate significant and moderate risk maintenance backlog in mental health and learning disability sites/estates. 	
	DHSC to allow mental health trusts to spend their planned capital budgets in full each year given the historic underinvestment. This should enable trusts to address ongoing backlog maintenance issues, maintain safe services and minimise risks across their estate.	DHSC
	Within the existing HIP programme or where investment is being made for a new or upgraded acute hospital, DHSC, NHSE and local leaders to review whether plans include sufficient space for integrated mental health and physical healthcare (liaison mental health services) to be delivered. This needs to be built into service design from the outset.	DHSC and NHSE
Ensure public mental health budgets have a growing share of public health spending	At the next Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR), HM Treasury and DHSC to commit to increase the Public Health Grant budget as part of a multi-year settlement, which will ensure local authorities can continue to provide prevention and public health interventions.	HM Treasury and DHSC
spending.	Local authorities to ring-fence at least 4% of total public health expenditure for public mental health spending as the start of sustained and growing investment in this area. This funding should be linked to the JSNA for each locality and relevant local strategies. It should also align with the growth in the public mental health workforce and those within voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations.	Local authorities
Increase funding for drug and alcohol use disorder service	DHSC and MoJ to commit the investment advocated by Dame Carol Black in her recent independent report on drugs to restore funding for substance use disorders to a comparable share of public health spending to that of 2013/14.	DHSC and MoJ
SCIVICE	DHSC and DLUHC to review the commissioning of addiction services, including potential service models, in light of the independent review of drugs by Dame Carol Black. The College endorses Dame Carol's call to improve commissioning standards and move towards integrated commissioning.	DHSC and DLUHC
	DHSC to prioritise rebuilding the workforce as set out in the government's 10-year drug strategy.	DHSC
Increase funding for mental health social care	At the next CSR, HM Treasury, DLUHC and DHSC to commit to increase the social care budget for babies, children, young people, and adults. Specifically, within a funding uplift, local authorities should commit to ring-fence funding devoted to early years, aiming to get it back to at least around 8% of the children's social care expenditure.	HM Treasury, DLUHC and DHSC
	NHSE to develop a 10-year data plan for mental health, including how data will be used to promote patient choice, efficiency, access, and quality in DHSC mental health care, as well as ensuring that all NHS-commissioned mental health data are transparent (including	NHSE

	where data quality is poor/in early stages of development or collection) to drive	
	improvements in services.	
	DHSC to set up a new Mental Health Innovation Fund.	DHSC
	NHSE to develop a strategic delivery plan for how digital can support the enhanced	NHSE
	delivery of mental health services and care for the benefit of patients and staff.	
	NHSE to strengthen the commitment to deliver shared-care records and the programmes	NHSE
	to achieve this funded, especially in rural areas without a large tertiary centre or urban	
	council that can fund these programmes at risk.	NHIOE
	NHSE to invest in greater digital technology to improve the efficiency of collecting outcome measures and empower patients to play a role in their own care.	NHSE
	NHSE to encourage greater working between digital suppliers and clinicians to help improve the interface between outcome measures and EPRs.	NHSE
	NHSE to provide clear information for patients on data use and assurances, without jargon to help people understand GDPR and what this means for them personally.	NHSE
	NHSE to co-create digital inclusion strategies with charities such as Citizens online.	NHSE
Invest in digital technology	DHSC to increase the funding for mental health research to 15% of the total UK health research budget by 2030.	DHSC
Increase funding for	Working alongside funders, academics, clinicians, and people with lived experience,	DHSC, academics,
research	DHSC to meet the Mental Health Research Goals collectively developed by the sector by	clinicians, and people
	2030. This includes:	with lived experience
	 research to half the number of children and young people experiencing persistent 	1
	mental health problems by;	
	o increasing knowledge of the aetiology, development (including risk and	
	protective factors) and progression of mental health problems at key	
	transition points across the life-course	
	o increasing research on effective mental health promotion, prevention,	
	treatment and support in children and young people in education, community	
	and health, including specialist mental health, settings, and,	
	o increasing research on implementation of effective interventions in a range of	
	settings to optimise outcomes. This includes research on service delivery and	
	organisational factors influencing outcomes.	
	• research to improve understanding of the links between physical and mental health,	
	and eliminate the mortality gap by;	

- strengthening our understanding of the co-morbidity of both mental and physical health problems. This research should address clusters of health problems, underlying mechanisms and progression, and societal and individual risk and protective factors and in addition, the implications for treatment and support
- conducting research to improve the efficacy and effectiveness of interventions for prevention and increase maintenance of good physical health for people with mental health problems, or at risk of developing mental health problems. The aim is to reduce morbidity and excess mortality
- research to develop new and improved treatments, interventions and support for mental health problems by;
 - conducting research to investigate the mechanisms underlying mental wellbeing, mental health problems and related behaviours through use of markers from basic biological, psychological and social science to understand how to improve treatments, interventions and support.
 - developing and implementing new and improved treatments, interventions and support, including medical, social and psychological approaches to increase patient choice and greater personalisation.
 - developing and evaluating effectiveness of digital interventions that complement and supplement face to face interventions for prevention, support and recovery.
- research to improve choice of, and access to, mental health care, treatment and support in hospital and community settings by;
 - conducting research to understand the barriers to help-seeking and service access, and the delivery of mental health services and other support in diverse settings and across different communities, including Black, Asian and minority ethnic group and those from LGBTQIA+, to address stigma, discrimination, and social exclusion
 - Conducting research to accelerate the implementation of existing best evidence at the population and individual level. In addition,

implement evidence on how patient choice and joint decision-making	
make a difference to outcomes in routine care and,	
 increasing research to inform strategies for tackling social and health inequalities to 	
improve public mental health.	
DHSC to fund large-scale epidemiological studies on autism prevalence, prevalence of	DHSC
co-occurring mental health disorders, and service use needs, in order to be more precise	
and more informative to policy development.	
DHSC to fund research into the most effective treatments for co-occurring mental health	DHSC
conditions in autism (both pharmacological and non-pharmacological).	
DHSC to allocate capital funding to mental health trusts for Research & Development in	DHSC
Mental Health and Dementia, including: the prevention agenda, research to improve the	
productivity and effectiveness of the NHS, and the translation of basic science and	
support for the life sciences industry.	
DHSC to continue to commission regular prevalence surveys for adults and for children	DHSC
and young people.	
DHSC to fund a follow-up survey to track the outcomes of the care received by the	DHSC
children and young people in the prevalence survey who have given informed consent.	
This will allow researchers to align findings and track data against better-developed	
indicators helping the Government better plan for the next ten years. It would also provide	
necessary information about what happens to children and young people over time.	
DHSC to ensure that eating disorders are recognised within both prevalence surveys, after	DHSC
being excluded from the previous iterations of the APMS.	
DHSC and other partners to reverse the decline in academic psychiatry posts.	DHSC
Every medical school will have an academic department of psychiatry, with psychiatry	Medical schools
being taught effectively to all medical students.	
DHSC to liaise with other interested parties such as RCPsych, the Academy of Medical	DHSC
Royal Colleges, the Academy of Medical Sciences, and other relevant stakeholders, to	
provide required funding and support to develop the careers of academic psychiatrists.	
DHSC to address significant barriers in clinical academic career pathways in mental	DHSC
health research, and to provide greater support for post-doctoral research fellowships, the	
transition to academic clinical lecturer and establishment at senior lecturer level.	
DHSC to commit to increase the number of medical school places in England to 15,000	DHSC
by 2028/29 in order to deliver the NHS LTP and allocate those places to schools that have	

Build a strong and resilient	a clear plan to encourage more students to choose a shortage specialty, including	
mental health workforce	psychiatry.	
	DHSC and NHSE to continue the expansion of core psychiatry posts and ensure provision	DHSC and NHSE
	for further expansion to facilitate long-term sustainability and growth in consultant	
	psychiatrist posts for 2035. The additional core training posts made available from August	
	2021 onwards must be fully funded through the core training pathway, with sufficient	
	provision also made for an expansion in higher training capacity.	
	DHSC and NHSE out plans to publish a comprehensive NHS workforce strategy	DHSC and NHSE
	following publication of Health Education England's (HEE) strategic framework (now	
	subsumed into NHSE). This should be accompanied by a multi-year settlement for	
	workforce training and education to allow for the growth in the mental health workforce,	
	including via new roles, necessary to deliver the NHS LTP, proposed standards from the	
	Clinically-led Review of NHS Standards, and the proposed Mental Health Act reforms.	
	The settlement must take into account that funding for postgraduate medical education	
	and training has been essentially flat in real terms between 2013/14 (£2.111bn) and	
	2020/21 (£2.080bn).	
	DHSC to ensure funding is allocated to deliver the requisite workforce for the Mental	DHSC
	Health Act reforms. This includes the additional 494 FTE psychiatrists needed by	
	2033/34, as identified in the independent research commissioned by the College, as well	
	as the non-medical workforce identified by HEE-commissioned research.	
	DHSC and NHSE to provide the necessary investment in workforce to deliver the autism	DHSC and NHSE
	diagnostic pathway and reduce waiting times. Funding is required for both new posts and	
	education and training, while also supporting retention and development among existing	
	staff in these services.	
	DHSC and NHSE to maintain the NHS Staff Support Offer, with £50m funding each year	DHSC and NHSE
	over the three years.	
	DHSC and NHSE to ensure that, from 2022/23 onwards, at least 10% of the 1,000 PAs	DHSC and NHSE
	being trained each year work in mental health (including liaison services and GP	
	practices).	
	DHSC and NHSE to ensure that the implementation of the provision within the Health	DHSC and NHSE
	and Care Act 2022 to provide mandatory training about learning disability and autism for	
	Health and Social Care staff is supported by sufficient resources.	

2. Introduction

The government's commitment to level up and address unequal outcomes and life chances across the country has never been more pressing.⁷³ Improving the mental health and wellbeing of the nation is integral to this commitment, particularly for people who experience worse outcomes than the general population.

We welcomed the former Secretary of State for Health and Social Care's commitment to ensuring the NHS is set up properly for success, levelling up across the NHS and social care, pursuing personalisation, as well as using emerging technologies and data. The Government's mental health and wellbeing plan will be central to delivering this and we commend it to the new Secretary of State and urge them to take this agenda forward.

Mental illness remains one of the largest single causes of disability in England⁷⁴ with:

- up to one in five mothers suffering from depression, anxiety or psychosis during pregnancy or in the first year after childbirth⁷⁵
- one in eight children and young people aged 5-19 having at least one mental disorder (when assessed in 2017)⁷⁶
- one in six children and young people aged 6–19 having a probable mental disorder (when assessed in 2021) 77
- 13% of young people aged between 11–16 years and 58.2% of those aged 17-19 years having possible eating problems (when assessed in 2021)⁷⁸
- one in six adults having a common mental disorder⁷⁹
- 1-2% of adults having a severe mental illness (SMI)⁸⁰
- one in 30 adults living with a drug dependence⁸¹
- one in five older people in the community, and two in five within care homes, affected by depression which is often triggered by, and worsening the outcomes for, comorbidities⁸²
- there is an estimated prevalence of 781,000 people in England with dementia as of 2018⁸³, and
- evidence suggests the prevalence of all mental disorders s higher in people with intellectual disabilities than in the general population⁸⁴.

Mental illness also disproportionately affects people living in poverty, those who are unemployed, and those who face racial discrimination⁸⁵. The mental health impact of caring for someone with these illnesses is considerable.

Ahead of the publication of the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP), we commissioned an analysis that found that the birth and death rates combined with estimates of migration between 2018 and 2029 there will be around 4.1 million (+7.4%) more people living in the country. 86 Invariably, this will lead to greater demand across public, independent and third sector services and therefore the requirement for additional funding to support that growth.

We argued that more children and young people in the population suggest capacity will need to be increased for child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), parenting programmes, self-harm, substance misuse and Criminal Justice liaison services. Early diagnosis and support will also be needed for children and young people with neurodevelopmental disorders.⁸⁷

More people aged 30–45 suggest a greater demand in the future for Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), maternal wellbeing, workplace wellbeing and early intervention services. Furthermore, people with intellectual disabilities are living longer than before, and children born prematurely are surviving, which will have an impact on services in the future.⁸⁸

More older adults, including the very old, means that there will be an increased need for capacity in dementia, old age psychiatry and social care support services. There are clear demographic and economic imperatives to focus much more rigorously on the mental health of older people. The increase in numbers of older people also highlights the lack of research in the treatment and management of depression and other functional illnesses in older adults.⁸⁹

Yet, we know that only a minority of people in England with a mental illness, including substance/alcohol use, receive any form of treatment. The only exception to this is for people experiencing psychosis. ⁹⁰

Looking back

Cross-Government plans

The Mental Health Policy Group has reviewed the progress made by *No health without mental health* cross-government mental health strategy since its launch in 2011.⁹¹ The Group found that of the six main desired outcomes, half have not been achieved and two have only been partially achieved.

> OBJECTIVE 1: More people will have good mental health – this has not been achieved.

A record 4.3 million people were referred to clinical mental health services last year. Even before the COVID-19 pandemic, mental illness prevalence had increased substantially, and wellbeing scores were down.⁹²

➤ OBJECTIVE 2: More people with mental health problems will recover – this has been partially achieved.

Significant investment and targets for increasing access to psychological therapies have meant the 50% recovery target is being met or nearly met for common mental health disorders. Perinatal mental health services are also achieving better outcomes. There is a more mixed picture for serious mental illness – the lesson is that investment, minimum waiting times and standards are necessary to drive improvement.⁹³

➤ OBJECTIVE 3: More people with mental health problems will have good physical health – this has not been achieved.

The premature mortality of people with serious mental illness has significantly worsened – and had done so even before the COVID-19 pandemic. 94

> OBJECTIVE 4: More people will have a positive experience of care and support – this has not been achieved.

Care Quality Commission (CQC) surveys show that, across many areas of care, the experience of using mental health services is at its lowest point throughout the eight-year period (2014 to 2021 inclusive). 95

> OBJECTIVE 5: Fewer people will suffer avoidable harm – partially achieved.

There has been a worrying increase in the use of the Mental Health Act since 2011 but the Use of Force Act is a positive innovation.

➤ OBJECTIVE 6: Fewer people will experience stigma and discrimination – this has been achieved.

Time to Change appeared to galvanise a significant shift in public attitudes to mental health but this is no longer being funded.

Alongside the MHPG, we are calling for the government to learn the lessons of *No health without mental health* and its implementation. We consider the key lessons to be that:

- there was no real implementation plan or delivery mechanism with buy-in from across the government
- although some clinical services benefitted from extra investment, targets and focus, many supporting services, like those commissioned and provided by public health and local government more widely, had their funding dramatically reduced, with the heaviest cuts falling in areas of greatest deprivation and therefore greatest mental health need
- austerity also meant that deprivation and income inequality, which drive mental ill health prevalence, actually got worse.

NHS plans

Within the NHS, the LTP for Mental Health is making good progress to transform mental health services across the country, building on the foundations of the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (FYFVMH). However, as with the FYFVMH, major barriers to delivery remain. Many of these were apparent prior to the COVID-19 pandemic but have undoubtedly been exacerbated by recent events.

Firstly, a clear, ambitious mental health workforce is lacking. The inability of the NHS to substantially grow and retain the mental health workforce – predominantly in mental health nursing – is having the most significant impact on the delivery of the mental health programme.

Secondly, sustained increased investment at a local level has been variable. The Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) has been successful in driving growth in mental health spending overall but there remain challenges with local areas investing the full allocation given additional pressures across the wider system.

Thirdly, we remain behind in the ambition to improve the quality and flow of data, particularly for older adult services and children and young people's services. The capacity and capability of NHS Digital (NHSD) (now subsumed within NHS England (NHSE)) to meet the recommendations for a data revolution should be enhanced.

Fourth, there has not always been sufficiently joined-up leadership and governance at a senior level across Government departments and with NHSE. This Plan is an opportunity to further align these processes more strategically.

Fifth, there is a tendency for health strategies and plans to be produced in silos without enough thought to the relevant interdependencies. There is more work needed to address the needs of specific groups, including older adults with functional and organic mental illnesses, those living with substance use disorders, those with neurodevelopmental disorders, those with complex needs such as personality disorder/emerging personality disorder, and those with intellectual disabilities and autism, and to integrate those recommendations into a wider cross-government plan.

Global plans

Globally, public mental health policies have become increasingly prominent in the World Health Organisation, the World Psychiatric Association, and the United Nations. Yet we know barriers to implementation remain. It has been argued that the reasons for this are:

- insufficient public mental health knowledge
- insufficient mental health policy or policy implementation
- insufficient resources
- insufficient political will
- political nature of some public mental health activities such as poverty, and

• insufficient appreciation of cultural differences. ⁹⁶

Looking ahead

The Chief Executive of NHS England (NHSE), Amanda Pritchard, recently set out her top priorities for the NHS: recovery, reform, resilience, and respect. Achieving these ambitions will mean recovering from the inevitable impact of the pandemic on the nation's mental health, reforming and improving mental healthcare for the future, ensuring mental health services are resilient to future shocks, and respecting all staff and patients with much greater attention paid to equality, diversity, and inclusion.

As NHS leaders implement their plans for 2022/23 and beyond, we are pleased to see a continued commitment to improve mental health services and services for people with a learning disability and/or autistic people – maintaining continued growth in mental health investment to transform and expand community health services and improve access. ⁹⁷

NHS recovery following the COVID-19 pandemic is complex and multifaceted, but if we are to improve health outcomes for all patients, their mental health needs to be considered as well as the way people interface between different services and sectors. There is often a bi-directional relationship between the performance of mental health services and other sectors, including the responsiveness of urgent and emergency care, timely access to primary care, and elective care, across local health economies.

The whole NHS shares the same challenges around investing in our workforce with more people, new ways of working, and embedding a compassionate and inclusive culture needed to deliver outstanding care; responding to COVID-19 ever more effectively whether it be through the vaccination programme or meeting the needs of patients with COVID-19 in mental health settings; harnessing the potential of digital technologies and working collaboratively with providers, local authorities and other partners across ICSs to develop a five-year strategic plan for their system and places.

We have made progress since the introduction of the FYFVMH and the current LTP, but the treatment gap remains substantial. The scale of the challenge in mental health is so great that demand continues to outstrip capacity. With mental health referrals at record levels of 4.3 million last year and a backlog of at least 1.5 million people still waiting to start treatment, pressure on the NHS is likely to reach unprecedented levels.⁹⁸

Clearly, NHS treatment cannot be the only answer to our national mental health challenge. Investing in public mental health through evidence-based health promotion, prevention and early intervention initiatives is the only way to reduce the prevalence of mental illness in the population and consequently the burden of mental illness in the long-term. The current cost of living crisis makes this situation more urgent. Food insecurity, fuel poverty, debt and loneliness are a reality for millions of people.

But there is far less coverage of interventions to prevent associated impacts of mental illness, such as premature mortality, and negligible coverage of interventions to prevent mental illness from arising or to promote mental wellbeing and resilience. This implementation failure results in preventable population scale suffering, broad impacts and associated economic costs. Furthermore, it breaches the right to health and the Equality Act, and the implementation gap has further widened during the pandemic.

The United Nations Sustainable Developmental agenda set 17 ambitious and transformational goals for people and for the planet in January 2016, with the aim that all will be achieved by 2030.⁹⁹ Goal three seeks to ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all, at all ages. The target of achieving

universal coverage by 2030 applies to treatment of mental disorder, prevention of mental disorder and promotion of mental wellbeing. The UK government has committed to achieving the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by 2030 but this will require a collaborative, planned approach over the next eight years.

Sustainable development for people and planet is defined as development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. The interlinkages and integrated nature of the SDGs balance the three dimensions of sustainable development: economic, social, and environmental. This cross-government mental health and wellbeing plan must be seen in the context of achieving this goal.

Our vision for the Plan: 2025-2035

To drive progress over the next decade, the Government must build on the foundations set by *No Health Without Mental Health*, ¹⁰¹ *Future in Mind*¹⁰², the *FYFVMH*, and the *NHS LTP*¹⁰³. It must also align with other global and national calls to action.

Our vision for 2035 is to create a world-leading mental healthcare system in England; one that is designed to promote good health and wellbeing, prevent mental ill health, intervene at the earliest opportunity and to provide universal and timely access to high-quality treatment and support for those who need it.

We recommend the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC), other Governmental departments (OGDs), the NHS and its arm's-length bodies, local government and key partners commit to ambitious and targeted action so that collectively:

- 1. by 2035, the prevalence of mental disorders in the English population has been reduced by five percentage points, and disparities in prevalence across population groups have been reduced
- 2. by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of delivering universal health coverage for the treatment of mental disorders, prevention of mental disorders and promotion of mental wellbeing in England
- **3.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of reducing premature mortality from mental disorders and illness (through prevention and treatment, and promoting mental health and wellbeing) by one-third in England
- **4.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of providing universal access to quality essential health care services so that everyone who needs mental health treatment and support in England will be able to access it at the right place and at the right time, including through NHS primary care, urgent and emergency care, and secondary and specialist mental health services
- 5. by 2030, we have improved the quality, safety and effectiveness of treatment and care for those needing services for their mental health, measured through patient experience, effectiveness, safety, and patient outcomes (that matter most to patients)
- **6.** by 2030, we have achieved the UN SDG target of strengthening the prevention and treatment of substance abuse and harmful use of alcohol in England
- 7. by 2030, we have built a strong and resilient mental health workforce with mental health leaders empowered to develop the healthcare services of the future through Integrated Care Systems (ICSs), Partnerships (ICPs) and Boards (ICBs)
- **8.** by 2030, we have set up local systems to invest in mental health services and integrated pathways of care in an equitable and sustainable way that reflect significant historic underinvestment, and
- **9.** by 2035, there is equitable funding for world-class mental health research, giving us a greater knowledge and understanding of effective treatments and service models that contribute to better patient experiences, recovery, and long-term outcomes around the world.

Globally, it is estimated that the broad impacts of mental disorders and poor mental wellbeing will reach US\$6046 billion by 2030.¹⁰⁴ As this Government pursues the levelling up agenda, there is an opportunity for our country to be at the forefront of solving this social, economic and environmental crisis that impacts significantly on the nation's mental health.

Our principles for the Plan

The development of the Plan should be underpinned by a set of values and principles drawn from the responses to the consultation. This will help clarify what the strategy is to achieve and how this will be achieved.

> It must be ambitious, realistic, and measurable

By 2035, we must see real parity of esteem between mental and physical health delivered. This will mean that thousands more people of all ages living with a mental illness, disorder or condition will have access to high-quality treatment and support. It must mean that mental health services cater to the different mental health needs of people across the life course, from pre-conception to old age, and appreciating the intergenerational nature of mental health problems.

These ambitions need to be focused, based on evidence and realistic – translating into measurable outcomes that matter most to people.

Through this work, there needs to be an agreed definition between the government and the public of what parity of esteem between mental and physical health will look like by 2035.

> It must be co-produced

There needs to be meaningful consultation and engagement with the public, patients, carers, families and health and care professionals throughout – both in terms of its development, implementation, and monitoring.

> It must be joined-up

While being led by DHSC, the plan should also be co-produced by other government departments to align initiatives that promote and support good health, such as housing, schools, communities, criminal justice, addictions, welfare, social care, and public health.

There has been a tendency for stand-alone strategies to be produced, such as for learning disability services, for instance, and for those strategies to not have the necessary crossover with national strategies and plans. This results in silo strategy development and difficulties with implementation.

Within the NHS, we need a mental health service that is flexible and responsive to the needs of a changing population. The plan should recognise the interdependencies with other NHS programmes and that improvements in mental health care can alleviate some of the pressures in other parts of the healthcare system, such as primary care as set out in the Fuller Stocktake, and urgent and emergency care.

> It must be transparent

There must be an open and transparent process for developing the plan and allocating funding, and a similarly transparent governance process for its monitoring, implementation, and evaluation.

> It must have prevention and early intervention front and centre

This plan must effectively tackle the wider social determinants of poor mental health and enable all of us to enjoy mentally healthy lives from cradle to grave. This must include a commitment to invest in

public mental health initiatives and social care, and should bring about changes in education, welfare, addictions, criminal justice, and other public services to better support lifelong mental health.

In addition to significant investment in mental health services themselves, there are other priorities in the plan that will play a key role in improving support for people with mental health problems and tackling the factors which can cause or exacerbate these. This includes priority areas such as primary care, children and young people's health services and support for people with multiple long-term conditions. All NHS services have a role in protecting and promoting mental health, not just the services that deal with diagnosable mental illness.

> It must be underpinned by cross-cutting commitments to reduce inequalities across the board

The plan should recognise the effect of negative life experiences, such as racism, sexism, homophobia, and transphobia, which contribute to mental illness in a major way. The plan should continue to address this both in general society, in education, and in the healthcare profession.

It should also recognise the effect of institutional racism and other forms of discrimination on mental health and support an anti-racist approach across government and within the NHS.

Without this, the ambitions will simply not be achievable.

> It must have an accompanying Implementation Plan with comprehensive workforce and funding projections and commitments

The Implementation Plan should be published alongside the plan, or soon after, and set out how Government will deliver on the existing and new commitments. It should also specify how it will align with other interdependencies, such as the NHS LTP Refresh, the Health Disparities White Paper, and the Dame Carol Black Review, for example.

The first three years of a strategy are often most pivotal as unless it starts to yield results in this time period, it is at risk of being shelved. An ambitious strategy that sets out to achieve real and concrete change needs funding to do so. There must be an accompanying funding settlement for the commitments outlined in the Plan agreed upon at the next comprehensive spending review in 2024/25.

The plan should be underpinned by the need to recruit and retain a mental health workforce that enables the delivery of high-quality care for patients sustainably in the long-term. It should also ensure clear alignment between training, workforce planning and service provision.

This is absolutely key, and the plan risks being severely compromised if this were not to be included.

> It must be future proof

The Plan must include commitments that can withstand the changing political landscape as well as the changing system architecture through the formation of ICSs, ICBs and ICPs. It must also build in commitments that are resilient to the economic and health-related shocks to society.

About our response

We believe this consultation, alongside the forthcoming update of the NHS LTP, is an opportunity to develop a world-leading mental healthcare system by 2035. Preventing poor mental and physical health must be front and centre of the levelling up mission if we are to protect the NHS and enable more people to live longer, healthier, and happier lives. For those who need treatment and support, we must reduce the treatment gap and reduce disparities in access, quality of care, safety, experience, and outcomes.

We welcome the opportunity to share our recommendations with government to support in the development of a new cross-government, 10-year plan for mental health and wellbeing, and a refreshed suicide prevention plan for England.

This document has been produced in response to the DHSC's discussion paper and call for evidence. Throughout our response, we outline ways the government can take a population approach to improve coverage of mental health services, improve mental health and wellbeing outcomes that matter most to people, integrate and coordinate services across health and care to prevent mental disorder from arising, prevent the associated impacts and inequalities, promote mental wellbeing and resilience, and support the delivery of effective interventions to treat mental disorder.

Our response has been produced in collaboration with our members and patient and carer representatives. We also draw extensively on the recommendations made by the College's Public Mental Health Implementation Centre (PMHIC), which has produced a comprehensive summary of the evidence on public mental health interventions. ¹⁰⁵

We are likely to update this document as further discussions take place over the summer/autumn, allowing us to build on our recommendations.

We have also contributed to a joint response with the Mental Health Policy Group. As a group we represent providers, professionals, the voluntary and community sector, and hundreds of thousands of people who use the NHS and services in the wider community that support their mental health.

The devolved nations of the UK have their own mental health strategies and plans. We would encourage learning to be shared across the nations, to co-ordinate best practice and ensure the participation of UK government departments whose remit covers the whole of the UK, such as the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and Home Office immigration and asylum policy.

In chapters 3-7, we outline our recommendations for each question in the consultation. Chapter 8 focuses on the cross-cutting enablers to make this happen. Here, we cover revenue and capital investment across the NHS, public health grants and social care, the role of ICSs, leadership, governance and accountability, the workforce, and investing in digital technology.

3. How can we promote positive mental wellbeing and prevent the onset of mental ill-health?

The Marmot Review in 2020, *Build Back Fairer*, identified that the levels of social, environmental, and economic inequality in society are damaging the nation's health and wellbeing. The report highlights that over the past decade, there has been a stagnation of health improvement – the second worst in Europe – and widening health inequalities.¹⁰⁶

Professor Sir Michael Marmot argues that as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic, it would be a catastrophic mistake to re-establish the status quo; we have an opportunity to build back a fairer society.¹⁰⁷

The Government's White Paper on Levelling Up the United Kingdom included an ambition to improve wellbeing in every area of the UK, with the gap between top performing and other areas closing, by 2030. 108

More needs to be done to promote mental wellbeing across whole populations, with more progressively targeted interventions to address specific needs among more vulnerable and at-risk groups, such as children and older adults. Many of our recommendations to the Government are drawn from the College's PMHIC, which aims to support the improved implementation of evidence-based interventions to treat mental disorder, prevent associated impacts, prevent mental disorders, and promote mental wellbeing and resilience. This will result in the sustainable and equitable reduction of the impacts of mental disorder and promotion of population mental wellbeing locally, nationally, and internationally. ¹⁰⁹

Reduce socio-economic inequalities, deprivation, and poverty

Health is significantly influenced by the social, economic, and environmental conditions around us. In the UK, people living in the poorest areas die earlier than those in richer areas. All risk factors for premature mortality – smoking, poor diet, and harmful alcohol use – are impacted by these socioeconomic factors.¹¹⁰ For instance, childhood obesity is rising and the gap in prevalence is widening between the least and most deprived areas in England;¹¹¹ 31% of households with someone who smokes fall below the poverty line;¹¹² and high-risk drinking prevalence rose by 64% in the lower socioeconomic groups during the first lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic.¹¹³

The Marmot Review argues that years of austerity and stagnating wages had resulted in many households, particularly those with children, being in poverty and suffering from ill health as a result. Regional inequalities in wealth had widened and many people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds and lower waged households are struggling. ¹¹⁴ Increases in in-work poverty, one of the clearest signs of a society that is not meeting the needs of its population, are damaging the health and prospects of working age adults and of children. ¹¹⁵

The Child Poverty Action Group has identified that while child poverty was down overall in the UK in 2020/21, this is likely to be a temporary improvement related to the additional support provided to low-income families during the COVID-19 pandemic. Child poverty has continued to increase in the North East and Wales, and the North East has now overtaken London to have the highest child poverty rate in the UK.¹¹⁶

The Government's White Paper on Levelling Up included an ambition for the government to improve healthy life expectancy by 5 years by 2035, but the Health Foundation has estimated that it would take 192 years to achieve this at the current rate.¹¹⁷

The government must keep their commitment to increase Healthy Life Expectancy by 5 years by 2035 by tackling the root causes of ill health including poverty, housing and structural inequalities based on demographic factors such as ethnicity.

Recommendations

Strategic focus

- The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to develop a National Strategy on Inequalities led by the Prime Minister to reduce widening social, economic, environmental and health inequalities.¹¹⁸
- DLUHC to set a target to reduce levels of child poverty to 10%, putting it on par with the lowest rates in Europe. 119
- DLUHC to put health and mental health equity and wellbeing at the heart of local, regional and national economic planning and strategy. ¹²⁰

Enhance the Public Health system

- DHSC to fund Public Health at a level of 0.5% of GDP with spending focused proportionately across the social gradient. ¹²¹
- The Office for Heath Improvement and Disparities (OHID) and DHSC to ensure Public Health develops capacity and expands its focus on social determinants of health. 122
- OHID to develop social determinants of health interventions to improve healthy behaviours. 123 124
- DLUHC to increase the deprivation weighting in the local government funding formula, and invest in the development of economic, social, and cultural resources in the most deprived communities.¹²⁵
- DLUHC to invest in the development of economic, social, and cultural resources in the most deprived communities. ¹²⁶
- DLUHC to invest in the resilience of areas that were damaged and weakened before and during the pandemic. 127
- DLUHC to tackle domestic and gender violence and abuse.

Improve financial security

- DWP to ensure that all workers receive at least the national living wage as a step towards achieving the long-term goal of preventing in-work poverty. 128
- DWP to make the social safety net sufficient for people not in full-time work to receive a minimum income for healthy living. 129
- DWP to review the taxation and benefits system to ensure they achieve greater equity and are not regressive. ¹³⁰
- DWP to make permanent the £1,000-a-year increase in the standard allowance for Universal Credit. ¹³¹
- DWP to end the five-week wait for Universal Credit and provide cash grants for low-income households. 132
- DWP to remove sanctions and reduce conditionalities in benefit payments eradicating benefit caps and lift the two-child limits. 133
- DWP to provide tapering levels of benefits to avoid cliff edges. ¹³⁴
- DWP to increase child benefit for lower-income families to reduce child and food poverty. 135
- DLUHC to eradicate food poverty permanently and remove reliance on food charities. ¹³⁶
- DLUHC to extend free school meal provision for all children in households in receipt of Universal Credit. ¹³⁷
- DLUHC to give sufficient support to food aid providers and charities. ¹³⁸

Take action on climate change, pollution, and biodiversity loss

Climate change, pollution and biodiversity loss have created a health crisis. Our actions and our impacts will be inherited for generations to come, and we need to ensure there is a sustainable and positive vision for mental health services.

There are interconnected factors that individually and collectively have a profoundly destructive impact on human and planetary health.

There are particular implications for the nation's mental health, and this is likely to disproportionately affect vulnerable groups, including people with pre-existing mental illness and children. ¹³⁹

A tremendous effort by national and international organisations to tackle the dual threats of climate change and ecological degradation is already under way. UK, global and international frameworks of action, including the UK Government's Climate Change Act; the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals; Conference of Parties (COP); Convention on Biological Diversity; United Kingdom Health Alliance on Climate Change (UKHACC) and NHS plan for delivering a net-zero NHS. However, without concerted collective pressure and effort, these organisations and frameworks will not achieve their goals.

Recommendations

- The Department for Environment and Rural Affairs (Defra) to prioritise a unified approach with sufficient resources to tackle the climate and ecological crisis across all aspects of government.
- Defra to follow the UK Health Alliance on Climate Change (UKHACC) principles for a healthy and green recovery to place environmental and health factors at the heart of any economic recovery following the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Defra to base decisions on changes to land and water usage on tools which include assessment of prospective impacts to mental and physical health.
- All research organisations to:
 - o ensure that future research in planetary health includes multidisciplinary studies examining how the mental health of different vulnerable groups are affected by climate-related hazards, pollution and biodiversity loss, and
 - o establish and quantify the co-benefits to mental health of taking action against climate change, biodiversity loss and pollution.
- The Medical School Council to:
 - ensure the impact of the climate and ecological emergency, and the role medical professionals can play in preventing and mitigating this, are a core part of the curriculum, and
 - o work with medical schools to ensure students are taught about the overuse of tests and interventions.
- All organisations responsible for postgraduate and continuing medical education to ensure that practicing doctors receive similar updates to undergraduates.

Put health at the heart of urban and community planning

Local authorities manage assets vital to the public's mental health, such as housing and planning functions, elements of education, children's and adult social care services, the maintenance of parks and open spaces, provision of libraries, children's centres, and youth services. All of these have the potential either to enhance and protect people's mental health or – including in their absence - to diminish and harm it. Yet their important role in public mental health is under great pressure following too many years of austerity cuts.

A report published by the Royal Society for Public Health looked at many high street outlets, including those determined bad for health – payday lenders, bookmakers, tanning salons, and fast food outlets – and those that were good for health – pubs and bars, libraries, pharmacies, dentists, opticians and leisure centres. 140

The physical, economic, and social characteristics of housing, places and communities have an important influence on people's physical and mental health and wellbeing, and inequalities in these are related to inequalities in health.

Recommendations

Housing

- DLUHC to ensure all new housing developments include within their plans a priority to promote
 good mental health and wellbeing of their population and improve access to health services for
 people of all ages with mental ill health. Dementia-friendly communities should be a fundamental
 part of the design. New housing development sites can learn lessons from 'Healthy New Towns'
 demonstrator sites, including:
 - o developing health services that help people to stay well
 - o strengthening and integrating 'out-of-hospital' care
 - o developing the future workforce
 - o linking health services to wider community assets
 - o supporting self-management
 - using digital technology to support care
 - o creating integrated health and wellbeing centres
 - o maximising the benefits of integrated health and wellbeing centres
 - o strategic estates planning
 - o developing a schedule of accommodation, and
 - o options for project funding.
- DLUHC to build more good-quality homes that are affordable and environmentally sustainable.¹⁴¹
- DLUHC to ensure 100% of new housing is carbon-neutral by 2030, with an increased proportion being either affordable or in the social housing sector. 142
- DLUHC to reduce sources of air pollution from road traffic in more deprived areas. 143
- DLUHC to increase support for those who live in the private rented sector by increasing the local housing allowance to cover 50% of market rates. 144
- DLUHC to remove the cap on council tax. 145
- DLUHC to urgently reduce homelessness and extend and make watertight the protections against eviction. 146

High streets

- DLUHC to implement recommendations from the Royal Society for Public Health report, *Health on the High Street*, including:
 - o local authorities nationwide to introduce A5 planning restrictions within 400 metres of primary and secondary schools
 - DLUHC to provide local authorities with the power and support to restrict the opening of new betting shops and other unhealthy outlets where there are already clusters
 - o vape shops to ensure all customers who smoke are aware of their local stop smoking service
 - o industry and all businesses selling food on the high street cafés, pubs, fast food outlets, convenience stores, leisure centres to reduce the calories in their products
 - Facebook and Google to provide discounted advertising opportunities to local, independent health-promoting businesses

- o local authorities to support meaningful use of shops by making records on vacant commercial properties publicly accessible
- councils to set differential rent classes for tenants based on how health-promoting their business offer is, and
- business rates relief for businesses that try to improve the public's health.
- Local authorities to substantially invest in the infrastructure to support walking, cycling, leisure
 activity, sport and active travel, and neighbourhood walkability with well-designed
 neighbourhoods.
- DLUHC and OHID to tackle obesogenic environments on high streets by:
 - addressing the junk food offer around schools by banning unhealthy fast-food outlets from within a five-minute walk of school gates
 - o ending discounts targeted at school children
 - o ending app-based food delivery services to school gates
 - building better places to go, including better quality parks with the use of young people in mind, and physical signage outside schools directing young people to their nearest park, and
 - o limiting the reach of junk food adverts, including banning the advertising of unhealthy food products across all council-owned advertising sites.

Put mental health at the heart of ICS population management

Population health refers to the health outcomes of a group of individuals, including how these outcomes are distributed within the group. It is an approach that combines patterns of health determinants, health outcomes, and policies and interventions that link the two.

Population health management aims to improve physical and mental health outcomes, promote wellbeing, and reduce health inequalities by focusing on the wider determinants of health and the role of people and communities.

The King's Fund framework for population health centres on four pillars:

- the wider determinants of health
- health behaviours and lifestyles
- the places and communities we live in, and
- an integrated health and care system. 147

The role of ICSs in the first three of these pillars needs to acknowledge that the reach of the NHS does not extend easily to all these areas – ICSs need to strengthen the way NHS organisations work with local authorities and the voluntary sector in implementing effective action in this area, based on best practice.

The fourth pillar is a central component for ICS development, supported by population health management techniques that use big data to drive planning and delivery of care. With quality data, this can involve identifying local 'at risk' groups through segmentation and risk-stratification. Interventions then can be targeted at preventing ill-health, improving care and support for people with ongoing health conditions and reducing unwarranted variations in outcomes.

The College's Advancing Mental Health Equality (AMHE) resource lays out how we can better use data and existing resources to identify inequalities within local populations. ICSs can use population health data to identify health inequality and develop plans to address this.

Recommendations

- ICSs to adopt population health management approaches that focus on public mental health and wellbeing. This should include work on perinatal mental health, children and young people (where some of the greatest opportunities for prevention lie), and on wider services such as addiction, homelessness or housing services and employment support.
- ICSs to invest in school-based programmes, including bullying and violence prevention, interventions to promote adolescent social-emotional functioning and developmental trajectories, universal resilience-focused interventions, school-based promotion of self-regulation, school-based mindfulness programmes, youth mentoring programmes, psychosocial interventions delivered by teachers, prevention of smoking, alcohol and drug use.¹⁴⁸
- ICSs to ensure that population health management approaches allow for an understanding of the health inequalities and health service utilisation by creating a linked dataset with patient-level information from acute services, primary care, primary care prescribing, mental health, community services, continuing healthcare, social care, public health and specialised commissioning. Using these data can help clinicians to review pathways and services, and to understand the quality, strategic and financial opportunities and risks.
- NHSE to provide local ICSs with guidance and examples of good practice, demonstrating how
 population health approaches can help address mental health issues as well as wider public health
 problems.

Reduce stigma and discrimination

There are many negative life experiences, such as racism, sexism, homophobia, and transphobia, which contribute to mental illness in a major way. It is important we continue to address stigma both in general society, education and in the healthcare profession.

Mental health professionals should understand the link between these adverse experiences and mental health and try to help prevent these at a population level.

Recommendations

- DHSC should fund an anti-stigma campaign to help end the stigma and discrimination often experienced by people with mental health problems.
- DHSC and the Department for Education (DfE) should continue to fund MindEd so they can
 continue to provide free educational resource on children, young people, adults and older people's
 mental health.

Promote self-help

As part of a drive to preventing rather than curing, more needs to be done to help people help themselves. Understanding the evidence base around apps and self-help platforms for basic mental health/wellbeing support (sleep, diet, activity, and stress management) will help us to advance their use and people's personal agency in wellbeing. Digital platforms can also identify opportunities for local employers, education settings and communities to support one another in voluntary community service.

Every Mind Matters is an important tool to allow people – including children and young people - to manage their mental wellbeing.¹⁴⁹

The use of online platforms must be clear and accessible for people across demographics (e.g., intellectual disability) to minimise digital exclusion as we know that it is often those in most need of support and advice who are least likely to have access to these forms of information.

Recommendation

• DHSC to commit to fully fund both adult and children and young people's Every Mind Matters platforms, taking into consideration the needs of people across demographics.

Reduce social isolation and loneliness and invest in community assets

Someone who is socially isolated isn't necessarily lonely, nor is a lonely person necessarily socially isolated. Both can have a significant impact on mental health and wellbeing. ¹⁵⁰

There has been a growing interest across the country in the use of social prescribing and related approaches to connect people with resources in their local community aimed at improving health and wellbeing. Evaluations have reported positive results in terms of patient outcomes and service use allowing healthcare professionals to refer people to a range of non-clinical services to address their needs in a holistic way and often focuses on improving mental health and wellbeing.

While used predominantly for adults and older adults, children and young people can also significantly benefit from this, particularly during times of transition in their lives (such as leaving home) as lack of activities, isolation and loneliness can cause and exacerbate mental health problems. Similarly, people with an intellectual disability can benefit from this in order to reduce social isolation and promote inclusion.

Wellbeing coordinators, care navigators and/or Wellbeing Hubs are another way to help connect people with local voluntary and community sector services – particularly people who are at risk of social isolation and need some extra support, or who are known to be experiencing emotional distress. The intention is to prevent the development of mental health problems and to support the recovery of those with existing mental health problems. The aspiration should be to widen the wellbeing offer in primary care over time, with the addition of peer-coaches, self-management courses and (potentially) other resources such as dementia care navigators.

Recommendations

- OHID and NHSE to develop a preventative strategy with initiatives to reduce the incidence of loneliness along with other factors that are known to reduce the risk of mental illness in older people.
- Local authorities should offer interventions that promote social interaction through volunteering opportunities, community engagement, social skills training, and befriending, for example. The NHS might not be well placed to lead on this but could provide infrastructure, evaluations, input to the communities (by invitation), teaching or physical health checks.
- Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to map assets and resources within the community, with due consideration of mental health and wellbeing resources. The ease in which patients can access these resources (with a particular focus on excluded groups), and the ease in which primary care professionals can refer to them, should be regularly reviewed.
- NHSE and PCNs to expand the roll out of social prescribing in primary care in line with the ambitions and recommendations of the College's Position Statement on this important intervention.¹⁵¹

Improve perinatal and parental outcomes

It is well understood that the first 1001 days of babies and toddlers' lives is critical to future development. If parents do not have the physical or emotional capacity to provide nurturing care, this

can have a potentially significant and lasting impact on babies' development, with knock-on impacts on later learning, earning, mental and physical health.

Recommendations

- HM Treasury and DfE to increase levels of spending on the early years and (as a minimum) meet the OECD average and ensure allocation of funding is proportionately higher for more deprived areas. 152
- DfE and DHSC to increase the availability and quality of early years services, including Children's Centres, in all regions of England and to reduce inequalities in early years development.¹⁵³
- DHSC to expand perinatal and early years mental health services within Universal Services (maternity services, health visiting, Sure Start centres and primary care).
- OHID and NHSE to reverse the decline in the health visiting and school nursing workforce through a demand-driven, well-resourced national workforce strategy and plan.
- DHSC to fund local authorities to enable them to provide health visiting and school nursing services at a level that delivers everything that Government and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance expect of them.
- NHSE and OHID should ensure antenatal classes universally include information about mental health and wellbeing, as well as parenting and parenting programmes.
- NHSE and OHID to invest in interventions to address perinatal outcomes including targeting parent tobacco, alcohol, and substance use during pregnancy and interventions targeting birth outcomes such as low birth weight, preterm birth, prenatal infection, and poor maternal nutrition, and breastfeeding support.¹⁵⁴
- NHSE and OHID to expand the existing package of measures aimed at parents, including parenting programmes and promotion of child/parent attachment. 155

Improve outcomes in childhood and adolescence

Children's mental health does not exist in a vacuum, and the biggest risk factors are social – in particular, exposure to cumulative adversities such as poverty, domestic violence, victimisation, community breakdown and inadequate schooling. For the most vulnerable, not least children under the age of 5 and those with neurodevelopmental conditions, these experiences can have life-long implications for their development and wellbeing.

The Marmot Review 10 Years On found worrying trends in some of the critical drivers of children's early years development and education. This followed the widespread closure of Children's Centres and early years services, with the greatest impact in more deprived areas. ¹⁵⁶

Recommendations

- DHSC to reverse declines in the mental health of children and young people and improve levels of wellbeing from the present low rankings internationally.¹⁵⁷
- OHID to ensure that trauma and adverse childhood experiences are a priority for public health. It should produce clear guidance and support for local authorities to coordinate efforts to improve the prevention of, and responses to, trauma. 158
- DHSC, DfE and DLUHC to increase resources for preventing abuse and identifying and supporting children experiencing abuse. 159
- DHSC to implement the recommendations of the Independent Review of Children's Social Care in full, swiftly and with appropriate resourcing.
- DHSC to invest in services for Looked after children through foster parent training improved parenting practices and reduced child disruptive behaviour. ¹⁶⁰

- DfE to increase attainment to match the best in Europe by reducing inequalities. ¹⁶¹
- DfE to invest in school-based programmes, including bullying and violence prevention, interventions to promote adolescent social-emotional functioning and developmental trajectories, universal resilience-focused interventions, school-based promotion of self-regulation, schoolbased mindfulness programmes, youth mentoring programmes, psychosocial interventions delivered by teachers, prevention of smoking, alcohol and drug use.¹⁶²
- DfE to ensure that all young people are engaged in education, employment or training up to the age of 21. 163
- DfE to increase the number of post-school apprenticeships and support in-work training throughout the life course. 164
- DfE to develop and fund additional training schemes for school leavers and unemployed young people. ¹⁶⁵
- DfE to restore the per-student funding for secondary schools and especially sixth form, at least in line with 2010 levels and up to the level of London (excluding London weighting). 166
- DfE to further support young people's training, education and employment schemes to reduce the numbers who are NEET, and urgently address gaps in access to apprenticeships. ¹⁶⁷
- DfE to raise minimum wage for apprentices and further incentivise employers to offer such schemes. ¹⁶⁸
- DfE to invest in Special Educational Needs services to deliver behavioural and educational interventions that improve children's inclusion and participation in school, cognitive development, interventions to support reading for children with intellectual disability in schools, and parenting programmes. ¹⁶⁹
- DfE to give excluded students additional support and enroll those who need it into Pupil Referral Units. ¹⁷⁰
- DfE to prioritise funding for youth services. 171
- DfE and DHSC to promote interventions to increase physical activity in children and young people. ¹⁷²

Protect children and young people from online harm

There are many positive benefits from the use of the internet but there is also evidence to suggest that digital technology may impact adversely on children and young people's development, education, and attention. There is a connection between screen use and obesity, difficulties with sleep and mental health issues including self-harm, depression and eating distress. Children and young people may also encounter distressing material online and may be vulnerable to online harms e.g., sexual exploitation and cyberbullying. Gaming disorder has recently been recognised and the concept of internet addiction is emerging. ¹⁷³

The role of persuasive technology has been documented with regards to compulsive use, and is manifest, for example, in notifications that a post has been 'liked', or a tweet re-tweeted, which can also impact on a young person's self-esteem. Although most children and young people will be able to harness the benefits of technology without negative effects, some may be vulnerable to compulsive use and potential harm.¹⁷⁴

Recommendations

For regulators¹⁷⁵

• The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) and the Regulator to urgently review and establish a protocol for the sharing of data from social media companies with universities for research into benefits and harms on children and young people.

- DCMS and Regulator to urgently review the ethical framework for using digital data the same standards need to apply as in other areas of research.
- DCMS and NHSE to fund a follow-up of the NHSD (now within NHSE) prevalence study to examine the impact of social media on vulnerable children and young people over time.
- DCMS to instruct the Regulator to establish a levy on tech companies proportionate to their
 worldwide turnover. This would be used to fund independent research and training packages for
 clinicians, teachers and others working with children and young people. As with the gambling
 industry and social responsibility measures, the gaming and social media industry should be
 required to increase social responsibility measures similarly, such as emulate the gambling
 industry's duty of care practices (e.g., personalised behavioural feedback, stop messages) in
 gaming/social media platforms.
- DCMS to enable the Regulator to undertake a joint review with the UK Gambling Commission to review regulation regarding loot boxes in line with other countries which have recognised loot boxes as a form of gambling.
- DCMS and the Regulator to undertake a consultation in 2020 on a yellow card warning system similar to that used for medicines, in order for professionals and potentially parents/carers/young people to report harms of social media and gaming companies.
- DCMS and the Regulator to prioritise the strictest enforcement of Data Protection law and in particular, UK DPA 2018 "Age-appropriate design" to services targeting and / or popular with children, including a requirement that services should default to assuming users need child protection until explicit action is taken to opt-out.

For technology companies¹⁷⁶

- Mitigate the harm to children caused by habit-forming features of the service by consideration and analysis of how processes (including algorithmic serving of content, the display of other users' approval of posts and notifications) contribute to the development of habit-forming behaviour.
- Social media platforms should flag up engagement with risky content and operate and offer a free direct hotline for at-risk or vulnerable individuals.
- Social media companies should provide user configurable controls (not in the cloud) that can block incoming content of the young person's choosing (by default 'full safety measures on') and provide feedback on content they are planning to send (e.g., BBC Own It app for an example).
- Social media companies should promote and contribute to mental health charities in home countries to support any vulnerable individuals.
- Gaming companies and social media platforms should regularly fund research related to their products, to be conducted by independent external bodies and provide on a regular basis user data for research purposes to academic institutions.
- Funding of media literacy awareness campaigns.

For education¹⁷⁷

- Schools and colleges should have policies relating to device use and a digital code of conduct. Good practice should be sought out and shared. A multi-stakeholder engagement of peers, parents and school staff should be encouraged to support, inform and update school policies.
- If teachers are concerned about the level of technology used by children and young people and the possible impact on their health and well-being, they should seek guidance from resources such as the MindEd modules and discuss the issue with their mental health leads within schools, as well as sharing concerns with parents.
- The Personal, Social and Health Education Association syllabuses should be developed further to include online safety, and further resource development should be prioritised.
- Opportunities for group working away from screens should be encouraged whenever possible.

For healthcare professionals¹⁷⁸

- Questions around technology use should become a core part of biopsychosocial assessments and formulations; the online world can be just as important to young people as their offline world. It is helpful to ask children and young people about any areas that worry them in their digital lives, whilst keeping a check on their use and its disruption of healthy or necessary activities.
- Psychiatrists should be mindful of the possible impact of technology use when children and young
 people report difficulties in areas such as sleeping, academic performance, mood, behaviour or
 eating.
- Mental health conditions such as depression and behavioural problems may make children more vulnerable to problematic technology use; clinicians should be aware of the impact of technology.
- Clinicians must be aware of the additional needs of vulnerable parents, such as those suffering
 from depression, who may struggle to support their child around problematic technology use. If
 problematic technology use is identified:
 - o the assessing clinician will seek to understand the impact of all presenting difficulties including potential problematic use on family relationships, educational performance and social interactions. In this context, the clinician will start to understand the potential level of problematic technology use
 - it has not yet been fully elucidated whether conditions such as depression and anxiety are
 contributing factors to problematic internet use or gaming or are a result of the condition.
 It is recommended that, where more than one condition is present, the clinician
 documents the duration of all conditions, and
 - clinicians should be aware of the safeguarding implications of online content and contact.

For training and service development¹⁷⁹

- Services should deliver training in the concept of technology addiction. Online resources such as minded.org are useful training resources and should be further developed as knowledge increases in this area.
- Pathways to specialist services also need to be developed. There are models for other specialist pathways, such as eating disorders, where locality services treat children and young people whose symptoms are less severe. This enables locality teams to maintain expertise and recognise conditions, ensuring that children and young people can be treated as soon as possible. Where symptoms are more severe, children and young people will need specialist care. As treatment for technology addiction is still developing, this may involve travelling to specialist clinics, however as more awareness of the condition develops, the level of expertise will increase. Local protocols will need to be developed based on the diagnostic criteria available. It must be acknowledged that children and young people with technology addiction are more likely to experience additional mental health needs such as depression, anxiety, developmental conditions such as ADHD and eating disorders.

For research¹⁸⁰

- Embedding the use of device-collected screen time and internet usage-type data in ongoing (or commencing) large-scale cohort studies examining other variables including health outcomes is essential to allow for:
 - longitudinal research studies with children and young people at different developmental stages, examining whether technology causes harmful outcomes as well as potential benefits
 - o examining different types of screen use, as well as content, and exploring a variety of health-related outcomes. Screen time use data cannot rely purely on self-report
 - o determining the effects of extensive online media usage on cognitive development

- o there is a need for qualitative studies exploring children's and young people's perspectives, including gender differences
- research is needed that focuses on potentially vulnerable groups such as those with mental health and neurodevelopmental disorders, looked-after children, LGBTQIA+ young people and very young children
- o websites that normalise or promote concepts such as self-harm, suicide and anorexia should be studied and their impact on young people understood. Additionally, when limitations are proactively placed on sites by technology companies, the impact of these limitations on the health and well-being of children and young people should be studied.
- research needs to elucidate the possible concepts of technology addiction and examine the potential for addiction, including further development of screening tools and treatment programmes
- o research is needed into the incidence of problematic technology use across the UK, and
- the development of further brain neuroimaging studies is needed that will examine the posited affected areas, not only for overuse but also to examine tolerance and withdrawal effects.
- Research is needed to understand how young people with mental health needs are using the internet and what support could be put in place.
- Research is also needed to understand the possible benefits of programmes that can help people manage their digital technology use, for example, apps which can block the use of other apps and the use of time restrictions. Personalised programmes for media addiction, for example, including specialised Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and systemic family therapy, need to be developed and evaluated. Programmes need to take into account heterogeneity around potential causes (e.g., severe mental illness, low self-esteem, loneliness, ADHD, individual's predisposition to addiction) and engagement with specific internet content or transactions (e.g., social media, online gaming or gambling).
- Therapeutic trials should have integrated mediation analyses as a core aspect of trial design in order to determine which psychological and/or neurological changes predict and accompany successful treatment outcomes.
- Further research into the use of social media platforms for support, for example, in relation to suicide prevention.

Prevent depression, eating disorders and dementia

For depression, eating disorders and dementia, there is good evidence that interventions can prevent the onset of these illnesses. 181

Recommendations

- DHSC and other government departments to prevent depression through good quality employment, physical activity, reduction in social isolation and loneliness, early access to psychological and educational interventions.
- DHSC and other government departments to invest in lifestyle modification and dissonance-based prevention programs to prevent eating disorders.
- DHSC and other government departments to invest in interventions that address the twelve modifiable risk factors which could prevent or delay 40% of dementia include treatment of hypertension, reduction of obesity and associated diabetes, physical activity. limiting alcohol use, avoiding smoking, prevention of air pollution and head injury, addressing insomnia, and use of hearing aids for hearing loss.

Reduce employee stress and increase wellbeing

As almost one in four adults in England experience at least one mental disorder each year, ¹⁸² workplace interventions can have population-level impact in promoting mental wellbeing, preventing mental disorder, and supporting recovery. The independent Farmer/Stevenson report, *Thriving at Work*, made important recommendations about how all employers can improve mental health at work and called on the public sector to lead the way. ¹⁸³

In the NHS, there is several years of experience of applying quality improvement to the topic of wellbeing, experience, and joy in the workforce. Several NHS provider organisations, such as East London NHS Foundation Trust, have been applying this approach for the last 5 years, with demonstrable results. The RCPsych ran a programme which supported 40 teams across different contexts to use quality improvement to understand what contributes to wellbeing and experience and give teams autonomy to test ideas to change the way they work in order to improve people's experience and wellbeing. This has resulted in reduced burnout and improved experience at work over a year-long programme.

Recommendations

- DWP to implement the recommendations of the Stevenson/Farmer review on mental health and employers in full and oversee its implementation.
- Employers to invest in workplace interventions to reduce employee stress and increase wellbeing through:
 - strategic approaches to improve mental wellbeing in the workplace taking into account workplace culture, workload, job quality, autonomy and employee concerns about mental health including stigma
 - o supportive work environment
 - o external sources of support
 - o organisation-wide approaches
 - o training and support for managers
 - o individual-level approaches
 - o approaches for employees who have or are at risk of poor mental health
 - o organisational-level approaches for high-risk populations, and
 - o engaging with employees and their representatives.
- Employers to invest in workplace interventions to promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental disorder including:¹⁸⁴
 - workplace resources which can improve employee wellbeing and organisational performance
 - o increasing employee control via flexible working
 - o resilience promotion programmes which were more effective for those at higher risk of stress
 - workplace-based physical activity promotion
 - mindfulness and yoga
 - protective labour and social policies which modified association between work stress and mental disorder
 - procedural justice and relational justice in the workplace which were associated with reduced depression
 - interventions to prevent employment related stress and mental disorder
 - interventions to address work related stress and promote wellbeing, and
 - online interventions to reduce workplace stress or improve mindfulness through online mindfulness interventions Targeted online stress management interventions led to small reductions in stress, though the strength of associations varied among the interventions.

4. How can we intervene earlier when people need support with their mental health?

Invest in a whole system response to children and young people's mental health

The mental health impact of the pandemic has been felt most acutely by those children and young people who already faced multiple disadvantages. Experiences of poverty, neglect, homelessness, and abuse have been heightened for many young people, with a significant impact on their mental health. Ensuring developmentally appropriate services has become a significant priority for children's (and adult) mental health services, and it is critical that approaches to early intervention and prevention take the same approach.

Health visiting teams have an ever more important role in supporting infants, toddlers, and their caregivers, and identifying those at risk. It is therefore concerning that after peaking in October 2015, the number of health visitors in NHS community health services has rapidly declined.

Schools also offer an excellent ground for early intervention and prevention, helping children stay mentally well. The roll-out of Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) has continued at pace since 2018. An initial evaluation of trailblazer sites identified significant opportunities for strengthening the programme, including offering further career development and progression opportunities for MHST staff.

A school-based offer is not suitable for all children and young people, particularly older children, and some with more complex needs. For many young people who leave education, mental health problems continue to hamper their ability to successfully navigate the transition into adulthood.

Within CAMHS, our members are telling us about an increasing number of patients being referred to specialist mental health services. But pressure points have emerged over the course of the pandemic, with some specialist services facing much more significant demand than others. Children and young people's eating disorder services are one particular area of concern.

There is also a greater number of children with mental health needs are also presenting to Emergency Departments and being admitted to paediatric wards, with mental health needs that have become so acute as to manifest in physical health emergencies (incl. eating disorders, self-harm, etc.). More children and young people are facing being admitted hundreds of miles away from home because no bed is available for them locally.

There is currently a dire shortage of adequate social care provision to meet these ever-increasing needs, most notably to provide early intervention to vulnerable families. The absence of adequate and secure family support and, where appropriate, social care leads to increasing numbers of children and young people referred to mental health services without any other support mechanisms. This sets unrealistic expectations of what might be achieved through therapy and medication and/or inpatient admission alone, and places even greater pressure on already-stretched mental health services.

Consequently, many children and young people get caught in a 'revolving door' – successfully treated in CAMHS but discharged into an environment which made them unwell. Action should be taken to ensure the various needs of children are met through a whole system response to children and young people's needs, including appropriate specialist provision. By supporting closer collaboration across CAMHS, social care, and education, specialist services can work together to personalise care and support children and young people to recover quickly and sustainably.

Recommendations

- Local authorities to commission and fund health visiting services that are able to offer a high-quality service to all those who need them, in line with the Healthy Child Programme.
- DHSC to fund the roll-out of early support hubs for children and young people aged 11 25.
- NHSE to provide additional funding to enable the full implementation of the MHST review recommendations, with a focus on strengthening provision for children with greater and more complex needs. Providing recommendations are implemented, support the furthering of the roll out of MHST beyond 2023/24 to ensure access for 100% of pupils.
- NHSE to ensure staff in MHST have received training so that they feel equipped to identify the mental health needs of vulnerable groups of children and young people, including young people not in education, employment or training (NEETs), children with neurodevelopmental problems (including Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder [ADHD], autism spectrum disorders [ASD] and intellectual disabilities), children with long-term health conditions, children with behavioural difficulties, looked-after children, young carers, refugees and migrant children, children with a first language other than English, children in the criminal justice system, abused children, LGBTQIA+ young people, and to refer them appropriately when required.
- DHSC to work with DfE to implement the forthcoming recommendations of the children's social care review, particularly where these relate to meeting the needs of children with mental illnesses and prioritise this agenda as part of the new cross-Government mental health strategy.
- DHSC and NHSE to identify pressure points and provide targeted investment to scale services and recover performance including children and young people's eating disorder services and acute care.
- DHSC to review the evidence for rolling out Mental Health First Aid to those who work in youth clubs, sports clubs and other recreational groups, Churches, and other religious organisations.

Ensure mental health support is a central component of enhanced models of primary care

We need to promote early recognition of poor mental health and help-seeking in the community. This doesn't mean medicalising issues, but it does mean supporting and helping people who are in distress. We must encourage wider conversations in the community about the difference between well-being interventions and mental health/illness.

Primary care teams have an important role to play, and wellbeing services can meet the needs of underserved groups. Evidence-based interventions exist for common mental health problems. However, many people are unable to access effective care because it is not available to them or because interactions with caregivers do not address their needs. Current policy initiatives focus on supply-side factors, with less consideration of demand. It is important to work at all three levels: community, primary care, and well-being services.

The key issues faced in primary care include recognition of mental health problems co-occurring with physical illness; housing; reform of the care system; support for families that are experiencing problems; and reform of the benefits system so that it does not cause as much distress to those with long term health problems – particularly, too frequent reassessment and sanctioning.

The interface between primary and secondary care also remains difficult to negotiate. These problems must be given more attention – there is evidence for models that work more efficiently but they don't get implemented because they require a change in professional roles. The Community Mental Health Framework will help if it is implemented in partnership with primary care, but we are concerned about the roll-out in many places. There needs to be better collaborative working between primary care, mental health services, and the third sector.

We also need to invest in new forms of mental health support as a central component of enhanced models of primary care, so that primary care teams are better equipped to address the wide range of mental health needs in general practice (including among people presenting primarily with physical symptoms), and to address the physical health needs of people with mental health problems. This will need to be done in a way that is aligned with wider efforts to transform primary care to ensure that it is sustainable.

Local integrated care teams can make full use of mental health expertise in supporting people with complex and ongoing care needs, with mental health staff (community psychiatric nurses, nurse therapists and psychologists), including those with expertise in older people's mental health, enabled to input proactively into all case discussions and offer advice and training to the wider team.

We should also recognise that primary and specialist medical and mental care need to work together to provide better primary care to those with mental health problems, which may mean employing GPs within mental health trusts.

There also needs to be more attention paid to how supervision is being provided and clarity over the issue of 'shared care' and 'medical responsibility' which becomes a barrier to collaborative working.

Much of this is about allowing staff time to develop relationships between sectors, organisations, professionals with improved local leadership. The COVID-19 pandemic has placed massive pressure on services and effected rapid change. While much of this is positive, services might need some time and space to take stock, reconnect with the community and staff and aim for excellence again, but this is difficult to do that with high demand.

- NHSE and PCNs to implement the recommendations of the Fuller Stocktake report¹⁸⁵, and specifically relevant to mental health:
 - enable all PCNs to evolve into integrated neighbourhood teams, supporting better continuity and preventive healthcare as well as access, with a blended generalist and specialist workforce drawn from all sectors. Secondary care consultants including psychiatrists, geriatricians, respiratory consultants, paediatricians should be aligned to neighbourhood teams with commitments reflected in job plans, along with members of community and mental health teams. With teams collocated within neighbourhoods, to extend models of personalised care, embed enhanced health in care homes and develop a consistent set of diagnostic tests. At place-level, bring together teams on admissions avoidance, discharge and flow including urgent community response, virtual wards and community mental health crisis teams. Focus on community engagement and outreach, across the life course. Proactively identify and target individuals who can benefit from interventions in neighbourhoods, committing to delivering neighbourhood teams first for Core20PLUS5 populations. Co-ordinate vaccinations, screening and health checks at place level, in accordance with national standards, and
 - o create a clear development plan to support the sustainability of primary care and translate the framework provided by *Next steps for integrated primary care* into reality, across all neighbourhoods. Ensure a particular focus on unwarranted variation in access, experience and outcomes. Ensure understanding of current spending distribution across primary care, compared with the system allocation and health inequalities. Support primary care where it wants to work with other providers at scale, by establishing or joining provider collaboratives, GP federations, supra-PCNs or working with or as part of community mental health and acute providers. Tackle gaps in provision, including where appropriate, commissioning new providers in particular for the least well-served communities.

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure there is adequate access to information across the interfaces between primary, acute and mental health care.
- NHSE to explore the potential for community pharmacists to perform medication reviews for people on longer-term psychotropic medication prescriptions.
- PCNs to accept dual GP registrations for students and work to be able to manage care in a more coordinated way.

Increase access to IAPT services

The IAPT programme continues to expand access for people requiring treatment for anxiety disorders and depression in England.

The NHS LTP includes a target to reach 1.9 million people with anxiety disorders or depression by 2023/24. IAPT services are characterised by:

- evidenced-based psychological therapies: with the therapy delivered by fully trained and accredited practitioners, matched to the mental health problem and its intensity and duration designed to optimise outcomes
- routine outcome monitoring, and
- regular and outcomes-focused supervision so practitioners are supported to continuously improve and deliver high-quality care.

Recommendations

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure everyone with common mental disorders can access psychological therapies each year.
- NHSE and ICSs to expand the choice of therapies available in the IAPT programme for all mental health diagnoses.
- NHSE to review the current exclusion criteria for accessing IAPT services and consider the factors affecting the number of people who do not complete treatment.
- NHSE to develop a strategy to reduce the gap in access between older adults, Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups, students and any other group not currently served well by IAPT services.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure parity of access to IAPT services for older people (who are
 significantly less able to access psychological therapies by dint of frailty and multimorbidity) and
 people with an intellectual disability. Services need to comply with equality legislation by making
 a reasonable adjustment to their services to facilitate people with intellectual disabilities using
 IAPT services.
- NHSE and ICSs to significantly expand IAPT services for people with long term conditions.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure the quality and people's experience of IAPT services continually
 improves. Improving the numbers of people who recover, reducing geographic variation between
 services, and reducing inequalities in access and outcomes for particular population groups are all
 important aspects of the development of IAPT services.

Invest in healthcare roles that support integrated care

There are several roles that benefit the delivery of integrated care, including community connectors, non-medical prescribers, advanced care practitioners, primary mental health care workers, social workers, local authority representatives, mental health practitioners, nurses, healthcare assistants and peer support workers. These types of roles can support holistic patient care, early intervention and enable the right skill mix, ensuring that psychiatrists only see those who need intensive support.

To provide personalised and integrated care to people with mental and physical multimorbidity, roles with skills to detect issues and effectively treat patients across the primary/secondary care interface are required. For example, primary care roles within specialist mental health units, such as physician associates, can provide support with the physical healthcare of mental health patients. We have also heard positive examples of physical health nurses working in EIP teams and social prescribers within community and inpatient mental healthcare.

- NHSE and ICSs to invest in new roles that supported integrated mental and physical healthcare. This should include ensuring that at least 10% of the 1,000 Physician Associates being trained each year work in mental health.
- NHSE to ensure investment in new roles includes funding for the increases required in psychiatric capacity to train and supervise new roles.

5. How can we improve the quality and effectiveness of treatment for mental health conditions?

Reduce inequalities in access, experience, and outcomes in mental health provision

Identifying and reducing inequalities in access, experience and outcomes are essential to the delivery of high-quality mental health care.

Mental health problems disproportionately affect people living in poverty, those who are unemployed, and who already face discrimination. Across England, there are persistent and wide-ranging inequalities for people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds, increasing their likelihood of being disadvantaged across all aspects of society compared to those from other backgrounds. As the Equality and Human Rights Commission highlighted, someone from a Black, Asian and minority ethnic background is more likely to experience poverty, have poorer educational outcomes, be unemployed, and come into contact with the criminal justice system. ¹⁸⁶ These, in turn, are risk factors for developing a mental illness. ¹⁸⁷ These individuals are also less likely to receive care and support when they need it.

Racism and racial discrimination are one of many factors which can have a significant, negative impact on a person's life chances and mental health. The College is particularly concerned about the disproportionate impact on people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities, notably those of Black African and Caribbean heritage.

As the College has previously recognised, patients in the NHS may experience racism and racial discrimination. ¹⁸⁸ ¹⁸⁹ This has also been recognised as a problem in international healthcare systems. ¹⁹⁰ It can lead to substantial disparity in access to and experiences of various areas of psychiatric care, including crisis care ¹⁹¹, admissions ¹⁹², detentions ¹⁹³, pathways into care ¹⁹⁴, readmission ¹⁹⁵ and use of seclusion. ¹⁹⁶ The 2014 Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey ¹⁹⁷ showed that, although Black British adults had the highest mean score for severity of mental health symptoms, they were the least likely to receive treatment for mental illness. Where they do come into contact with services, it is disproportionately based on a detention order requiring them to stay in hospital. ¹⁹⁸

Efforts to tackle this should be urgently prioritised by the Government, non-governmental organisations, and professional bodies.

Within the NHS, the AMHE resource is to ensure that all mental health care, and mental health promotion, is responsive to the strengths and needs of each individual and community's identity and culture. ¹⁹⁹ Not only are there moral, legal, and economic imperatives for advancing equality, but learning and collaborating with all sections of society provides a valuable opportunity to innovate and enhance the way we provide care. Similarly, the Patient and Carer Race Equality Framework (PCREF) plays a vital role in improving access, experience, and outcomes for ethnic minorities. ICSs will play a vital role as driver and facilitator of Advancing Mental Health Equality. ²⁰⁰

Furthermore, ageism and age discrimination are commonplace. Due to unconscious bias and perceptions, older adults can experience discrimination leading to less accurate diagnosis and treatment, which in turn causes harmful consequences. Older people with mental health problems in England often do not receive the same level or quality of mental health care as those of working age, and these services have been excluded from new investment.

Recommendations

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure everyone who uses mental health services has equitable access to
 effective early interventions and equitable experiences of care and outcomes, regardless of age or
 ethnicity.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure there is a year-on-year reduction in the disparities between people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups and the rest of the population, in terms of both numbers of people detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 and the range of appropriate treatments offered including alternatives to detention.
- NHSE and ICSs should expand LGBTQIA+ services as well as outreach services to deprived children, young people and families, hard-to-reach groups and those from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.
- NHSE and ICSs should ensure people at risk of discrimination, and protected groups under the Equalities Act subject to the Mental Health Act have access to an advocate with specialist knowledge of legislation to advocate appropriately for them.
- MoJ should ensure mental health tribunal panels better reflect the communities they work with.
- DHSC to produce a strategy for reducing race inequality in mental health, building on the Race Disparity Audit, including work with schools, the police, youth and community services and mental health services to improve access, outcomes and experiences for people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.
- NHSE, ICSs and mental health providers must develop and monitor data relating to access and
 outcomes for groups of people with protected characteristics, including gender, age, sexuality and
 ethnicity and disability.
- DHSC and NHSE to take forward in full the recommendations of the Women's Mental Health Taskforce.
- NHSE and ICSs should take steps to improve access and outcomes for LGBTQIA+ communities
 and set an expectation that commissioners will recognise the value of specialist LGBTQIA+
 services, commissioning them to meet local needs.
- Government to legislate to extend the definition of disability in the Equality Act to protect people with fluctuating mental health problems.
- ICSs to commission services that use population health data to identify health inequality and have an explicit plan to address this.
- Regular training for all Home Office and healthcare staff on early indicators of mental health conditions and the circumstances in which capacity assessments should be triggered. This should be linked to safeguarding training along with the development of a screening tool for assessment of capacity for all detainees and robust pathways including the provision (in keeping with the conclusions of the Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland, 2018) of appropriate advocacy services for those found to lack mental capacity to make relevant decisions.²⁰¹
- The Home Office to ensure that refugees and migrants with existing mental illness are only be detained in very exceptional circumstances.

Improve people's experience of care when transitioning between services

The NHS LTP included a commitment to a new approach to young adult mental health services for people aged 18-25. Given that between the ages of 16-18, young people are more susceptible to mental illness, it is critical that mental health services create a seamless transition from children and young people's mental health services to appropriate support including adult mental health services and does not create a gap.

The NHS LTP commitment is for service models to create a comprehensive offer for 0–25-year-olds that reaches across mental health services for children, young people, and adults. The new model will

deliver an integrated approach across health, social care, education, and the voluntary sector, such as the evidenced-based 'iThrive' operating model which currently covers around 47% of the 0-18 population and can be expanded to 25-year-olds.²⁰²

It is essential that any development is joined up with improvements to services for infants and children. Increased investment in mental health services will be critical to delivering on the ambitions of the NHS LTP, and system leaders will need to keep a close watch to respond to changes in demand as services are adapted and expanded.

In addition, NHS England is working closely with Universities UK via the Mental Health in Higher Education programme to build the capability and capacity of universities to improve student welfare services and improve access to mental health services for the student population, including focusing on suicide reduction, improving access to psychological therapies and groups of students with particular vulnerabilities.

Recommendations

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that strategic, operational, and clinical leaders need to be given protected
 time to undertake the work required to expand and harmonise services to better meet the needs of
 young adults, which must include proactive efforts to develop a common language to describe
 services and bridge cultural differences across children and young people's and adult services.
- ICSs to ensure that young people and their parents/carers should be at the centre of their transition planning between specialist mental health services and have a role in the wider service development and delivery.
- ICSs to support joint working between leaders of CAMHS, adult mental health services (AMHS), local authority services and third sector organisations to improve the experience for young people of transition between mental health services. Additional funding is likely to be required to meet increased demand and for additional staff to support carefully planned transitions, which should feel virtually seamless for the young person.
- ICSs to ensure that training needs are identified for staff working within CAMHS and AMHS to support developmentally appropriate clinical care for young people. The RCPsych should develop training programmes for psychiatrists to work with 0-5's, under 18's and 18-25's when this is not part of their specialist training.

Make mental health services safer

The Independent Review of the Mental Health Act found that patients in mental health facilities are often placed in some of the worst places in the NHS estate. The Review found that badly designed, dilapidated buildings and poor facilities are not a safe place for staff to work and for patients can contribute to a sense of containment atmosphere and make it hard for effective engagement in therapeutic activities.²⁰³

The CQC's State of Care report on mental health found that many mental health wards are unsafe and provide poor quality care in old and unsuitable buildings. The CQC argues that the design of many of these buildings does not permit staff to observe all areas easily and many wards contained fixtures and fittings that people who are at risk of suicide could use as ligature anchor points.²⁰⁴

NHS Providers' analysis also showed the continued under-prioritisation of investment in the mental health estate is having a demonstrable impact on patients.

The 2019 NHS staff survey (the most recent iteration that included this question) showed that more than one in five workers in mental health trusts witnessed an error, near miss, or incident that could

have hurt a member of staff in the last month. Safety concerns raised by RCPsych members have included a lack of safe places for clinical assessments, a lack of a proper alarm system and unsafe procedures/protections for handling toxic or dangerous products such as used needles.

The CQC also found that sexual safety incidents are common on mental health wards and affect not only service users, but also staff and visitors. Following a review of incident reports on NHS mental health wards over a 3-month period in 2017, they found that 1.6% were related to sexual safety. The National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (NCCMH) developed standards and guidance on improving sexual safety in inpatient environments as part of a Collaborative. Through their work, they identified that mixed-sex accommodation still exists across the country and significant investment and assurances to prevent out-of-area admissions would be required for these to be completely eliminated.²⁰⁵

There are currently many examples of good and outstanding care in mental health settings – but also too much poor care, and variation in quality and access across different services. Of the 50 mental health trusts rated by the CQC as of July 2022, only 40.0% are rated as good on safety (none as outstanding), which is better than the non-specialist acute sector at 23.9%, but also remains well below community trusts (66.7%). ²⁰⁶ The biggest concerns relate to the poor physical environment, restrictive interventions, sexual safety, safe medicines management and low staffing levels. A mere 30.2% of all trusts with acute wards for working-age adults and psychiatric intensive care have secured good or outstanding ratings for the safety of those facilities. Despite this, currently, 80.0% of mental health trusts are rated as good or outstanding for being well-led and 2.0% are rated as inadequate. This compares to the non-specialist acute sector where 61.5% are good or outstanding and 4.1% are rated as inadequate. ²⁰⁷ Building on this foundation, the Government should aim to make mental health services in England among the safest in the world.

Recommendations

- NHSE, ICSs and mental health providers to ensure the average NHS trust score for 'organising care' in the CQC's community mental health survey improves year-on-year, with no trust posting a decline.
- NHSE to re-design what is meant by aftercare, including reforming eligibility criteria to improve
 equity of access and resolving some of the complex arrangements across health and social care,
 especially regarding funding.
- Mental health trusts to ensure all patients in contact with mental health services have a simple goal-orientated care plan as well as a personalised safety plan including an agreed set of activities, strategies, people and organisations to contact for support if they become suicidal.

Learn from deaths

Learning from deaths is an essential part of quality improvement work for organisations. Since 2017, all trusts in England have been required to have a process in place for mortality reviews. This must mean that all deaths are appropriately reviewed to assess if there is potential for organisational learning, the deaths selected for further review have a structured judgment review completed, and the review of deaths is undertaken in the spirit of openness and transparency and organisational learning rather than blame, and the review of deaths will involve families and those close to the deceased where possible. ²⁰⁸

Recommendations

• All NHS trusts to identify deaths that warrant an investigation and put in place a process to learn from them in cases where a patient had been receiving treatment and support for their mental

- illness, with a particular focus on people 'at risk' such as those who are from a Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups.
- NHSE and ICSs to roll out the 'Learning from Deaths' tool produced by the College's Centre for Quality Improvement (CCQI)²⁰⁹, which support trusts to respond to concerns about any aspect of their care; and provides trusts with guidance on using individual reviews to consolidate learning identified using the tool.
- NHSE to commission annual thematic reviews to support implementation of the Tool and learning.

Focus on quality improvement and reduce unwarranted variation

We should utilise quality improvement much more broadly as a mechanism to improve outcomes. The evidence from this approach over recent years is that we have managed to achieve improvements in complex safety issues such as restrictive practice, which would not have been achievable through other routes.

The Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) programme aims to improve the quality of care within the NHS by reducing unwarranted variations, bringing efficiencies, and improving patient outcomes. In mental health, the GIRFT programme is currently looking at adult acute and urgent and emergency care, children and young people's acute and emergency care, and adult rehabilitation and complex care. ²¹⁰

CCQI ²¹¹also works with mental health services to improve the standard of care that people with mental health needs receive. They work with more than 90% of mental health service providers in the UK. One of their main activities is developing service standards and reviewing services against them to help them improve the quality of care they offer. They also accredit services that can demonstrate high levels of compliance with our standards.

They currently run 22 of these projects working with various types of mental health services and over 1,500 services participate. Membership of some of these projects (e.g., forensic, inpatient CAMHS and perinatal) is a requirement of NHSE's commissioning contracts.

We need to utilise the learning from the large-scale quality improvement programmes of recent years to bring together teams across sectors to collaborate and test ideas to improve quality of life.

Areas for future exploration could include the AMHE Collaborative. NCCMH has recently launched a ground-breaking quality collaborative that aims to support mental health providers to advance mental health equality in their local areas, supporting the implementation of the AMHE resource. 212

- NHSE to introduce a new quality commitment to ensure the availability of appropriate, safe and high-quality mental health, learning disability and autism inpatient care (and alternatives to inpatient care) in every system for adults, children and young people.
- NHSE and ICSs to work with Royal Colleges and partners to review and decommission models of inpatient provision which are incompatible with safe, high-quality care and therapeutic outcomes.
- ICSs to address the inequalities in access to local community support which results in marginalised groups being overrepresented in the most restrictive settings and reduce variation in access, experience & outcomes.
- CQC and NHSE to significantly increase and enhance the quality improvement support available to mental health trusts to enhance their safety and quality.

- NHSE to expand the GIRFT programme to cover other mental health services, such as community services for adults and older adults; personality disorders; as well as intellectual disability services.
- CQC to reintroduce an annual national survey of the experiences of mental health inpatient services.
- NHSE to develop a repository of best practice in mental healthcare for ICSs.
- NHSE to commission national clinical audits focused on mental health (to achieve parity with
 physical health services). These could focus on services for infants and their parents or primary
 caregivers, children and young people, working-age adults, older adults, and groups who report
 worse experiences and outcomes from NHS mental health services.
- All mental health services to comply with national quality standards, e.g., via RCPsych quality networks.
- NHSE to improve the quality and completeness of routine data (e.g., mental health services dataset (MHSDS)) for use in national clinical audits, to reduce audit burden.
- NHSE to improve completeness and quality of MHSDS and other basic information on service provision.
- NHSE to reduce unwarranted variation in mental health service provision across the country and utilise quality networks to support this ambition.

Choose interventions wisely and safe prescribing

The Choosing Wisely campaign aims to promote conversations between doctors and patients by helping patients choose care that is supported by evidence, not duplicative of other tests or procedures already received, free from harm and truly necessary.²¹³

The use of medicines for conditions such as anxiety and depression is supported by safe prescribing guidelines that help balance the favourable benefits of lasting symptom management with any side effects and the risk of withdrawal symptoms.

Health Education England (HEE), NHS England and NHS Improvement (now subsumed into one organisation: NHSE), experts by experience and MindEd launched a collection of new co-produced online learning sessions to stop the over-medication of people with learning disability and/or autistic people (STOMP).

The STOMP and STAMP initiatives support people with a learning disability and who are autistic to stay well and have a good quality of life. They aim to promote opportunities for patients, families, and carers to speak up if they feel someone in their care is receiving inappropriate medication.²¹⁴

- NHS healthcare leaders to embed a culture in which patients and clinicians regularly discuss the clinical value and effectiveness of proposed treatments or interventions with the explicit aim of reducing the amount of inappropriate clinical activity.
- NHSE to promote the implementation of safe prescribing and withdrawal management for medicines associated with dependence or withdrawal.
- NHSE to further promote the Stopping over medication of people with a learning disability, autism or both (STOMP) and Supporting Treatment and Appropriate Medication in Paediatrics (STAMP) initiatives across the NHS.

Measure and collect patient outcomes data

The NHS faces a major challenge of delivering good care through the cost-effective use of resources; reducing unwarranted variation in outcomes, quality, and safety; and working to prevent disease. Achieving this 'triple aim' is dependent on breaking the traditional divide between primary care, community services, social care, mental health services and hospitals, and taking full accountability for population health outcomes.²¹⁵ As well as NHS organisations, local authorities and the voluntary sector have a key role in promoting wellbeing and improving mental health in their communities.

A central function of ICSs is to develop an approach to population health management, prevent ill health and address health inequalities. Much of this work will need to be done by using data and analytics to redesign care pathways and measure outcomes with a focus on improving access and health equity for underserved communities.

The College's forthcoming report consolidates a set of outcomes from all specialties in psychiatry. It recommends that the development of outcome measures should²¹⁶:

- focus on what is important to patients and carers
- include measures that are relevant to patients and clinicians
- include measures that are simple and easy to use
- include measures that are clear and unambiguous
- include measures that allow comparisons between teams and services
- include measures that can be validated for the purpose for which they are used
- include IT support that simplifies the data collection and analysis, and ensures maximum use of data already collected
- include data that is checked for reliability
- include data that can be used at the clinical, team and organisational level, and
- give immediate feedback on the data to patients, carers and clinicians so that outcomes can influence the treatment process.

Recommendations

- NHSE and ICSs to prioritise the collection and recording of routine outcomes measures for:
 - o perinatal mental health care
 - o children and young people's mental health care
 - o community mental health care
 - o adult crisis and acute mental health care
 - integrated IAPT service
 - o adult eating disorder services, and
 - tailored outreach and engagement for flu/COVID-19 vaccination and physical health checks.
- ICSs to work with system partners to develop and collect outcome measures in mental health aligned with the College's report.

Make mental health services greener

A sustainable and positive vision of mental health services will require a greater understanding, adoption and integration of preventative principles and interventions. This preventative ethos must be placed at the heart of healthcare.²¹⁷

Detecting and treating illnesses early to halt or slow their progress can reduce relapses and prevent patients deteriorating to the point of needing hospitalisation. This is not only better for people but also more efficient and sustainable.

The NHS is a major contributor to carbon emissions. In England, it accounts for 4–5% of the total²¹⁸. Improving NHS sustainability cannot be achieved merely through rationalising estates, it must involve a more holistic approach to health creation, health protection, and a model of healthcare where prevention is prioritised by services.

The NHS has a target to reach Net Zero by 2045. The NHS LTP set out several environmental and sustainability targets, which are outlined below:

- by 2025, the NHS will reduce our carbon footprint by 51% against 2007 levels, by greening our estates and facilities, including phasing out coal and oil fuel as the primary heating
- by 2023/24, the NHS will cut business mileages and fleet air pollutant emissions by 20%, and
- the NHS will deliver reductions in single-use plastics throughout the NHS supply chain.

NHSE has asked every trust in the country to develop their own roadmap to tackle climate change and meet the NHS's net zero commitments.²¹⁹

Replacing ageing buildings across mental health trusts will help meet these commitments.

Increasing access to green space and trees on NHS sites also provides an opportunity for supporting mental health, improving air quality and social prescribing.

There is also an opportunity for mental health trusts to embed nature within service design, which will have a positive impact on mental and physical health. For instance, the NHS Children's Woodland Retreat in a tree-house style mental health unit for 13–18-year-olds in Bury.²²⁰

Following the UK hosting the 26th UN Climate Change Conference of the Parties (COP26) it is essential that green design, and green estates are prioritised, contributing simultaneously to climate change limitation, and nature-informed approaches to healing and wellbeing.

- NHSE to ensure the NHS reaches carbon net-zero by 2040 and 2045 and this target is central to the commitments in the NHS LTP Refresh.
- DHSC and ICSs to replace ageing buildings across the mental health estate.
- Every NHS health organisation, commissioner and provider to produce a Green Plan and regularly review this.
- NHS providers to develop and implement a biodiversity action plan which examines 'greening (incorporating more environmentally friendly systems) of estates, buildings and care pathways, and establishes links with green care providers.
- NHS providers to establish a natural services network to map all sites in their local area that
 provide opportunities for sustainable interaction with nature and/or activities that preserve the
 natural environment and promote these to mental health services.
- NHS providers to incorporate the goals of Choosing Wisely into daily practice, including:
 - o encouraging doctors to provide patients with resources that increase their understanding about potential environmental harms of biomedical/pharmaceutical interventions and help them understand that doing nothing or fewer interventions can sometimes be the best approach.
 - o encouraging and empowering patients to ask questions such as, "Do I really need this test or procedure? What are the risks? Are there simpler safer options? What happens if I do nothing?"
- ICSs to appoint a social prescribing Lead to oversee all community teams developing a social prescribing function to identify local opportunities for complementary health-improving activities.

- ICSs to expand the NHS sustainability awards. Continue recognising sustainable clinical work across the NHS with consideration towards developing an additional award for the work of mental health services in achieving a high standard of sustainable practice.
- Governing NHS bodies across the UK to jointly develop a minimum set of standards for providers in developing sustainable services and
 - o ICSs to include these minimum standards in their contracts, and
 - O ICSs to develop a sustainable mental health service toolset: provide a working set of standards by which mental health services can develop effective sustainable development plans which reflect the need for estates and clinical staff to work collaboratively when developing and delivering sustainable mental health services.

Invest in the health and wellbeing of NHS and social care staff

At present, members report high workloads, poor work-life balance, and pressures on CPD. This means that older consultants are more likely to retire early due to work-related stress, which has been exacerbated by the pandemic. Across the sector, there has been an increase in the number of doctors taking early retirement, with NHS figures showing that the numbers have tripled in the past decade. ²²¹The Royal College of Psychiatrists 2021 workforce census shows a total of 193 consultants were reported to have retired in England 2020/21, signalling a 49.6% increase from 2016/17²²².

There needs to be significant investment in retention and in mental health support for health and care staff, particularly after the strain put on them during the pandemic. This is needed both as a duty of care towards staff, but also to mitigate the impacts of mental health-related absence, which has consistently been the most reported reason for sickness absence.

Staff are dealing with heavy and unsustainable workloads and face an elevated risk of burnout. Members have reported increased staff absences due to sickness, stress, and low morale. Sustainable recovery planning from the pandemic is essential, as it will not only impact retention but also recruitment. Without further interventions, such as reflective spaces, to support staff, there will be an ongoing impact on workforce supply.

The Royal College of Psychiatrists member survey from September 2020 showed that across the UK, 52.6% of members confirmed their wellbeing had 'significantly suffered' (12.3%) or 'suffered' (40.3%) as a result of COVID-19 and the lockdown, while a mere 11.1% confirmed that it had 'significantly improved (2.9%) or 'improved' (8.2%). These headline percentages compare to 48.6% and 13.1% respectively in our second survey (in the field from 1-6 May) and 54.4% and 10.2% respectively in our third survey (in the field from 18-26 May).

In addition, every quarter, the Royal College of Psychiatrists survey Research Panel members about waiting times, quality, and leadership. Members are also asked how they would rate morale across their multidisciplinary team in the last three months. In March 2022, just 10.1% of panel members in England confirmed that morale had got 'better', meanwhile 20.8% stated it had got 'much worse' and 40.9% 'worse'. 224

The NHS has a package of health and wellbeing support in place for NHS staff which includes access to a 24hr text service, free self-help apps, as well as training, coaching and guidance for teams and leaders and 40 staff mental health and wellbeing hubs in every region of England:

Staff mental health and wellbeing hubs have been set up across the country to provide health and social care colleagues rapid access to assessment and local evidence-based mental health services and support where needed. The hub offer is confidential and free of charge for all health and social care staff in England.

The COVID-19 Mental Health and Wellbeing Recovery Action Plan committed to £30m of funding for mental health hubs, which is equivalent to approximately £30 per NHS staff member. NHS staff have accessed the health and wellbeing offer 750,000 times, which shows that there is demand for these services. A long-term commitment to funding these mental health hubs is required.

- NHSE to further expand staff mental health and wellbeing hubs.
- NHSE and NHS employers to make the protection and promotion of staff wellbeing central to the
 culture of the NHS, through embedding reflective spaces within ICSs and NHS organisations to
 enable staff to recover from the impact of the pandemic and to make routine emotional and
 psychological support for staff moving forward.
- NHSE and NHS employers to review and reduce mandatory training to ensure it is personalised and meaningful. Other activities and policies that do not treat staff as individuals should also be identified and rolled back to relieve them of commitments that are irrelevant to their day-to-day job.

6. How can we support people living with mental health conditions to live well?

Improve the physical health of people with severe mental illnesses and/or intellectual disabilities and autistic people

Improving the physical health of people living with mental illness, intellectual disability and/or autistic people should be an urgent priority.

Poor mental health is associated with other priority public health challenges such as obesity, lack of regular exercise, alcohol and substance use disorders and smoking.²²⁵

People with severe mental illnesses often develop chronic physical health conditions at a younger age than people without SMI – obesity, asthma, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, coronary heart disease, stroke, heart failure and liver disease. They are also much less likely than the wider population to receive an early diagnosis or timely treatment pathway to address these physical health conditions.

Based on data from 2016 to 2018, in England, people with SMI are 4.5 times more likely to die prematurely than those who do not have SMI. This inequality exists across genders but is greater for females. Females with SMI are 4.7 times more likely to die prematurely than females without SMI. There is also significant geographical variation in excess premature mortality with a range between 2.7 to 7 times more likely to die before the age of 75 than adults without SMI. ²²⁶

However, SMI is rarely recorded as an underlying cause of death and indeed, is often not recorded on death certificates even as a contributory cause. It is estimated that for people with SMI, 2 out of 3 deaths are from physical illnesses that can be prevented. ²²⁷

Many of these 'excess' deaths could be prevented or delayed by the more widespread use of evidence-based interventions (e.g., health checks and extended lifestyle support, medicine reviews and community falls prevention).

People who are more vulnerable to developing a severe illness and dying from COVID-19 include older people, people living in more deprived areas, those from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities, and people with some physical health conditions.

The NHS LTP established a commitment for 390,000 people to receive a full annual Physical Health Check, with an expectation for 60% of people on GP Practice SMI registers to receive one. However, in March 2020, the percentage of people who had received a check in the preceding year stood at 36%. This number has fallen further during the COVID-19 pandemic and there needs to be immediate action to address this as part of the NHS recovery plan and then beyond that through this Strategy..

Recommendations

Physical health monitoring and intervention

- NHSE and OHID to reduce premature mortality for those with a mental illness/disorder and for those with intellectual disabilities (through prevention and treatment and promote mental health and well-being) by one-third by 2030.
- NHSE to ensure people on the SMI primary care register and the Learning Disability register receive comprehensive physical health checks and reduce disparities in access between different population groups.

Smoking cessation

A new review conducted by researchers at the University of Bristol has found a causal relationship between smoking and mental illness, particularly schizophrenia. The researchers found that smoking increases the risk of developing schizophrenia by between 53% and 127% and of developing depression by 54% to 132%.

As outlined in the report by ASH and the Royal College of Psychiatrists' PMHIC, we recommend:

- OHID and NHSE to introduce a new Tobacco Control Plan focused on tackling smoking in all people with a mental illness, through targeted investment and effective data monitoring systems, underpinned by targets for reduced smoking prevalence in this population
- OHID and NHSE to promote interventions to prevent smoking uptake and support cessation including:
 - o interventions to prevent smoking tobacco control programmes which include legislative smoking bans, plain packaging and mass media campaigns
 - o interventions to support smoking cessation and reduction through pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions
 - o Implementation of "No smoking" policies in mental health secondary care settings to reduce smoking rates. 228
- NHSE to ensure IAPT services include support for smokers to quit, to improve both mental and physical health outcomes.
- OHID and NHSE to ensure national communications activity on promoting positive mental health should include messages about the benefits of stopping smoking and avoiding starting. Similarly, national 'stop smoking' communications should include information on the benefits to mental health
- ICSs to ensure coproduction with service users locally should be supported to resource peer support workers using quality improvement methodology, to maximise signposting to help and quit rates.
- OHID and NHSE to address major gaps in the data to monitor smoking rates across all populations with a mental health condition, to measure the provision of evidence-based support and the outcome of treatment.

Interventions to reduce alcohol misuse and harmful drinking

- DHSC to introduce public policies that restrict alcohol availability and/or raise taxes on alcohol to reduce drinking.
- NHSE to invest in brief and digital interventions to reduce harmful alcohol consumption through primary care-based brief interventions so that we can reduce alcohol consumption in hazardous and harmful drinkers.
- NHSE to invest in targeted alcohol interventions for people with mental disorder through brief interventions including digital approaches.

Interventions targeting drug misuse

- NHSE to invest in digitally delivered interventions to reduce the use of cannabis.
- NHSE to invest in inventions to prevent drug use among people with a mental disorder and comorbid substance misuse.

Promoting physical activity

- NHSE and OHID to promote physical activity to improved symptoms and outcomes of mental disorders.
- NHSE to invest in weight management interventions.

Prevention of COVID-19 infection and associated mortality

• NHSE to ensure the COVID-19 vaccination programmes considers those with a mental disorder and/or intellectual disability.

Integrate and personalise mental health care for people with long-term conditions

Millions of people in England have at least one long-term condition and the population with multi-morbidities is increasing. Adults and older adults who have multi-morbidities are often not served well by the current healthcare system. This includes those living with substance use disorders, personality disorders, intellectual disabilities, neurodevelopmental disorders, and those in contact with the criminal justice system.

People are also at increased risk of poor mental health when attending physical healthcare providers with symptoms that are never satisfactorily explained by any organic cause, known as medically unexplained symptoms.

NICE guidelines for those conditions (and other physical health problems) include little mention of the provision of psychosocial care and psychiatric input in particular. Instead, NICE tends to simply refer to separate guidance on depression in physical illness. Therefore, there is a risk that the need for adequate psychosocial care is overlooked by commissioners.

In recent years, there has also been a tendency to commission 'one-size fits all' IAPT services that cannot manage people with complex needs and, therefore, to address this, IAPT should be commissioned in conjunction with liaison mental health services.

Whilst there is increasing availability of liaison psychiatry services for emergency departments and for the acute care pathway, the harms described above remain largely unaddressed. Training for all clinicians, plus comprehensive integrated psychological medicine in all clinical pathways, for outpatients and inpatients, in secondary and primary care, could, in time, eliminate these from our clinical landscape.

Providing support to meet the mental health needs of carers (who are often older carers) is especially important for long-term conditions, as well as cancer and cardiovascular and respiratory diseases.

Recommendations

General

- NHSE to develop robust integrated pathways of care for long-term conditions that address psychosocial needs, including the management of co-morbid mental illness. Psychiatric expertise (particularly Old Age psychiatrists) is required for the assessment and management of complex cases and should be built into the pathway.
- NICE to reconsider its current strategy, which separates physical and mental health recommendations in their guidance.

Diabetes

- NHSE to rapidly expand the roll out of integrated psychological therapy services for people with medically unexplained symptoms and long-term physical health conditions as set out in the NHS LTP.
- Healthcare professionals to ensure they screen everyone admitted with acute complications of
 diabetes whose actiology is unclear or not medically explained for mental illness. Staff need to be
 appropriately trained to do this.

- Healthcare professionals to screen all patients prescribed second-generation antipsychotics for diabetes.
- All mental health providers to create a diabetes register, with immediate priority given to units where individuals may have prolonged inpatient admissions, such as secure hospitals.
- All mental health providers to audit current practices in diabetes care and consider:
 - o the implementation of diabetes-related competencies as part of mandatory training with a particular focus on managing and avoiding hypoglycaemia and safe use of insulin
 - o basic skills for staff in the management of diabetes and mental health that are in keeping with their job role to care for patients with comorbidity
 - o awareness of local pathways and policies for contacting diabetes or mental health services, and
 - o if best practice tariff criteria are met for diabetes ketoacidosis and hypoglycaemia and for children and young people with diabetes.

Dementia care

- NHSE to ensure people with dementia receive a timely diagnosis.
- NHSE to ensure people with dementia are offered post-diagnostic treatment and support, which should be NICE-recommended, and the support needs should be outlined in the initial care plan. This care plan should be reviewed within at least 12 months of being agreed upon, then reviewed every 12 months in accordance with changes in the person's needs. Revisions should be jointly developed and agreed upon with the person (and, if applicable, their carer).
- NHSE to ensure carers for people with dementia should also be offered post-diagnostic support and/ or a carer's needs assessment.
- ICSs should assess the different levels of risk of developing dementia as well as specific needs, such as those with early-onset dementia, people from Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds and people with intellectual disabilities and capture this within their Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and local Dementia Needs Assessment.
- NHSE to consider new models to support older people with dementia and mental health issues in the community, moving beyond the model that depends on memory clinics. This might incorporate a model whereby patients remain under the care of an Old Age psychiatrist from diagnosis until death, rather than being discharged back to a GP. This should involve regular check-ups and brief interventions when problems are identified. This aims to improve the quality of care provided, reduce hospital admissions and GP caseloads.

Cardiovascular and respiratory diseases

 NHSE to ensure the commissioning of any new cardiovascular or respiratory disease service must specifically consider the psychological needs of that population from the outset and ensure that appropriately skilled mental health professionals are integrated and supported to function within that service.

Cancer

- NHSE to ensure all patients on a cancer treatment pathway are referred to psychological and mental health support in the community, in a timely manner.
- NHSE to ensure the commissioning of any new cancer service must specifically consider the psychological needs of that population from the outset and that appropriately skilled mental health professionals are integrated and supported to function within that service.
- NHSE to develop robust integrated care pathways for patients with cancer that meet their psychosocial needs, including the management of co-morbid mental illness.
- NHSE to recommend the widespread commissioning of integrated cancer psychological support services in acute trusts and cancer centres, consisting of a stepped-care approach to managing

- psychological distress as per NICE guidance (access to counselling, psychology and liaison psychiatry).
- NHSE to ensure that all GPs are able to refer patients on a cancer treatment pathway to psychological and mental health support in the community, in a timely manner.
- NHSE to commission services which should include primary care advice lines and prescriber support to GPs, led by psychiatrists with cancer care experience.
- NHSE to recommend commissioning of inpatient cancer liaison psychiatry services consisting of at least some dedicated medical and nursing resource, in line with demand.
- NHSE, the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), the Medical Research Council and the Wellcome Trust to liaise with other interested parties such as RCPsych, the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, the Academy of Medical Sciences to significantly improve funding and support to integrated education and research involving cancer and mental health.

Workforce

• NHSE should consider integrated training opportunities and enhanced generalist skills. This should include mental health competencies for 'non-mental health professionals' including nurses, doctors, staff working in acute settings, GPs, advanced care practitioners, pharmacists, and voluntary, community and social enterprise staff (VCSE) staff. It should also include physical health competencies for mental health staff, including psychiatrists, psychologists, and social care staff. NHSE should also consider integrated training opportunities, such as the management of common chronic physical and mental comorbidities such as alcohol and mood disorders and diabetes and depression.

Increase support for carers

Carers can have an important role in supporting a person living with a mental illness and may have mental health problems of their own, such as depression. However, carers can feel excluded by mental health services and poorly supported in their role.

Future strategies need to recognise and value the role of carers and ensure they are fully engaged. The Triangle of Care65 approach has shown considerable promise in ensuring that carers are appropriately involved in decision-making, supported in caring and given help for their wellbeing.

Recommendations

• DHSC to invest in interventions for carers through support, psychoeducation, intent-based interventions, internet-based information and education alongside professional support. It is also important to specifically consider the needs of young carers.

Support people to find and retain meaningful employment

Currently, 300,000 people living with long-term mental health problems lose their jobs each year. This is unacceptable for the patient, carers, and families as well as wider society who no longer can benefit from the productive employment many of these people can undertake. We need to act on this, to support people who can remain in work to continue. The Thriving at Work recommendations need to be implemented as an urgent priority. The proportion of people using specialist mental health services who are in paid work remains small. Many more people would like support with employment.

Addressing patients' occupational, educational, and psychosocial needs is an essential aspect of mental health care. Supporting individuals to work, wherever possible, can positively contribute to the recovery of individuals who have mental health conditions. Therefore, all mental health professionals

should formally consider whether employment is a precipitating and/or maintaining factor in someone's mental health condition and should view being in appropriate work as a key treatment outcome.

Programmes that support people into employment when they want this, on their own terms, should be expanded, and we welcome the commitment in the NHS LTP to increase access to Individual Placement and Support (IPS).

We also need to look beyond secondary mental health services and extend the principles of IPS to mainstream employment service provision. There are pilot projects in some local areas extending and adapting IPS to IAPT and primary care, to addiction services, to armed forces veterans and to people leaving prison.²²⁹

- DWP to work with employers to ensure they support the wellbeing of their staff, including fully implementing the Thriving at Work report. Public sector organisations should be at the forefront of change and make use of their economic power (for example supply chains) to encourage wider uptake. This should take into account the changing nature of work and the recommendations of the Taylor Review.
- DHSC and the DWP to work together to give a guarantee that anyone with a serious mental illness who wants help with employment is able to access IPS.
- DHSC to invest in interventions with a specific focus on work, such as exposure therapy and CBT-based and problem-focused return-to-work programmes.
- DHSC to invest in work-directed intervention to clinical support, telephone or online cognitive behavioural therapy, and structured telephone outreach and care management programmes.
- DWP and DHSC to give workers with mental health problems early access to occupationally
 focused healthcare, which should include helping them to obtain, remain in, or return to,
 appropriate work.
- DWP and DHSC to expand vocational support services in both NHS and community settings for patients with mental health problems to help them remain in, or return to, work.
- DWP to improve access to flexible benefits and sick leave for patients with chronic fluctuating health conditions to help patients remain in, or return to, work.
- DWP to ensure that all employers (including the NHS) recognise the benefits of ensuring that all supervisors, from the most junior upwards, feel confident to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease.
- NHS employers should ensure all healthcare staff understand the close links between someone's state of mental health and their ability to work, which is especially important when providing care for people who work in safety-critical occupations (e.g., vehicle operators, emergency services etc.).
- NHS employers to ensure all healthcare staff provide care in a way that helps patients stay in, or return to, appropriate work.
- NHS employers to ensure all NHS staff understand the key role that occupational health services have in helping to support patients staying in, or returning to, appropriate work.
- NHS employers to ensure, as a priority, that all NHS supervisors, from the most junior upwards, feel confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than disease.
- Mental healthcare professionals to routinely explore a patient's employment history including their current employment status to understand what role it may have played in contributing to their state of mental health.

- Mental healthcare professionals to view it as an important treatment outcome to help patients to obtain, remain in, or return to, appropriate work.
- Mental healthcare professionals to encourage healthcare colleagues to recognise the mental health benefits of being in work and to consider work as a key treatment outcome for any care provided.
- Mental healthcare professionals to advocate for their patients by appropriately communicating
 with employers and occupational health providers to challenge any discrimination or stigma that
 exists about mental health, with the aim of helping their patients remain in, or return to,
 appropriate work.
- All employers to ensure that those in supervisory positions, from the most junior upwards, feel
 confident enough to identify potential mental health difficulties in their staff and to speak with
 them about such difficulties using an approach to wellness that focuses on health rather than
 disease.
- All employers to adopt policies and practices which support people who develop mental health conditions to remain in, or return to, appropriate full- or part-time work.
- All employers to recognise the value of occupationally focused mental healthcare in helping their staff remain in, or return to, appropriate work.

Improve the welfare system

Social security benefits play an important role in enabling people with a range of mental health problems to live well. For many, these entitlements provide an important safety net during times of ill health and offset the extra costs of living with a disability. Yet we know that people with mental health problems struggle to receive the benefits they are entitled to and have poor experiences of the system, including the inappropriate use of sanctions. This inevitably creates a significant barrier to their recovery.

The system for assessing benefit entitlements must ensure that people are accurately and honestly assessed. It must also ensure the impact of individual health problems is understood and that assessments achieve the right results the first time, without needing to be reviewed.

Recommendation

• DWP to ensure Universal Credit is rolled out in a way that enables and supports anyone with a mental health problem and publish transparent data to demonstrate this.

Support people with problem debt

Problem debt is closely associated with poor mental health. Difficulties managing personal finances can trigger relapses in people with mental health problems. For some people having a mental health problem can lead to financial difficulty.

People with problematic debts have half the recovery rates in IAPT of those without.²³⁰ Routine screening for financial difficulty and high-quality advice on debt, finance and associated issues is likely to be highly cost-effective for the NHS and could significantly reduce the risk of homelessness among people with mental health problems.

Recommendations

NHSE and ICSs to consider how best they can identify and support service users experiencing
financial difficulty, and wherever possible ensure people have access to high-quality housing,
debt and financial advice.

Support people to access safe housing

Having somewhere safe, stable, and secure to live is essential for good mental and physical health. For too many people, housing insecurity and poor mental health reinforce one another. Insecure tenancies, the risk or experience of homelessness and poor-quality housing, can all affect mental health.

Securing the housing rights of people with mental health problems is an essential cornerstone of a fair society. It can also increase the efficiency of mental health services and reduce the use of inappropriate out-of-area placements.

- DHSC and NHSE to develop a long-term plan for ICSs and local authorities to prioritise stepdown housing with adequate funding for people who require transitional accommodation and support to live independently.
- DHSC and DLUHC to reform the social housing system so that it better meets the needs of people with mental health problems and adopt a sustainable funding model for supported housing to ensure everyone who needs supported housing is able to access it.
- HM Treasury, DHSC and DLUHC to agree a new long-term funding settlement for social care to complement improvements in mental health services support.

7. How can we improve support for people in crisis?

Expand access to mental health services

If the UK is to meet the UN SDG target of achieving universal coverage, we must significantly increase access to mental health services.

Recommendations

Increase access to perinatal and infant mental health services

- NHSE and ICSs to increase access to Infant Mental Health Services.
- NHSE and ICSs to increase access to Community Perinatal Mental Health Services for women in the perinatal period and increase the paternal mental health support available.
- NHSE and ICSs to increase access to evidence-based specialist mental health care for women with a severe mental illness during the perinatal period.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure Community Perinatal Mental Health Services include access to psychological therapies and the right range of specialist community or inpatient care so that comprehensive, high-quality services are in place across England.

Increase access to children and young people's mental health services

- NHSE and ICSs to increase access to integrated treatment and support, through IAPT, Mental Health Support Teams in schools, and CAMHS with appropriate waiting times for children and young people.
- NHSE and ICSs to develop an equivalent model for Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams for children and young people, which should be multi-agency (including social workers) and adapted to meet the needs of children and young people.
- NHSE and ICSs to introduce a 4–6 week waiting time standard for access to specialist NHS children and young people's mental health services, building on the expansion of specialist NHS services already underway.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure there are developmentally informed services for children and young people up until the age of 25 years, and this should be appropriately resourced between child and adolescent and adult mental health services.

Increase access to primary mental health care services

- Primary care providers to roll out suicide skills training for primary care professionals, such as STORM training.
- NHSE and ICSs to empower and support primary care leaders to collaborate with mental health leaders involved in the design and implementation of the Community Mental Health Framework.
- PCNs, ICSs and NHSE to make pathways to primary mental health care fairer for groups of people who face additional barriers and/or struggle to access services through the traditional primary care route.
- All primary care providers to have a specific mental health care pathway that covers the lifespan of people with intellectual disabilities, autistic people, or both.
- All primary care providers to hold registers for people with intellectual disability and autistic people.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that information resources about various care pathways are accessible for those with Intellectual Disabilities so that patients can understand and participate in their treatment pathway.

Increase access to community mental health services for adults and older adults

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure community mental health services meet a defined set of recommended NICE guidelines and more staff are able to give continuity of support to a larger number of patients with SMI to prevent relapse, hospitalisation and the use of the Mental Health Act 1983.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure community Rehabilitation and Recovery teams are available in every mental health trust with an appropriate number of inpatient beds to avoid the use of 'locked rehab' units.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure all settings in which older people with a mental illness are resident have easy access to a mental health support team that includes the services of a specialist in old age psychiatry.
- NHSE and ICSs to increase the number of people who can benefit from a personal health budget.

<u>Increase access to community services for children and adults with an intellectual disability and/or autistic people</u>

- NHSE and ICSs to significantly reduce the reliance on inpatient services for people with an intellectual disability and/or autistic people.
- NHSE and ICSs to significantly enhance community services for adults and children with an intellectual disability and/or autistic people.

Increase access to mental health crisis services

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that people experiencing a first episode of psychosis start treatment with a NICE-recommended package of care with a specialist Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) service within two weeks of referral.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that all specialist EIP provision is graded at level 4, in line with NICE recommendations.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure 24/7 crisis and liaison pathways for all ages are implemented. Crisis resolution and home treatment teams should incorporate a model specifically to meet the different needs and risks of older adults (particularly in relation to co-morbid physical health issues). These teams should also be adequately resourced to offer intensive home treatment as an alternative to an acute inpatient admission.
- ICSs should monitor and respond to demand and capacity within mental health services.

Increase access to mental health inpatient services and alternatives

- NHSE and ICSs to introduce a new standard so that patients should expect to wait a maximum of four hours for admission to an acute psychiatric ward or acceptance for home-based treatment following assessment, for those who need it.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that 85% bed occupancy rates in mental health trusts are consistently achieved
- NHSE and ICSs to reduce delayed discharges/delayed transfers of care for patients in mental health inpatient settings.
- NHSE and ICSs to invest in supported housing and other accommodation-based support.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that NHS mental health trusts eliminate both inappropriate external and internal (within the home provider) out-of-area placements.
- NHSE and ICSs to invest, in the short-term, in additional adult acute inpatient beds for areas with consistently high rates of inappropriate out-of-area placements and/or persistently high bed occupancy rates.
- DHSC, NHSE and ICSs to fund and procure age-appropriate alternative forms of mental health crisis provision. This should be extended to include children and young people and older adults and should not be limited to care homes in the case of the latter.
- NHSE and ICSs to collect data on the availability of crisis alternatives, including activity, workforce, finance, and outcome metrics.

- NHSE and ICSs to work with local authorities and partners to provide better support for people in crisis that is not deemed to be a mental health crisis. This needs to be a non-clinical response to meet people's needs, which might be related to housing, addiction, or relationship difficulties, to name but a few. An example of this support is Distress Brief Intervention (DBI) in Scotland. DBI consists of two parts, with part one seeing trained frontline health, police, paramedic and primary care staff help ease any individual. They then ask the person if they would like further support and, if they agree, they are referred to the DBI service with a promise of contact within the next 24 hours to start providing further face-to-face support. Part two is provided by commissioned and trained third sector staff who contact the person within 24 hours of referral and provide community-based problem-solving support, wellness and distress management planning, supported connections and signposting.
- NHSE and ICSs to substantially increase the availability of psychological therapies accessible in secondary, tertiary care and specialist settings. For children and young people with more complex issues, they should access more specialised therapies if first and second line IAPT treatments have failed.

Increase access to specialist mental health teams

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that adults with an eating disorder who require urgent treatment start
 this within one week. For adults with an eating disorder requiring routine treatment, this should
 start within four weeks.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that there is a dedicated community eating disorders service, which is
 integrated with medical care and supports a seamless transition from children and young people's
 services to adult care and from inpatient care to reduce the length of stay.
- NHSE to provide targeted funding to support provider collaboratives in developing and trialling integrated specialist pathways which offer more personalised care for patients who are acutely unwell.
- NHSE and ICSs to promote the implementation of the Medical Emergencies in Eating Disorders (MEED) guidelines.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that people with complex mental health problems, including personality disorders, have greater access to a range of evidence-based psychotherapies tailored to their needs.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that the principles of reflective, psychologically minded practice and enabling environments underpin training of professionals and delivery of integrated models of care in community and inpatient settings across physical, mental health and social care.
- NHSE to ensure that every ICS has NHS specialist addictions services led by appropriately trained and experienced addiction psychiatrists. This should include adequate provision for children and young people and older adults experiencing addictions.
- NHSE to ensure that more veterans are able to access NHS mental health services (Transition,
 Intervention and Liaison Service (TILS) and Complex Treatment Service (CTS)) with an initial
 face-to-face assessment within 2 weeks and a first clinical appointment, where appropriate, two
 weeks thereafter. There should also be a greater focus on increasing services available to female
 veterans.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that there is an explicit provision in each locality for those with autism.
 This should extend beyond the diagnostic process, to provide services for the treatment of their
 co-occurring mental and physical disorders and include the coherent involvement of the wide
 range of agencies and services that can benefit the individual.

Increase access to secure services and offender healthcare

NHSE and ICSs to ensure that Liaison and Diversion services provide a multi-agency assessment
and referral service within police custody and the courts across England hold cases in the shortterm to prevent people from falling through the net.

- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that solitary confinement (defined as more than 22 hours in segregation without meaningful human contact) is banned immediately for children and young people in the youth justice system.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that Community Sentence Treatment Requirements is significantly expanded as proposed in the Government White Paper on a Smarter Approach to Sentencing. This will allow for those with more severe mental illnesses to benefit from community sentences.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that adults receive dedicated mental health screening within 24–48 hours after entering prison and 70% of people who need treatment or support are followed up within a month.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that there is a minimum ratio of prison officers to prisoners to increase
 basic safety, protect from dangerous, mind-altering drugs and increase access to mental health
 services in prison. NHSE and ICSs should also conduct an urgent assessment of how to better
 attract and retain a prison mental health workforce, including forensic psychiatrists, to deliver
 mental health care.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that all young people identified as 'in need' by youth justice liaison and diversion workers have an appropriate service they can be referred to.
- DHSC and the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) to reform the criminal justice system to make prisons safer and divert more people to community options.
- MoJ to conduct a detailed assessment on the impact of changes to Legal Aid on people with mental health problems and ensure improved and fair access to adequate legal advice and support.

Introduce new waiting time standards in mental health

It is widely recognised that having clear standards can facilitate service improvement through enhancing patient experience and driving up health outcomes. For example, standards introduced in 2015 set out waiting times for children and young people's eating disorder services and have proven to be an essential tool to drive service improvements. However, similar standards have been lacking in relation to adult services.

Under the new waiting time standards which are to be introduced by NHSE, subject to agreement of funding and an implementation plan with DHSC, it is intended that patients presenting to community-based mental health services – including those with eating disorders – will start to receive help within four weeks of referral. Given what we know about the importance of early intervention in improving long term outcomes in people with eating disorders, this standard is welcome.

While the proposed introduction of new access standards in mental health is a welcome step towards parity of esteem, they will not in and of themselves be able to drive dramatic improvements in performance. There are obvious deliverability concerns, particularly in relation to the workforce being in place to implement such drastic service improvements within clear timeframes. A long-term plan for growing the workforce is a necessary prerequisite to implementation of the new standards.

In light of the disproportionate impact of the pandemic on eating disorder presentations, we also know that the current NHS LTP funding profile will be insufficient to drive the kind of service improvements that patients need. Moreover, given that there has been no cost estimate for implementing the NICE eating disorder guidance, there is a significant risk that this will continue not to be implemented in full, given resource constraints.

Experience from the implementation of the children and young people's eating disorder standards and pathway guidance highlights the importance of ambitious but achievable targets, and effective and transparent data collection. Perhaps most importantly, however, the 2014 commitment to invest an additional £30 million (that has been increased to £52 million) in recurrent funding supercharged performance of children and young people's eating disorder services in England. Additional, targeted

investment would almost certainly prove transformative and ensure adult eating disorder services are able to mirror improvements seen in under-19s services prior to the pandemic.

Recommendation

- NHSE to develop a clear implementation plan for new mental health access standards (developed through the Clinically-led Review of NHS Standards), which is ambitious but achievable, and provide specific funding to enable specialist eating disorder services to meet these new targets.
- NHSE to introduce new waiting time standards for other areas of mental health provision, including:
 - o perinatal mental health services
 - o children and young people's mental health services (not including eating disorders)
 - o adult crisis and acute mental health care
 - o adults who receive mental health treatment following a referral for mental health support from learning disability and autism services
 - children and young people who receive mental health treatment following a referral for mental health support from learning disability and autism services
 - o adult eating disorder services, and
 - o integrated IAPT services.

Improve the urgent and emergency care pathway for those with a mental illness

NHS 111 and the 999 services have traditionally not served people with a mental illness very well, with many being told to go to A&E as call handlers did not know what else to advise. There is much greater local variation in mental health care than there is for any other part of the healthcare system. NHS 111 handlers did not have a good working knowledge of how every local area's mental health services operate and the different pathways in crisis, community, and acute care.

At the time of the COVID-19 pandemic, more than half of mental health trusts did not have a public-facing 24/7 telephone number for access to urgent mental health support. Of those that did, some had a number that was difficult for the public to find, and several websites were directing people to A&E and 999 as the local default option for urgent mental health support.

NHS 111

The NHS LTP sets out plans to ensure that by 2023/24, anyone seeking urgent mental health support should be able to do so via 111. In most areas, it is expected that a patient with a primary mental health need will be put through to a mental health nurse or straight through to the mental health crisis line commissioned by their local area.

The Clinical Assessment Service is a central component of this, offering patients access to clinicians – both experienced generalists and specialists. When a call is routed directly to a dedicated resource, if the call is not answered, the call must be routed back into the NHS 111 service.

The 111 service no longer reports data relating to mental illness. Therefore, it is unclear how well it serves this population and whether it maximises the opportunity to intervene at the earliest point. We do not know how many people are calling 111 with a mental health problem, or how many calls are routed to a local crisis line (or, of those, how many are successfully transferred and how many people get through to a mental health nurse).

24/7 urgent NHS mental health telephone support, advice, and triage services

In May 2020, NHSE reported mental health telephone support, advice and triage services had been set up in every part of the country. These services have been a lifeline for many patients, but they are not

always well linked with the NHS 111 service. They are also not yet operating the full service envisaged in the NHS LTP.

999 service

When a person is experiencing a mental health crisis, they or their family, friends or a member of the public might seek help via 999. Depending on the circumstances, this can lead to a response from the police or ambulance service.

The Independent Review of the Mental Health Act found that a large proportion of first-line responses to people in mental health crisis come from police officers, who were often found to act with kindness and compassion. However, if the police detain a person under section 136, they may be taken to hospital in a police vehicle. The Review heard from many service users how demeaning and distressing this can be. There is clear guidance in the Code of Practice that ambulance vehicles are the preferred method of conveyance and should be made available in a timely manner when it is needed. But given the existing constraints on ambulance services, a timely response is not always possible.

There are a limited number of mental health transport vehicles, which leads to delays in the safe and timely transport of patients between acute and mental health hospital sites. This has been highlighted further during the pandemic with the establishment of many standalone 'mental health A&Es' and new diversion pathways.

Mental health professionals are also needed in ambulance and police control rooms and to be deployed to provide an 'on-the-scene' response. This is part of the commitments in the NHS LTP to be achieved by 2023/24. However, we understand this work has been delayed because of the pandemic, and the complex ambulance commissioning structures appear to be a barrier to implementation. The 999 service also needs to be properly linked with the new crisis lines for every area, allowing 999 call handlers to transfer patient calls to the local crisis line where appropriate. Call handlers on the crisis line also need to be able to access the new mental health transport vehicles.

Liaison mental health services

It is crucial that when people attend A&E, it is equipped to meet their mental as well as physical needs.

- NHSE and ICSs to expedite work already underway to connect Integrated Urgent Care services to 24/7 mental health crisis services in each locality.
- NHSE and ICSs to increase the number of mental health specialists working in the 111 service and ensure call handlers are trained so that they are better able to triage and direct patients to the appropriate 24/7 urgent NHS mental health telephone support services for their area.
- NHSE and ICSs to routinely collect standardised data on mental health-related calls handled by the 111 service, including age and gender, and the outcome.
- NHSE and ICSs to review the implementation of NHS mental health telephone support, advice, and triage services and expedite the further improvements needed identified through this exercise. Any review should consider the extent to which:
 - o the service has integrated with Integrated Urgent Care Services and NHS 111 successfully
 - o the full crisis pathway has been mapped in each local area
 - o the services are providing an age-appropriate response
 - o the services are ensuring equity in access to those with mental health needs and co-occurring conditions such as learning disability or autism, and
 - o other agencies such as police, ambulance and local authorities can access advice and support.

- NHSE and ICSs to invest in bespoke mental health crisis vehicles to reduce inappropriate ambulance or police conveyance to A&E. This will reduce pressure on ambulance fleets and provide a safe and appropriate alternative to full-size ambulance vehicles.
- NHSE and ICSs to create new joined-up functions between mental health services, ambulance services and other urgent and emergency care services, and significantly expand the education and mental health training of the paramedic and wider ambulance workforce.
- NHSE and ICSs to expedite plans already in place to put mental health professionals in ambulance and police control rooms and to be deployed to provide 'on-the-scene' responses.
- ICSs to work in partnership with young people to design services they find welcoming, non-stigmatising and helpful.
- NHSE to ensure the forthcoming urgent and emergency care strategy includes mental health.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that acute hospitals and/or paediatric departments provide access to a Core24 liaison psychiatry service for everyone who needs it. These teams should include psychiatrists with expertise in older adults.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that integrated inpatient and outpatient services include liaison psychiatry to meet the needs of patients with more complex problems.
- DHSC to invest capital funding to develop age-appropriate assessment spaces in A&E and acute hospitals for people with mental health/learning disability needs.
- DHSC to ensure that, within the existing Health Infrastructure Plan or where investment is being made for a new or upgraded acute hospital, plans include sufficient space for integrated mental and physical healthcare (liaison mental health services) to be delivered.

Implement the Mental Health Act Reform Bill

In July 2022, the Government published the Draft Mental Health Act Bill which set out proposed changes to reform the Act²³¹. The College broadly welcomes the proposed reforms. They provide an opportunity to modernise mental health law, tackle racial disparities, and improve support for people in a mental health crisis. However, the proposed reforms will result in significant changes to the way psychiatrists work and will place more demands on their time.

Key changes include:

- removing Learning Disability and Autism from the civil parts of the Act, retaining them for criminal patients
- placing Care (Education) and Treatment Reviews on a statutory footing and risk register to help manage this transition
- detention criteria amended in the civil parts of the Act so people can only be detained if "serious harm may be caused to the health or safety of the patient or of another person" and secondly that the decision maker must consider "the nature, degree and likelihood of the harm, and how soon it would occur"
- detention criteria amended in both civil and criminal parts of the Act so that treatment provides a therapeutic benefit
- additional safeguards around the administration of urgent electro-convulsive therapy.
- the replacement of Nearest Relative with a Nominated Person
- shortening of periods for automatic referrals to tribunals
- introduction of Conditional Discharge where restricted patients can be subject to
 conditions when discharged by the Mental Health Tribunal (MHT) or the Secretary of
 State if they no longer require detention for treatment in hospital, but there are continuing
 risks that cannot otherwise be safely managed in the community

- introduction of a statutory 28-day time limit within which individuals with a severe mental health need must be transferred from prison to hospital for treatment under the Act.
- changes to Advocacy in England to extend the right to Independent Mental Health Advocate (IMHA) services to voluntary patients in England, which is already the case in Wales
- extension of MHT's power to recommend to the local social services authority and ICS that they make plans for the provision of after-care services for the patient.
- removal of police stations and prisons as places of safety, and
- advance Choice Documents are to be introduced, but due to legal reasonings in connection to the Mental Capacity Act reforms, they have not been included in the Draft Bill.

Due to workforce shortages and slower than needed increases in particular parts of the psychiatric workforce, many of these changes to the MHA cannot be absorbed within the existing workforce.

In light of these concerns, and to support policy makers prepare for successful implementation of the reforms, the College commissioned The Strategy Unit to provide an independent assessment of the impact of the proposed changes on the psychiatric workforce.

This was with the aim of better understanding how many additional psychiatrists would be required to deliver the reforms in the proposed year of implementation, and 10 years later.

The research found:

- By 2023/24, an additional 333 Full-Time Equivalent psychiatrists will be needed, costing £40m per year by 2023/24.
- By 2033/34, a further 161 Full-Time Equivalent psychiatrists will be needed, costing £60m per year by 2033/34, at current prices (including £40m cited to 2023/24).

These numbers relate only to the impact of the proposed reforms from the White Paper, and the amended draft Bill and different timeframes mean these numbers will differ.

It is imperative that any numbers are interpreted as being in addition to those required to deliver NHS LTP commitments, meet increased demand for mental health services, fill existing vacancies within services, and replace those leaving the profession.

Recommendations

- DHSC, OGDs and NHSE to implement the Mental Health Act Reform Bill, supported by adequate revenue and capital investment, including in workforce training and development.
- DHSC to ensure that investment is accompanied by a workforce plan to ensure the required workforce is in place at the time of implementation. Without requisite investment in the workforce, we would recommend that the timeframes for implementation be revised.
- Invest capital funding to improve digital technology within mental health trusts including the digitisation of the MHA.

Commit to preventing suicide and provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide

There were 4,912 registrations of people who took their own life in England in 2020, a 7.6% reduction compared to 2019. The standardised rate also declined by 7.4% (from 10.8 to 10.0 per 100,000) in comparison to the previous year. Around three-quarters of all suicides registered in 2020 in England were male.²³²

In 2017, DHSC, Public Health England (PHE) and NHSE asked all local areas to have multi-agency suicide prevention plans in place by 2017, contributing to a 10% reduction in suicide nationally. These plans set out targeted actions in line with the National Suicide Prevention Strategy and new evidence around suicide and include a strong focus on primary care and substance use disorders.

However, even now, there is limited evidence on intervention to reduce national suicide rates, except for reducing access to means of suicide, and the emphasis on this can increases stress and a sense of failure. It is, therefore, essential that we focus on deepening our understanding through research and data collection, trying to get to grips with the nature of suicide, and reducing distress in high-risk groups, including those left behind. Suicide is acting out distress that cannot be put into words.

Our 2020 College report on self-harm and suicide in adults highlights studies that show there seems to be an association between suicidal ideation/action and accessing relevant content online, particularly for young people.²³³ There are some suggestions that it may be associated with more violent methods of self-harm.

We know that maternal suicide remains the leading cause of direct deaths occurring within a year after the end of pregnancy²³⁴. Identification, assessment, and support for mothers' mental health are critically important in preventing suicide. The MBBRACE reports have made important recommendations that can help to reduce maternal suicide.²³⁵

- NHSE and ICSs to provide better information, resources, and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide as over 20% of the Coroners Preventing Future Deaths reports each year are about poor communication with families.
- All healthcare providers to employ Family Liaison officers (FLO).
- All healthcare providers to have training on working with families (e.g., making families count).
- NHSE and ICSs to support family bereavement services in all areas of the country.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every mental health provider has a pastoral Suicide Lead.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every healthcare provider enables reflective practice for all staff in all health organisations, including specific groups to process the impact of patient suicide.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every healthcare provider provides resources and support for patients bereaved by peer suicide.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that every healthcare provider improves learning systems after a death.
- NHSE and ICSs to ensure that healthcare providers move away from Risk Assessment tools, as they are ineffective and not recommended by NICE and the National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health (NCISH). As it is not possible to accurately predict the suicide of a given person at a particular point in time, healthcare professionals should offer a compassionate and therapeutic assessment, undertake a personalised risk assessment (to identify risks, not to predict suicide but to intervene), identify needs and collaboratively develop a risk mitigation plan, and coproduce a Safety Plan.
- NHSE and ICSs to prioritise reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk drawing on the examples of tailored services providing intervention after presentation e.g., ASSIST, Distress Brief Intervention, and brief interventions in repeated self-harm (BIRSH).
- NHSE and ICSs to move away from culture of inclusion and exclusion as many statutory services specifically exclude people from care based on being high-risk or complex.
- NHS providers to develop spaces to reflect on inequality and prejudice that will lead to action.
- Healthcare professionals to be aware of the impact of stigma and negative attitudes that, although often unconscious, are detrimental to patients and their carers.
- NHS providers to support research, data collection and monitoring and ensure real-time data
 collection is supported by adequate funding for academics to analyse it to gain a greater insight
 into the aetiological factors of suicide.

- NHSE to extend rapid surveillance data which is gathered about child deaths to move to above 18 years, to capture university students and extend OHID funding to cover all ages.
- OHID and OGDs to reduce access to the means of suicide as a public health intervention.
- The Department for Culture, Media, and Sport (DCMS) to ensure the media maximises its role in prevention by reporting suicide responsibly.
- DHSC and Defra to review and act on the recommendations of the forthcoming report from the EFRA Select Committee inquiry into rural mental health and suicide.
- DHSC to expand suicide training for all frontline staff who look after children and young people, such as teachers and GPs. et
- DHSC and NHSE to expand the Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) program to include autistic people who do not have a learning disability.
- DHSC and NHSE to support the timely adoption of MBBRACE report recommendations across the country.

8. Cross-cutting enablers

a. Implement the NHS LTP in full by 2028/29 with the restoration of all existing service trajectories

The mental health consequences of COVID-19 are widely acknowledged and reflected in service level data. We are facing not just a backlog of existing patients who did not access care during the peak of the pandemic, but also an increase in the number of patients requiring care. Both groups are now presenting with greater acuity and complexity.

Eating disorder services for children and young people have seen particularly significant rises. Access and waiting time standards for children and young people's eating disorder services state that 95% of children and young people who are referred should receive NICE-approved treatment within 1 week for urgent and 4 weeks for non-urgent cases. There has been a marked decline in performance against this target during the pandemic. In the period between April and June 2021, only 61.0% of urgent cases commenced treatment within one week, compared with 87.8% in the corresponding period in 2020/21 when performance was at its best level to date.²³⁶

After briefly returning to closer to pre-pandemic levels in January and February of this year, referrals to children and young people's mental health services (0–18-year-olds) have once again seen very significant increases in April (85% up on April 2019), May (99% up on May 2019) and June (102% up on June 2019). Over the last six months of 2020/21, there were 59% more such referrals compared to same period in 2019/20 (332,293 compared to 209,291).²³⁷ Due to the huge rise in referrals, a reduced proportion of children and young people are starting treatment, and more are on waiting lists.

In relation to adult secondary mental health services, 153,000 over-18s are estimated to have missed out on referral to adult secondary mental health treatment in 2020/21 (based on year-on-year trends) without even taking into account the likely increase in need because of the pandemic.

Unmet need in one part of the mental health system is undoubtedly going to put pressure on other areas. In the forthcoming NHS LTP Refresh publication, we would expect to see the majority of access and waiting time trajectories remaining deliverable within the existing timeline. For any targets that are unachievable within the current timeframes, we want to emphasise the importance of ICSs continuing to invest and prioritise mental health spending despite wider system pressures.

- NHSE and DHSC to commit to restoration of services to trajectories as outlined in the NHSE Mental Health Implementation Plan by 2023/24-2024/25.
- NHSE and DHSC to review the continuing demand for mental health services arising from COVID-19 pandemic and allocate sufficient funding for recovery that is equitable to the elective recovery programme.
- NHSE and DHSC to publish interim in-year targets for the NHS LTP mental health programme so the public can see that ICSs are on track to deliver.

b. Ensure ICSs are setup to improve the mental health and wellbeing of their population

From July 2022 ICSs became the new intermediate tier for the health system in England with four broad aims:

- improving the outcomes in population health and health care
- tackling inequalities in outcomes, experiences and accessing services
- enhancing productivity and value for money, and
- helping the NHS support broader social and economic development.

Each ICS includes an Integrated Care Board (ICB), responsible for developing a plan for meeting the health needs of the population. For ICS/ICBs to be truly successful, they need to embrace the key elements of partnership working, including openness and shared goals and values between all parties involved.

Many ICBs are further developing the Mental Health Provider Collaborative model locally, which supports transformation at scale on behalf of the ICB. It is great to see such innovative developments taking place locally, especially the increased focus on Third Sector partners, patients and families and Local Authorities.

ICSs need to drive a coordinated public mental health approach across all parts of the system, many of which incur the costs and consequences of poor mental health, correcting the current tendency to let mental health problems develop before treating them, with the human and financial costs this entails. Part of delivering a public mental health approach will also be making sure that systems understand their place in the wider community. ICSs will exist within a wider and more complicated ecosystem of political, social, and commercial entities. Systems need to understand how they can take their place in the communities they serve, involving partners who may be entirely outside the health system in order to improve their populations' mental health.

The biggest challenge to maximising the role of the health and care workforce in providing integrated care is inadequate workforce supply. While it is welcome that ICBs are being given more responsibility to develop system-wide plans to address current and future workforce supply locally, and to undertake supply/demand planning based on population health needs, ICBs do not have access to the levers that government has and are required to take action to fill staffing gaps, such as increasing training places or changing immigration policies. ICBs alone cannot ensure the delivery of effective national workforce planning.

Furthermore, integration and increased working across boundaries have the potential to impact on workforce supply by increasing career mobility and in theory, could see increased workforce supplies in certain areas of the healthcare system to the detriment of areas already struggling. Integration will, therefore, require action to combat variation in the availability of resources and ensure all local areas have a sufficient workforce to deliver high-quality care. At a regional level, there are differences in the numbers of psychiatrists working at various grades, with some members reporting that in some locations we are already below the number of psychiatrists required to run safe services. While it is positive that the role of workforce planning at ICS and local levels is being strengthened, we consider it imperative to strengthen the role of workforce planning at a national level to tackle historical and persistent speciality and geographical shortages.

In addition to workforce system thinking, clear pathways of care need to be established with a well-defined understanding of who delivers what and how this can be maximised to ensure effective delivery of services and therefore support all, especially people in crisis. The formation of ICS/ ICB allows the pathway to be place-based – i.e., no firm boundaries – and ensures a pathway of care that is meaningful to the local people. For individuals with mental health needs, learning disabilities and

autistic people, this offers an opportunity for care and support to be more joined-up where partnerships between the NHS, Local Authorities, Third Sector and patients and families are strengthened.

Recommendations

- ICSs to have Mental Health reflected as a top priority with the full programme delivery supported and tracked at ICS board level.
- ICSs to have a credible workforce plan to demonstrate how they will be meeting the mental health priorities of the local population.
- ICSs to ensure that senior mental health leadership will be a core component of all place-based planning.
- ICSs to ensure that Integrated Care Strategies drive a coordinated public mental health approach across all parts of the system. Guidance should be clear on how the system itself can be designed to prevent poor mental health and support good mental health.
- ICS leaders to develop a system-wide outcomes framework, including mental health and wellbeing outcomes, which defines the partners' collective ambition for improving outcomes for people living in the area, which should be then used to monitor performance against the outcomes framework annually.
- Mental health leadership at ICS level must always include people who use services.
- ICSs exceeding core expectations should work with those who are struggling through a peer-learning approach.
- NHSE should systematically capture and share learning from areas that are furthest ahead.
- NHSE to review each ICBs five-year systems plan annually to be assured that:
 - o it meets the ambition set out by their ICS
 - o has a clear plan to improve mental health and wellbeing outcomes in population health and healthcare
 - o tackles inequalities in mental health and wellbeing outcomes, experience and access to care and support
 - o reflects the national priorities and ambitions of the NHS LTP for Mental Health and the forthcoming cross-government mental health and wellbeing plan
 - o sufficiently takes account of how they will commission specialist mental health services previously commissioned by NHSE, and
 - o aligns clearly with the national mental health workforce plan and is realistic and deliverable locally.
- NHSE to use the findings from these annual assessments to provide tailored support and guidance to ICBs.

c. Strengthen leadership and increase transparency and accountability

On 1 July, NHSE and NHS Improvement, HEE and NHSD came together as one organisation. This presents an important opportunity to provide joined-up leadership and strategic planning on mental health.

There has not always been sufficient joined-up leadership and governance at a senior level across Government departments and with NHSE. This Plan is an opportunity to further align these processes more strategically, such as better integrating workforce planning and service expansion policies.

For leadership within the NHS services, we are supportive of the seven transformative recommendations set out in the recent publication of the independent review of health and adult social care leadership, led by General Sir Gordon Messenger and Dame Linda Pollard.²³⁸ The

recommendations seek to ensure services can deliver the best possible care, tackle the COVID-19 backlog and address the disparities the pandemic has exposed across the country.

Recommendations

Leadership and oversight

- The Cabinet Office to establish a Mental Health Cabinet Committee to ensure collective responsibility for improving the mental health and wellbeing of the nation.
- The Cabinet Office to ensure that the Mental Health Policy Tool is implemented by all departments, and utilised and completed in a transparent way for all policy development. This tool has been developed to assist government departments with considering mental health in their policy development. This has been in development for some time, with colleagues from across government and stakeholders working together.
- NHSE to provide the requisite funding, support and resourcing so NHS providers can deliver on the recommendations from the NHS Leadership review by General Sir Gordon Messenger in full, including;
 - o targeted interventions on collaborative leadership and organisational values
 - o positive equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) action
 - o consistent management standards delivered through accredited training
 - o a simplified, standard appraisal system for the NHS
 - o a new career and talent management function for managers
 - o effective recruitment and development of non-executive directors (NEDs), and
 - o encouraging top talent into challenged parts of the system.
- Every local authority should appoint a 'member champion' for mental health as part of the Mental Health Challenge for Local Authorities in order to lead the way in their local areas.

Transparency

- NHSE to commit to publishing the Mental Health Dashboard every quarter and include trust-level data and workforce data to create a more comprehensive picture of opportunities and challenges at the commissioner, provider and ICS levels.
- NHSE to make routine data available so that there is transparency about how local areas commission services that account for age, gender, ethnicity, disability and sexuality.

Accountability

- DHSC to publish an annual report on the implementation of the NHS LTP and this cross-government mental health and wellbeing plan.
- Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to report:
 - whether there will be an increase in the amount of spending from NHSE and ICBs on mental health and if there will be an increase in the proportion of spending on mental health spending compared with total expenditure in the previous year
 - how much is being spent on mental health (in total and as a proportion of overall healthcare spending) in the current year by NHS and ICBs and as a proportion of total spending, and
 - o how much each ICB has spent on mental health for the year and the proportion of its total spending it represents.

d. Increase funding for NHS mental health services

The NHS LTP included a commitment that mental health services would grow faster than the overall NHS budget – with a ring-fenced increase in investment worth at least £2.3bn a year by 2023/24.²³⁹ Prior to the pandemic, an ambitious programme of work had got underway to improve and transform mental health services in England. While there was a long way to go to achieve parity of esteem

between mental health, learning disability and autism services and physical health services, investment had started to make a tangible difference.

The Government committed £500m in March 2021, as part of the Mental Health Recovery Action Plan. This provided an injection of emergency funding across a wide range of services and programme areas. This additional funding was critical and widely welcomed. Spending per head for 2020/21 in England was also 6.7% higher than the previous year, averaging £202.21. 240

We need to ensure that programmes and services meet demand across the system, quickly and effectively supporting those with mild to moderate mental illness and preventing people from reaching crisis.

Recommendations

- DHSC and NHSE to ensure a long-term commitment to the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) beyond 2024/25 for NHS-funded mental health services. The MHIS should be strengthened along the lines suggested by NHSE prior to the pandemic to include the following elements:
 - o ICBs must increase investment by at least their overall allocation growth plus a further 'percentage increment to reflect...additional funding included in... allocations'
 - o the shares of this resource spent with mental health providers and invested in children's and young people's mental health services specifically must increase, and
 - ICB investment plans should be subject to local review at the system level, including by a
 nominated lead provider of mental health services. This should ensure the plans are
 'credible' to deliver the necessary workforce and activity commitments.
- NHSE and DHSC to strengthen the way the MHIS operates (as set out by the HFMA)²⁴¹ by;
 - allowing systems to agree on the assessment of investment over a longer period of time to enable ICSs to invest where needed without being penalised for improving mental health services more quickly
 - o ensuring additional non-recurrent mental health spending due to COVID-19 is excluded when assessing baseline expenditure
 - ensuring the achievement of the MHIS is assessed at system-level with ICB and ICP sign off
 - o ensuring quality and outcome measures are included in the assessment of the MHIS
 - o revising MHIS categories so that they are consistent with the NHS LTP, and
 - ensuring the primary measure of the MHIS excludes continuing healthcare/packages of care and prescribing.
- NHSE to ensure the additional £1.5bn allocated to deal with the rising costs of energy and fuel, as well as wider inflation, is fairly apportioned to mental health trusts. We know that around £350m more investment is now needed by 2023/24 to fulfil the NHS LTP commitments because of the impact of inflation, using the latest GDP deflators.²⁴²
- NHSE to update the NHS Mental Health dashboard based on the recent recategorisation exercise to allow for trend analysis.

e. Invest in the NHS mental health estate

When the NHS was founded in 1948 its estate was made up of around 3,000 hospitals, many of which required urgent improvement and reorganisation. After just two major injections of capital funding in the 1960s and 2000s, the Naylor Review in 2017 sought to identify opportunities to rebuild NHS infrastructure to meet modern standards of service delivery fit for the future. The Review concluded that without investment in the NHS estate, the Five Year Forward View could not be delivered, and the estate would remain unfit for purpose and continue to deteriorate.²⁴³

Across the 50 NHS mental health trusts in England, much of the estate still meets that description, posing serious challenges to those who receive treatment and care and to those who work in those facilities.²⁴⁴ These challenges are not merely confined to those around health and safety, but also relate to the estate being therapeutically poor in many areas and adversely impacting upon the wellbeing of the workforce.

Similarly, the way mental health care is provided in acute hospitals can put people at risk of poorer mental health outcomes. Developing more delirium and dementia-friendly environments in acute hospitals will reduce the risk of developing delirium, a medical emergency that itself is a risk factor for the development of dementia – a condition that carries a huge individual and carer mental health burden and has wide-ranging social and economic implications.²⁴⁵

The Health Infrastructure Plan (HIP) is a five-year rolling programme of investment in NHS infrastructure taking a strategic approach to improve hospitals, primary and community care estates and health infrastructure, with waves of investment in new infrastructure initiatives.²⁴⁶ The programme is supported by the Government's new national construction framework, ProCure 2020, which is working with new hospital building projects up until 2030.²⁴⁷

We understand the existing HIP capital projects were selected by looking at priorities within ICSs; looking at those parts of the estate which are the oldest and most operational issues; and those that were most advanced in the scoping and planning process. A mere two of the 40 schemes confirmed in October 2020 were for mental health trusts.²⁴⁸ There were 205 other proposals across Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STPs) outside of HIP1 (2020-2025) and HIP2 (2025-2030), but between July 2017 and June 2020, just 11 mental health trusts received STP full business case approval for 16 infrastructure projects, totalling £68.6m Public Dividend Capital allocations.²⁴⁹ The ongoing next phase of HIP33, inviting trusts to compete for investment in a further eight projects, must therefore afford sufficient priority to mental health facilities. We have made the case previously for a Mental Health Infrastructure Plan that would ultimately fund 12 hospitals/schemes over the period to 2030. ²⁵⁰

However, a recent survey by NHS Providers found that half of the members part of the new building programme are not confident the funding they have been allocated will be sufficient to deliver the project. Almost two in five hospitals (39%) have their completion date behind schedule and from these, 62% said the delays affected their trust's ability to deliver safe and effective patient care and one third said it affected it to a great extent. Almost all (96%) trusts strongly agreed or agreed that, if appropriately funded, their scheme will improve patient-centred care and experience, improve clinical outcomes, and enable them to increase productivity.

Furthermore, almost all (96%) trusts strongly agreed or agreed that the government should confirm the funding envelope for the New Hospital Programme beyond the current spending review period (2022/23-2024/25).

Recommendations

- At the next CSR, HM Treasury, DHSC and NHSE to provide ring-fenced investment for mental health NHS trusts as part of a multi-year capital settlement. This additional capital funding uplift should be in addition to trusts' day-to-day capital budgets and should include:
 - o a new Health Infrastructure Plan (HIP) for Mental Health. Within this,
 - commit to a new £1bn building and redevelopment programme for Mental Health to enable 12 major building and redevelopment schemes to be awarded to mental health NHS trusts by 2030.
 - improve the therapeutic environment of mental health and learning disability/autism inpatient settings by:

- eliminating mixed sex accommodation
- procuring en-suite facilities for all existing single rooms
- minimising the risks of harm through innovative safety improvement projects, and making the estate more suitable for people with disabilities
- reaffirm the commitment to complete the elimination of dormitory provision and replace with single en-suite rooms
- invest in new building and redevelopment schemes for community mental health facilities, including clinical and office space, and the essential improvements to digital infrastructure, and
- new building and redevelopment schemes for crisis mental health facilities, including the procurement of sufficient mental health ambulances/ transport vehicles; creating age-appropriate mental health assessment spaces in A&Es (or alternative) and acute hospitals; and procuring age-appropriate alternative forms of mental health crisis provision.
- o eradicate significant and moderate risk maintenance backlog in mental health and learning disability sites/estates.
- DHSC to allow mental health trusts to spend their planned capital budgets in full each year given the historic underinvestment. This should enable trusts to address ongoing backlog maintenance issues, maintain safe services and minimise risks across their estate.
- Within the existing HIP programme or where investment is being made for a new or upgraded acute hospital, DHSC, NHSE and local leaders to review whether plans include sufficient space for integrated mental health and physical healthcare (liaison mental health services) to be delivered. This needs to be built into service design from the outset.

f. Ensure public mental health budgets have a growing share of public health spending

A successful future for public health will require improved and sustained investment. A commitment to a national plan for public mental health must be supported by guaranteed funding that matches the rate of budget increase of the NHS, with a proportion earmarked for public mental health. At a local level, the Public Health Grant to local authorities is vital for achieving good mental health, but without adequate funding, local authorities are being held back from fulfilling their potential to protect the public's mental health.

In February 2022, it was confirmed that the Public Health Grant for 2022/23 would increase by only £93m in cash terms compared to the previous year. For public mental health funding specifically, local authorities have only been required to report public mental health expenditure since the 2016/17 financial year. The situation has been improving since reporting commenced when looking at the outturn total expenditure, with the amount increasing by 50.8% after adjusting for inflation (2021/22 prices) between 2016/17 (£50.063m) and 2018/19 (£75.499m) and then continuing to rise by 2020/21 (£80.689m, 61.2% up on 2016/17).

There are however concerns about subsequent planned net current expenditure figures, which at £69.271m in 2021/22 after adjusting for inflation would be 1.1% below the investment in 2018/19 (£70.050m) if realised in the final figures. As a percentage of the public health expenditure overall, the percentage of total expenditure has peaked at 2.1% in 2019/20 or 2.0% in terms of net current expenditure in 2019/20 and again in the planned spending in 2021/22 (after COVID-related expenditure is excluded for purposes of direct comparison). ²⁵²

Recommendations

- At the next Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR), HM Treasury and DHSC to commit to increase the Public Health Grant budget as part of a multi-year settlement, which will ensure local authorities can continue to provide prevention and public health interventions.
- Local authorities to ring-fence at least 4% of total public health expenditure for public mental health spending as the start of sustained and growing investment in this area. This funding should be linked to the JSNA for each locality and relevant local strategies. It should also align with the growth in the public mental health workforce and those within voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations.

g. Increase funding for drug and alcohol use disorder service

The latest Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey (APMS) confirmed that 16.6% of adults drank at hazardous levels (AUDIT scores of 8 to 15), 1.9% were harmful or mildly dependent drinkers (AUDIT scores of 16 to 19) and 1.2% were probably dependent drinkers (AUDIT scores of 20 or more). As in previous years, men were more likely than women to drink at hazardous levels and above. Most adults drank at lower risk levels (57.5%) or did not drink at all (22.8%).²⁵³

The survey also identified that 3.1% of adults showed signs of dependence on drugs, including 2.3% who showed signs of dependence on cannabis only and 0.8% with signs of dependence on other drugs (with or without cannabis dependence as well). After increases in the 1990s, the overall rate has remained stable since 2000.²⁵⁴

The recently published Dame Carol Black independent review of drugs: phase two report sets out a way forward for drug treatment and recovery, providing 32 recommendations. The report starkly makes the case that the "Government faces an unavoidable choice: invest in tackling the problem or keep paying for the consequences."²⁵⁵ We welcomed this report and its call to increase investment in addiction services by an additional £552m ringfenced funding per year, to begin to undo the decade of cuts, to enable local communities to improve the quality and access to addiction treatment and support. The College welcomed the action to support the treatment of addiction as a long-term illness in the government's ten-year drug strategy, as well as the additional £780m investment which will help significantly expand access and strengthen drug treatment services which have experienced years of cuts.

Also, it is important to note the decline in specialist clinicians leading addictions services. The College's 2020 addictions workforce report found a 58% fall in the number of higher trainee places, with five regions in England having no opportunities for such training to drive up the quality of treatment offered, as well as train the wider health and social workforce to ensure people with addictions are offered the help they need.²⁵⁶ Fewer trainees now will result in fewer specialists in the future. Unless urgent action is taken, addiction psychiatry is at a very real risk of being wiped out in a decade.

Action is required to improve the provision of physical healthcare to people with drug dependence, including better training of the workforce to respond to co-existing problems.²⁵⁷ Another barrier within this area is the location of substance misuse services outside of the NHS, which leads to detachment from NHS professional training and development structures. If the future sees more psychiatrists based in VCSE organisations due to integrated working, it will be important to provide training posts for trainees within those settings to ensure a sustainable pipeline for the future.

Recommendations

- DHSC and MoJ to commit the investment advocated by Dame Carol Black in her recent independent report on drugs to restore funding for substance use disorders to a comparable share of public health spending to that of 2013/14.
- DHSC and DLUHC to review the commissioning of addiction services, including potential
 service models, in light of the independent review of drugs by Dame Carol Black. The College
 endorses Dame Carol's call to improve commissioning standards and move towards integrated
 commissioning.
- DHSC to prioritise rebuilding the workforce as set out in the government's 10-year drug strategy.

h. Increase funding for mental health social care

Like many health services, mental health is intrinsically linked to social care. It is an essential element of support, helping recovery and independence and preventing costly crises.

In September 2021, the Government announced a reform of social care, based on recommendations put forward by the Dilnot Commission in 2011.²⁵⁸ The reform – and accompanying funding package - introduces a cap on total lifetime care costs from 2023, and an increased asset threshold for help with the costs of care. It will apply to people of all ages, including those living with severe mental illness.

However, some of the problems with the current social care system remain.

Without investment in mental health social care services, estimated at £1.1bn per annum by 2030/31²⁵⁹, significant pressure will continue to be placed on NHS services, and delivery of some of the Community Mental Health Framework (CMHF) could be jeopardised.

Increase spending on mental health support for adults (18-64)

The reporting of expenditure on social care services fundamentally changed from 2014/15 onwards so previous data is not comparable (total expenditure by local authorities on 'adults aged under 65 with mental health needs' amounted to £1,336m in 2013/14).

Across the period of available data, the total expenditure peaked in real terms in 2020/21 (the most recent available year, £1,086,262m) and was 19.3% up on six years earlier after adjusting for inflation (£910.474m). Planned net current expenditure in 2021/22 (£866.217m) was 16.4% above the level of seven years earlier (£727.003m) in real terms after a period of relatively flat funding between 2014/15 and 2017/18 inclusive, however the net current expenditure in 2020/21 was also lower than the previous year after adjusting for inflation. 260 .

Both increases are above the real terms increases for adult social care funding overall across the same period -17.8% for total expenditure between 2014/15 and 2020/21 and 11.7% for net current expenditure between 2014/15 and 2021/22.

Increase spending on mental health support for older adults (65+)

Across the period of available data, total expenditure peaked in real terms in 2019/20 (£731.203m), however in 2020/21 the total expenditure in real terms (£677.699m) was lower in each of the previous three years. While planned net current expenditure in 2021/22 (£489.418m) is 4.1% above the level of spend for 2020/21 after inflation, it should also be noted that the latest amount is also equivalent to a real terms cut of 3.8% on 2019/20 (£508.659m).

Increase spending on mental health support for children and young people

The disinvestment in local authority funded services has led to closures of Sure Start centres, and a lack of support for children and young people with a neuro-disability, which ultimately results in more children and young people presenting to NHS mental health services in crisis. There is also a

clear issue with transitions for looked after children as they turn 18 and subsequently lose support. All of these issues contribute to poor mental and physical health.

Spending on Sure Start and early years services has only been reported by the DLUHC and its forerunner departments since 2014/15. Total expenditure has fallen by 43.8% between 2014/15 (£830.428m) and 2020/21 (£466.623m) after adjusting for inflation. Alternatively, if looking at net current expenditure, the decline in real terms has been 47.2% between 2014/15 (£732.943m) and the planned amount for 2021/22 (£387.014m).

This means the share of children's social care expenditure devoted to these services has declined from 7.9% in 2014/15 to 3.7% in 2021/22 on the current planned net current expenditure. It would require spending to rise by around £430m in current prices to restore investment to that previous share.

Increase funding for social care to support the first 1001 days of life

The first 1001 days of life – from conception to age two, are critical for a child's future cognitive and emotional development. Moreover, while over £3bn has been spent on mitigating the impact of the pandemic on older children, nothing has been spent on mitigating impacts on under 2s, despite the considerable potential for preventive interventions that dramatically improve outcomes and reduce pressure on health and social care services in the long term.

Recommendations

• At the next CSR, HM Treasury, DLUHC and DHSC to commit to increase the social care budget for babies, children, young people and adults. Specifically, within a funding uplift, local authorities should commit to ring-fence funding devoted to early years, aiming to get it back to at least around 8% of the children's social care expenditure.

i. Invest in digital technology

Investment in technology can improve care, increase productivity, and release staff time. The COVID-19 pandemic rapidly accelerated the use of technology in healthcare provision, with remote working and consultations becoming increasingly widespread across mental health services. The 2020 Spending Review committed £559m to support the modernisation of technology across the health and care system.

As we emerge from the pandemic, and look to the next decade, action will be needed to evaluate and embed progress to date. Further investment will also be needed to maintain progress and address ongoing issues that affect patient care, such as issues with IT system interoperability.

Electronic patient records and interoperability

Mental health services have been at the forefront of using electronic patient record (EPR) systems for many years. However, the potential benefits of modern software, apps and clinical informatics are not being realised. Currently available EPRs make recording overly time-consuming and difficult to use, with patients' stories and important clinical information often unrecognisably fragmented across multiple fields. Moreover, there is a need for greater interoperability between different recording systems. At present, if a patient moves residence to another (ICS) area or is transferred from a mental health trust to an acute trust, there is generally no direct transfer of patient records – with obvious implications for interruptions in their care.

The programme to introduce shared care records across the country has not met the goal of universal coverage by October 2021 but has galvanised the plans of most areas to deliver widespread coverage. Mental health, learning disability and autism services are at risk of being marginalised,

especially where there are multiple smaller providers, or non-NHS providers (e.g., drug and alcohol services).

Furthermore, interoperability must be achieved if the proposed Mental Health Act reforms are to be realised. At present most Mental Health Act related activity is still carried out using paper-based systems, including forms for assessment, medication or leave. This means that information is often incomplete or inaccessible to patients and staff, so there is a greater risk of mistakes being made because of human error, and patients and carers are provided with less information. The Independent Review of the Mental Health Act found that digital enablers could provide patients with a modern and consistent way to access information about the Act, their rights, safeguards, and treatment processes²⁶¹.

There is also an important opportunity to improve patient centred care/empower patients through improving patient access to their records, where appropriate. At present, patients are put at a disadvantage by current outdated record systems which constrain their access to their own records, thereby hampering their ability to contribute to their care and care planning. This is despite mental health services being at the forefront of shared decision-making.

Clinical information systems

Clinical information systems are also inadequate for clinicians' needs, resulting in considerable time in entering information and limited ability to extract the relevant information needed to monitor and manage the quality of care. Dashboards that provide clinicians with benchmarkable information about their caseload would be invaluable. Clinical interpretation of data not only benefits patients, but also enables clinicians to benchmark against their peers which helps to drive up quality. Yet, there is a lack of access for mental health services to other services' information systems, preventing access to needed information such as CT scan imaging to clarify diagnoses.

Clinical administrative work has become a significant burden and focus for all mental health staff which significantly and negatively impacts on clinical quality, safety, and productivity. This has been recognised by the CQC and Lord Carter's review into mental health productivity, which shows that community clinicians are spending over 33% of their time on documentation and reporting, more than face-to-face patient care²⁶². The potential for modern software to support reliable care pathway management, evidence-based interventions, outcome measurement and clinical interpretation of data to benefit patients and populations is not being realised.

Against this context, the What Good Looks Like programme of work, which will see Trusts and other NHS Organisations assessed against guidance to identify gaps and prioritise areas for investment and improvement, is promising.²⁶³ In addition to considering technology, this will look at the culture, the people, the skills, and the processes that are required to support good digital and data transformation. The accompanying programme of work from 2021 to 2023 and onwards aims to fix many of the problems outlined above. This must be sufficiently funded and have the oversight and governance procedures needed to achieve its ambitions.

Ensuring services have the digital capabilities they need to optimise care

In 2021, NHSX launched a new digital playbook on mental health to help clinical teams reimagine and redesign how patients receive care²⁶⁴. It is one of a set of playbooks that look at how technology is being used to solve common challenges in delivering care across the NHS, ensuring that patients can benefit from the latest digital developments in their treatment. The playbook incorporates: the role and benefits of digital technology in delivering better mental health pathways; experiences of those who have implemented digital into mental health services and the successes and challenges, and links to the wide range of trusted digital tools available to clinicians.

The playbooks aim to support the NHS's commitment, set out in the NHS LTP, to reduce face-to-face outpatient appointments by up to a third over the next five years and make digitally enabled primary and outpatient care mainstream across the NHS.

Another area of innovation has been the Global Digital Exemplars (GDE) programme which included seven digitally advanced mental health trusts delivering exceptional care efficiently, using world-class digital technology and information, being supported to become GDEs²⁶⁵.

The Digital Aspirant programme is targeted at supporting those providers outside the GDE network to get the core digital capabilities they need to deliver safe, high-quality, and efficient care, providing substantial funding for full participants, and seed funding for others²⁶⁶. 23 trusts were selected in the first wave of the Digital Aspirant programme, with £28 million of funding for their first year. In March 2021 an additional 32 trusts joined the programme. Seven of these will also receive up to £6m over the next three years, while the remaining 25 are receiving funding of just £250,000 to develop their digital strategy and business case.

Eight Mental Health Trusts were selected as Digital Aspirants, out of a total of 59 chosen to participate. Mental Health Trusts therefore make up just 13.5% of participating trusts, whereas they make up 23% of all Trusts (50 Mental Health Trusts out of 213 acute non-specialist, acute specialist, community, and ambulance Trusts). Mental Health Trusts are, therefore, underrepresented in the Digital Aspirant Programme. Blueprints have subsequently been developed to help other NHS Trusts deliver digital capabilities more quickly and cost effectively than was possible in the past.

The Innovation and Technology Payment (ITP) programme supports the NHS to adopt innovations by removing some of the financial and procurement barriers to introducing new technologies²⁶⁷. It is a competitive process for innovations and technologies that have already proved their clinical effectiveness and are ready to be rolled out nationally. Amongst the theme's receiving support is one on mental health: Digital apps to support emergency/crisis mental health assessments, receiving funding via the Evidence Generation Fund.

A new Mental Health Innovation Fund

Alongside the established national programmes to encourage and enhance digital provision of mental health services, the College is advocating for the establishment of a Mental Health Innovation Fund that would enable industrial innovators to work with NHS clinicians on the development and implementation of a diverse range of solutions. It is envisioned that funds would be allocated on a competitive basis in two phases for each project, with the initial phase facilitating research and assessment of technical feasibility and further funding then awarded for a smaller number of innovators in the second phase to develop and evaluate prototype solutions with their NHS partners. Successful initiatives would be made freely available to the NHS with the successful innovators then allowed to sell their developed solutions to other healthcare systems. On the basis of each competitive process costing around £400,000 (with an assumption that 5-7 bids would be successful for the initial £10,000 funding in the first phase and then two would proceed to receive around £150-175,000 in the second phase), an annual fund of £12m would enable around 30 competitions to take place each year.

Digital literacy and exclusion

Growing digital literacy among patients and digital capability in services has enabled more routine use of remote consultation – a new way for patients to engage with services and speak to clinicians. Remote consultations can involve the use of internet video platforms as a tool to undertake psychiatric interviews or follow-up interviews, audio consultations over the internet, or telephone consultations. This trend was significantly accelerated during the pandemic. While digital consultations can improve the accessibility of care for those with mobility/transport difficulties or practical concerns, they can also help to reduce costs. However, remote consultations should be an adjunct to, rather than a substitution for, face-to-face consultation and patients should always have the choice of a face-to-face

consultation. Both the therapeutic relationship and clinical appropriateness mean that digital appointments are sometimes inappropriate and should not be the only option available to access care.

It is also important to acknowledge the significant risk of digital exclusion among patients, and how technology is not always accessible to all or designed with the users at its centre. It is important that people with dementia, people who lack digital literacy or find technology challenging, people who have cognitive impairment, people with an intellectual disability and people who do not have access to digital platforms are not disadvantaged. This should be reflected in the training curriculum, with part of the research funding advocated for in this submission also potentially utilised to evaluate patient experience of digital consultations among these patient groups in particular.

Similarly, we need to provide clear information on data use and assurances, without jargon to help people understand GDPR and what this means for them personally.

Recommendations

- NHSE to develop a 10-year data plan for mental health, including how data will be used to
 promote patient choice, efficiency, access and quality in DHSC mental health care, as well as
 ensuring that all NHS-commissioned mental health data are transparent (including where data
 quality is poor/in early stages of development or collection) to drive improvements in services.
- DHSC to set up a new Mental Health Innovation Fund.
- NHSE to develop a strategic delivery plan for how digital can support the enhanced delivery of mental health services and care for the benefit of patients and staff.
- NHSE to strengthen the commitment to deliver shared-care records and the programmes to achieve this funded, especially in rural areas without a large tertiary centre or urban council that can fund these programmes at risk.
- NHSE to invest in greater digital technology to improve the efficiency of collecting outcome measures and empower patients to play a role in their own care.
- NHSE to encourage greater working between digital suppliers and clinicians to help improve the interface between outcome measures and EPRs.
- NHSE to provide clear information for patients on data use and assurances, without jargon to help people understand GDPR and what this means for them personally.
- NHSE to co-create digital inclusion strategies with charities such as Citizens online.

j. Increase funding for research

Mental illness accounts for 23% of the global burden of disease in the UK, but for many years, received only 6.1% of the UK's health research budget. Over the past few years, funding has been increasing. NIHR funding for mental health research was £109.5m in 2020/21²⁶⁸ compared to £80.3m²⁶⁹ in 2017/18 but this historic underinvestment requires continued focus.

Spending on research on children and young people and intellectual disabilities is particularly constrained. Similarly, a lack of clinical drug testing involving older people results in excessive prescribing of off-licence medication.

A clinical research culture improves patient outcomes, workforce satisfaction and retention alongside a significant contribution to the UK economy. To ensure research influences policy and clinical practice at the earliest opportunity, researchers need easier access to existing datasets. For example, there was a long delay in transferring the latest Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey (APMS) data to the UK data archive, and there is a risk-averse process in place for allowing researchers to access it. This means researchers devote much of their funding to accessing the data rather than on actual research. Moreover, it is time for parity in research opportunities for all trusts, to enable the NHS to be a leading research sponsor.

Clinical academic psychiatrists, who typically work across both NHS clinical settings and universities medical schools or Higher Education Institutions (HEIs), are essential for leading research and development within clinical services. As leading educators, they are central to the development and delivery of education and clinical training of mental health workforce and inspiring the next generation of doctors specialising in psychiatry. However, academic departments are shrinking and there was a 21.7% decline in number of clinical academic psychiatrists between 2007-2016²⁷⁰. Trusts need to actively support academia with time in job plans and research and development infrastructure, otherwise clinical research will disappear and there will be no senior researchers to develop the next generation. There also needs to be greater diversity in academia as it is understood that approximately 80% of European graduates are female but only 20% are professors.

Without addressing this situation, improvements and innovations in NHS healthcare will stagnate and fall behind. Patients will not have access to the best care possible through a motivated and up-skilled workforce. The urgent need to correct disparity in mental health research investments need to be supported by proportionate investment into clinical academic careers and posts.

Recommendations

- DHSC to increase the funding for mental health research to 15% of the total UK health research budget by 2030.
- Working alongside funders, academics, clinicians and people with lived experience, DHSC to meet the Mental Health Research Goals collectively developed by the sector by 2030. This includes:
 - o research to half the number of children and young people experiencing persistent mental health problems by;
 - increasing knowledge of the aetiology, development (including risk and protective factors) and progression of mental health problems at key transition points across the life-course
 - increasing research on effective mental health promotion, prevention, treatment and support in children and young people in education, community and health, including specialist mental health, settings, and;
 - increasing research on the implementation of effective interventions in a range of settings to optimise outcomes. This includes research on service delivery and organisational factors influencing outcomes.
 - o research to improve understanding of the links between physical and mental health, and eliminate the mortality gap by;
 - strengthening our understanding of the co-morbidity of both mental and physical health problems. This research should address clusters of health problems, underlying mechanisms and progression, and societal and individual risk and protective factors and in addition, the implications for treatment and support.
 - conducting research to improve the efficacy and effectiveness of interventions for prevention and increase maintenance of good physical health for people with mental health problems, or at risk of developing mental health problems. The aim is to reduce morbidity and excess mortality.
 - o research to develop new and improved treatments, interventions and support for mental health problems by;
 - conducting research to investigate the mechanisms underlying mental wellbeing, mental health problems and related behaviours through use of markers from basic biological, psychological and social science to understand how to improve treatments, interventions and support.

- developing and implementing new and improved treatments, interventions and support, including medical, social and psychological approaches to increase patient choice and greater personalisation.
- developing and evaluating the effectiveness of digital interventions that complement and supplement face to face interventions for prevention, support and recovery.
- o research to improve choice of, and access to, mental health care, treatment and support in hospital and community settings by;
 - conducting research to understand the barriers to help-seeking and service access, and the delivery of mental health services and other support in diverse settings and across different communities, including Black, Asian and minority ethnic group and those from LGBTQIA+, to address stigma, discrimination, and social exclusion
 - Conducting research to accelerate the implementation of existing best evidence at the population and individual level. In addition, implement evidence on how patient choice and joint decision-making make a difference to outcomes in routine care and.
 - increasing research to inform strategies for tackling social and health inequalities to improve public mental health.
- DHSC to fund large-scale epidemiological studies on autism prevalence, prevalence of cooccurring mental health disorders, and service use needs, in order to be more precise and more informative to policy development.
- DHSC to fund research into the most effective treatments for co-occurring mental health conditions in autism (both pharmacological and non-pharmacological)
- DHSC to allocate capital funding to mental health trusts for Research & Development in Mental Health and Dementia, including: the prevention agenda, research to improve the productivity and effectiveness of the NHS, and the translation of basic science and support for the life sciences industry.
- DHSC to continue to commission regular prevalence surveys for adults and for children and young people.
- DHSC to fund a follow-up survey to track the outcomes of the care received by the children and young people in the prevalence survey who have given informed consent. This will allow researchers to align findings and track data against better-developed indicators helping the Government better plan for the next ten years. It would also provide necessary information about what happens to children and young people over time.
- DHSC to ensure that eating disorders are recognised within both prevalence surveys, after being excluded from the previous iterations of the APMS.
- DHSC and other partners to reverse the decline in academic psychiatry posts.
- Every medical school will have an academic department of psychiatry, with psychiatry being taught effectively to all medical students.
- DHSC to liaise with other interested parties such as RCPsych, the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, the Academy of Medical Sciences and other relevant stakeholders, to provide required funding and support to develop the careers of academic psychiatrists.
- DHSC to address significant barriers in clinical academic career pathways in mental health research, and to provide greater support for post-doctoral research fellowships, the transition to academic clinical lecturer and establishment at senior lecturer level.

k. Build a strong and resilient mental health workforce

A new 10-year national mental health plan needs to recognise the increased prevalence of mental illness. With challenges meeting existing demand and an already unacceptable treatment gap – two-thirds of

people who would benefit from evidence-based treatment do not receive it²⁷¹ – there is a pressing case to address the demand and supply issues within the mental health workforce to meet increased future demand, particularly due to COVID-19.

In the mental health sector, recruiting enough skilled staff to meet the needs of patients was already an urgent and substantial challenge before the pandemic. Papers from NHSE and Improvement's November board meeting described workforce as 'the single biggest risk and opportunity for the Mental Health Programme', with workforce expansion 'critical to delivering the NHS LTP and coping with additional post-pandemic pressures'. ²⁷²

There have been several plans to try to remedy the workforce challenges surrounding the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (for the period ending 2020/21) and NHS LTP, but workforce remains widely recognised as one of the biggest challenges to their delivery.

While there has been welcome growth in the mental health workforce overall, this has not been sufficient in the areas in which it is most needed. For example, Stepping Forward to 2020/21 set the intention to add 570 consultants and 8,100 nurses to the mental health workforce. Since March 2017 (the government's baseline date), data from January 2022²⁷³ shows only 212 (37.2%) consultants and 3,221 (39.8%) mental health nurses have been added to the workforce. When considering both sets of targets outlined in *Stepping Forward*²⁷⁴ and the *NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan*²⁷⁵ for the NHS LTP, data from January 2022 shows that the system is around 500 consultant psychiatrists behind the target for 2021/22, and, therefore, on course to miss the target by 2023/24.

A shortage of substantive psychiatrists has an impact on the continuity of care and stability of services and ultimately increases reliance on locums. While some locums may be every bit as invested in improving local services, others may have chosen not to commit to a single employer and may be more transient, less experienced and if employed via a locum agency, usually more expensive. While expenditure on locums is inevitable during transitions and to cover planned and unplanned absences, the locum psychiatric consultant workforce in England is at its highest reported level of 768 (15.1%), compared to 686 in 2019 and 536 in 2017²⁷⁶. This represents a 43.3% increase since 2017. According to the NHS Benchmarking Network, mental health trusts across the UK spent an average of £8.1 million on bank and agency staff for adult inpatient services and £3.5 million for adult community services in 2020/21.

The RCPsych 2021 Workforce Census shows increasing numbers of vacant or unfilled consultant posts. Vacant posts reference an unmet need, where work is likely reallocated within a medical team, potentially leading to burnout and low morale or gaps in service provision. Since 2017, there has been a 30.1% increase in the number of vacant or unfilled consultant posts in England²⁷⁷. The specialities with the highest number of vacancies were child and adolescent psychiatry, eating disorder psychiatry and addiction psychiatry. There are also certain geographical areas across England that face persistent challenges around workforce numbers.

The RCPsych 2021 Workforce Census also shows a 49.6% increase in consultant retirements since 2017²⁷⁸. As of April 2022, there were 2,924 (37.4%) registered psychiatrists with a licence aged 55 and over working for the NHS in England²⁷⁹. Issues impacting on workforce retention need to be addressed for new supply to have an impact. This includes improving the retire and return offer.

Mental health services have been under intense pressure for many years, and it only stands to get worse as the full impact of the pandemic is beginning to be seen in services. The CQC's annual report, Monitoring the Mental Health Act in 2020/21, notes that 'staff are now exhausted, with high levels of anxiety, stress and burnout, and the workforce is experiencing high levels of vacancies'. The report goes on to add that 'working under this sustained pressure poses a challenge to the safe, effective and caring management of inpatient services and to the delivery of care in a way that maintains people's human rights'.²⁸⁰

Responding to people who need care and support due to the pandemic will lead to increased demand for more staff working in the mental health workforce, new skills to support the wider workforce to identify and support people with mental health conditions, new roles to enable psychiatrists to work to the top of their skill set to see the most complex patients, and new ways of working to ensure psychiatric input is embedded within Long-covid services.

Workforce expansion

It will also be critical to build a sustainable pipeline for the future. As of June 2022, 47.62% of psychiatrists on the medical register in England had qualified abroad.²⁸¹ Recruiting from overseas is crucial for fulfilling workforce commitments required in the NHS LTP. Indeed, overseas doctors have long had crucial roles in delivering excellent patient care and we need to continue to support international medical graduates more than ever. However, it would be both unsustainable and unethical to over-rely on international recruitment to get the workforce that we need. We must train more doctors here in the UK. Since 2018 the government has funded an additional 1,500 medical training places per year. This was a welcome step to increase the number of home-grown doctors and increase supply over the long-term, however it did not go far enough to put long-term workforce planning on a sustainable footing. COVID-19 has created an unforeseen growth in medical school places because of an unexpectedly high number of students qualifying for an offer to study medicine in 2021. In response, the government decided to provide extra funding to medical and dental schools across England and to increase the number of available places to 9,000. This is a positive development for the future psychiatric workforce and the uplift should be retained and expanded year on year towards reaching 15,000 in 2028/29. This should be accompanied by assertive action over the longer term to ensure medical students become trainees in under resourced specialties, including psychiatry. This is necessary to deliver a sustainable supply of psychiatrists for the long-term.

The expansion in medical school places needs to be followed by a similar expansion in the number of training places at Core and Higher levels. A further expansion of Core posts is required to deliver the NHS LTP and Mental Health Act reforms, as well as meet heightened demand due to COVID-19. Trainees are delivering services from day one, so an expansion of Core posts has a direct impact on service delivery. Additional Core trainee places, distributed strategically, could also help overcome geographical and specialty shortages if they are allocated in the right way.

Such an expansion needs to be coupled with a focus on retention of trainees. More core training places are also required to mitigate against the increasing diversity of training pathways. Research from UCL showed that psychiatry trainees overwhelmingly did not progress directly through training within six years, with only 14.7% completing training without delays, and 11 years being the average time taken to progress. It also found that trainees desired training arrangements to both support their progression and work-life balance, including allowing time out and Less Than Full Time (LTFT) hours.181 Increased flexibility can increase the longevity of the workforce, but more psychiatry training places are required to support the gaps and reduce the burden on full time staff.

Workforce expansion is particularly pertinent due to the upcoming reforms to the Mental Health Act (MHA). Independent research commissioned by the Royal College of Psychiatrists estimates the number of psychiatrists needed to deliver the reforms. Using the DHSC's own estimates on changing numbers of detentions²⁸², the research finds that by 2023/24 an additional 333 FTE psychiatrists will be needed, and by 2033/34 a further 161 will be needed²⁸³. The required expansion is solely based on the impact of the reforms, and therefore must be viewed as being additional to increases required to deliver the NHS LTP and meet increased demand for services. The success of the reforms will be dependent on investment to increase and train the additional workforce needed.

Another area contributing to mounting workforce pressures is the cross-government all-age autism strategy for 2021-2026. This contains laudable objectives including improvements to the diagnostic pathway and reducing waiting times.175 Delays in diagnosis and misdiagnosis reduce the chances of individuals receiving appropriate support and increase the risk of mental health crisis and hospital admissions. Successful delivery of the strategy will undoubtedly require investment into a substantial

number of new posts, including consultant psychiatrists and associated spending on education and training, staff retention and development. We understand that a fully costed set of proposals has been submitted by NHS England and Improvement to that end and urge serious consideration of this bid to ensure the strategy can be placed on a strong footing. Furthermore, the Clinically-led Review of NHS Standards is expected to introduce new waiting time guarantees across both emergency and community-based mental health services, which are equitable to physical healthcare standards. While this is essential to achieve parity of esteem and ensure that those accessing them get the mental health support they need and deserve, we are concerned that the workforce requirements have not been considered.

Furthermore, while welcome progress has been made on workforce expansion through the Government's COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing recovery action plan, it is imperative that work is undertaken now to build a sustainable pipeline for the future.

Upskilling/new wavs of working

Workforce expansion is not the only tool that should be used to tackle mounting demand. Given increasing prevalence, there is a need to upskill other doctors and allied health professionals on mental health. Currently, doctors feel unable to deal with mental health issues in their specialties yet are required to care for people with mental illness. For example, a 2018 survey of more than 1,000 GPs revealed rising demand for mental health support in primary care, with GPs saying that 40% of their appointments involve mental health. ²⁸⁴ This signals demand for new skills, or potentially new roles, in primary care to deliver the right care to patients.

There is a particular need for mental health skills in paediatric units and emergency departments. This is even more important due to recent concern about the number and severity of children and young people presenting with mental ill health in emergency departments and being admitted on paediatric wards. Paediatricians feel ill-equipped and trained to manage the mental health needs of these patients and have inadequate access to specialist support. Mental health leads within paediatric units and emergency departments could seek to shift the culture and upskill staff.

Credentialling is also a good way to offer training and/or upskilling where there is not currently a pathway in place. The Royal College of Psychiatrists has been working hard on developing credentials in liaison psychiatry and eating disorders which offer opportunities to improve standards of care through enabling staff to develop specialised skills and knowledge. For more staff to undertake these certificated courses, central funding could be provided to Trusts to enable them to release staff.

Over the next ten years, progress on tackling health inequalities is vital. It is important that all healthcare professionals have appropriate skills and training to minimise health inequalities, and possess the competences to deliver fair, non-judgmental, and least restrictive care. The growing prevalence of health inequalities, as well as unmet need in excluded or overlooked patient groups, creates demand for an increased mental health workforce in areas with high proportions of people from the different population groups that are most affected — an approach that will require detailed demographic and geographical surveys. It also creates demand for new skills and new ways of working to identify mental health problems across different groups of the population, reduce the treatment gap, and work to eliminate inequitable access, outcomes and experience. One way to do this could be through the development of tailored services such as mental health services for people who identify as LGBTQIA+, similar to the targeted STD and HIV specialist services.

The integration agenda presents opportunities for mental health services to be integrated more comprehensively into the wider health system and to give better, more joined up care to people with mental illness. Clinicians and healthcare staff are increasingly developing a more personalised approach to providing care, including looking at both physical and mental health needs, and where relevant considering other social or economic needs or factors. To maximise the role of the workforce, it is important to think about integration beyond health and social care, including housing, policing

and beyond. However, to maximise the role of the workforce in providing integrated care, action will be required to ensure the workforce is equipped with the right skills. For example, team working, leadership, digital clinical skills, consultation and liaison skills, cultural competence, and the ability to work closely with primary care and other interfaces will all be important.

Delivering the right care at the right time in the right place, with a more focused role on health promotion and prevention, will require consideration of integrated training opportunities and enhanced generalist skills. This should include mental health competencies for 'non-mental health professionals' including nurses, doctors, staff working in acute settings, GPs, advanced care practitioners, pharmacists, and VCSE staff. It also includes physical health competencies for mental health staff, including psychiatrists, psychologists, and social care staff. Integrated care presents opportunities to better care for people with mental and physical healthcare needs. Training should, therefore, look at management of common chronic physical and mental comorbidities such as alcohol and mood disorders and diabetes and depression.

Recommendations

- DHSC to commit to increase the number of medical school places in England to 15,000 by 2028/29 in order to deliver the NHS LTP and allocate those places to schools that have a clear plan to encourage more students to choose a shortage specialty, including psychiatry.
- DHSC and NHSE to continue the expansion of core psychiatry posts and ensure provision for further expansion to facilitate long-term sustainability and growth in consultant psychiatrist posts for 2035. The additional core training posts made available from August 2021 onwards must be fully funded through the core training pathway, with sufficient provision also made for an expansion in higher training capacity.
- DHSC and NHSE to lay out plans to publish a comprehensive NHS workforce strategy following the publication of HEE's strategic framework. This should be accompanied by a multi-year settlement for workforce training and education to allow for the growth in the mental health workforce, including via new roles, necessary to deliver the NHS LTP, proposed standards from the Clinically-led Review of NHS Standards, and the proposed Mental Health Act reforms. The settlement must take into account that funding for postgraduate medical education and training has been essentially flat in real terms between 2013/14 (£2.111bn) and 2020/21 (£2.080bn).
- DHSC to ensure funding is allocated to deliver the requisite workforce for the Mental Health Act
 reforms. This includes the additional 494 FTE psychiatrists needed by 2033/34, as identified in
 the independent research commissioned by the College, as well as the non-medical workforce
 identified by HEE-commissioned research.
- DHSC and NHSE to provide the necessary investment in workforce to deliver the autism
 diagnostic pathway and reduce waiting times. Funding is required for both new posts and
 education and training, while also supporting retention and development among existing staff in
 these services.
- DHSC and NHSE to maintain the NHS Staff Support Offer, with £50m funding each year over the three years.
- DHSC and NHSE to ensure that, from 2022/23 onwards, at least 10% of the 1,000 PAs being trained each year work in mental health (including liaison services and GP practices).
- DHSC and NHSE to ensure that the implementation of the provision within the Health and Care Act 2022 to provide mandatory training about learning disability and autism for Health and Social Care staff is supported by sufficient resources.

9. References

39 Ibid40 Ibid41 Ibid

¹ Government unveils levelling up plan that will transform UK - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) ² http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool ³ Embargoed-20th-Oct-Summary-of-Economic-Report-costs-of-Perinatal-Mental-Healthproblems.pdf (everyonesbusiness.org.uk) ⁴ Mental Health of Children and Young People in England 2021 - wave 2 follow up to the 2017 survey - NHS Digital ⁵ Ibid. ⁶ Ibid. ⁷ https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4984732/ 8 https://www.rsph.org.uk/our-work/policy/wellbeing/public-mental-health-evidence-practice-andcommissioning.html ⁹ 20211223-B1160-2022-23-priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance-v3.2.pdf (england.nhs.uk) ¹⁰ Record 4.3 million referrals to specialist mental health services in 2021 (rcpsych.ac.uk) ¹¹ Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org) ¹² Goal 3 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org) ¹³ No health without mental health (publishing.service.gov.uk) ¹⁴ Future in mind - Promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people's mental health and wellbeing (publishing.service.gov.uk) ¹⁵ NHS Long Term Plan v1.2 August 2019 ¹⁶ https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf 17 https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf 18 Ibid 19 Ibid ²⁰ Ibid ²¹ Ibid ²² Ibid ²³ Ibid ²⁴ Ibid ²⁵ Ibid ²⁶ Ibid ²⁷ Ibid ²⁸ Ibid ²⁹ Ibid 30 Ibid 31 Ibid 32 Ibid 33 Ibid 34 Ibid 35 Ibid 36 Ibid ³⁷ https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf 38 Ibid

```
<sup>42</sup> Ibid
43 summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
44 position-statement-ps01-21---social-prescribing---2021.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
45 https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-
COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
<sup>46</sup> Ibid
<sup>47</sup> summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
48 Ibid
49 Ibid
<sup>50</sup> Ibid
51 Ibid
52 Ibid
53 Ibid
<sup>54</sup> summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
55 Ibid
<sup>56</sup> Ibid
57 Ibid
58 Ibid
59 Ibid
60 Ibid
61 Ibid
62 Ibid
63 Ibid
64 Ibid
65 summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
<sup>66</sup> NHS England » Next steps for integrating primary care: Fuller stocktake report
67 position-statement-ps02-21---detention-of-people-with-mental-disorders-in-immigration-removal-
centres---2021.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
<sup>68</sup> repsych mortality review guidance.pdf
<sup>69</sup> summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
<sup>70</sup> https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-operational-planning-and-contracting-guidance-2020-
<sup>71</sup> development-of-the-mental-health-investment-standard---recommendations-november-2020.pdf
(hfma.org.uk)
<sup>72</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gdp-deflators-at-market-prices-and-money-gdp-june-
2022-quarterly-national-accounts
73 Government unveils levelling up plan that will transform UK - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
74 http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool
<sup>75</sup>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/59885/1/ lse.ac.uk storage LIBRARY Secondary libfile shared repositor
y Content Bauer%2C%20M BauerCostsperinatal%20mental2014BauerCostsperinatalmental2014aut
hor.pdf
<sup>76</sup> Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2017 [PAS] - NHS Digital
<sup>77</sup> Mental Health of Children and Young People in England 2021 - wave 2 follow up to the 2017
survey - NHS Digital
<sup>78</sup> Mental Health of Children and Young People in England 2021 - wave 2 follow up to the 2017
survey - NHS Digital
<sup>79</sup> https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-
survey/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey-survey-of-mental-health-and-wellbeing-england-2014
80 Ibid.
81 Ibid.
82 https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/publications/better-mental-health-all-publichealth-approach-
mental-health-improvement
```

- 83 https://www.dementiastatistics.org/statistics/prevalence-projections-in-the-uk/
- $\frac{84}{\text{https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/the-british-journal-of-psychiatry/article/mental-illhealth-in-adults-withintellectual-disabilities-prevalence-and-associated-}$

factors/3916426981C7C20DCC3DA87B5019C36A/core-reader

- 85 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4984732/
- ⁸⁶ Strategy Unit analysis based on NHS Digital. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Dataset (MHLDDS) 2014/15, 2015.
- ⁸⁷ rcpsych's-proposals-for-the-nhs-ltp---submission-to-nhs-england.pdf
- 88 rcpsych's-proposals-for-the-nhs-ltp---submission-to-nhs-england.pdf
- 89 rcpsych's-proposals-for-the-nhs-ltp---submission-to-nhs-england.pdf
- 90 https://www.rsph.org.uk/our-work/policy/wellbeing/public-mental-health-evidence-practice-and-commissioning.html
- ⁹¹ Mental Health Policy Group. Mental Health Policy Group submission to the cross-government mental health and wellbeing plan. July 2022.
- 92 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/news-and-features/latest-news/detail/2022/06/20/cost-of-living-crisis-threat-of-pandemic-proportions-to-mental-health-warns-uk-s-leading-psychiatrist
- 93 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-mental-health-dashboard/
- $^{94}\ \underline{https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness-smi}$
- 95 https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/surveys/community-mental-health-survey-2021
- ⁹⁶ Public mental health: required actions to address implementation failure in the context of COVID-19 - The Lancet Psychiatry
- 97 20211223-B1160-2022-23-priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance-v3.2.pdf (england.nhs.uk)
- ⁹⁸ Record 4.3 million referrals to specialist mental health services in 2021 (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ⁹⁹ Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- 100 Goal 3 | Department of Economic and Social Affairs (un.org)
- ¹⁰¹ No health without mental health (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- ¹⁰² Future in mind Promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people's mental health and wellbeing (publishing.service.gov.uk)
- 103 NHS Long Term Plan v1.2 August 2019
- ¹⁰⁴ The Global Economic Burden of Noncommunicable Diseases (repec.org)
- 105 summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- 106 https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
- https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
- 108https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1 052706/Levelling_Up_WP_HRES.pdf
- ¹⁰⁹ PMHIC aims and objectives | Royal College of Psychiatrists (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- 110 https://doi.org/10.37829/HF-2022-P10
- ¹¹¹ National Child Measurement Programme England, 2020/21 School Year.
- A third of smoking households in England are living in poverty with rates highest in the North.
- Moderators of changes in smoking, drinking and quitting behaviour associated with the first COVID-19 lockdown in England.
- https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
- https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
- 116 RCPCH responds to latest statistics on child poverty | RCPCH
- 117 Healthy life expectancy target: the scale of the challenge

```
118 https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-
COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
119 https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-
COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
120 Ibid
121 Ibid
122 Ibid
123 Ibid
124 Ibid
125 Ibid
126 Ibid
127 Ibid
128 Ibid
129 Ibid
130 Ibid
131 Ibid
132 Ibid
133 Ibid
134 Ibid
135 Ibid
136 Ibid
137 Ibid
138 Ibid
139 position-statement-ps03-21-climate-and-ecological-emergencies-2021.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
<sup>140</sup> dbdbb8e5-4375-4143-a3bb7c6455f398de.pdf (rsph.org.uk)
141 https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-
COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
142 Ibid
143 Ibid
144 Ibid
145 Ibid
146 Ibid
147 https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-
11/A%20vision%20for%20population%20health%20online%20version.pdf
148 summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
149 Every Mind Matters - NHS (www.nhs.uk)
150 Loneliness and Mental Health report - UK | Mental Health Foundation
position-statement-ps01-21---social-prescribing---2021.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-
COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
153 Ibid
154 summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
156 Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years On - The Health Foundation
157 Ibid
158 Ibid
159 Ibid
160 Ibid
161 Ibid
<sup>162</sup> summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
163 Ibid
164 Ibid
```

```
165 Ibid
166 Ibid
167 Ibid
168 Ibid
169 Ibid
170 Ibid
171 Ibid
172 Ibid
<sup>173</sup> college-report-cr225.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
174 Ibid
175 Ibid
176 Ibid
177 Ibid
178 Ibid
179 Ibid
180 Ibid
181 summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
182 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adultpsychiatric-morbidity-
survey/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey-survey-ofmental-health-and-wellbeing-england-2014
183 Thriving at Work: the Stevenson/Farmer review on mental health and employers
(publishing.service.gov.uk)
<sup>184</sup> summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
185 NHS England » Next steps for integrating primary care: Fuller stocktake report
186 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/race-report-healing-divided-britain
187 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4984732/
<sup>188</sup> https://www.bmj.com/content/328/7436/367.4
189 https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/PS01 18a.pdf
190 https://bit.ly/2NfJE6X
191 https://www.mind.org.uk/media/498970/commissioningexcellence web-version-2.pdf
192 https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/the-british-journal-of-psychiatry/article/ethnic-variations-
in-pathways-to-and-use-of-specialist-mental-health-services-in-the-
uk/0B6DFE350FD0760DF9F43D48A8FAFAAB/core-reader
<sup>193</sup> Ethnicity and the Mental Health Act 1983 | The British Journal of Psychiatry | Cambridge Core
<sup>194</sup> Mental health care for Asian, black and white patients with non-affective psychoses: pathways to
the psychiatric hospital, in-patient and after-care | Semantic Scholar
195 https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/the-british-journal-of-psychiatry/article/patients-views-
and-readmissions-1-vear-after-involuntary-
hospitalisation/2C6538406FCD72D283EAAF9C89F1010E/core-reader
<sup>196</sup> Care Quality Commission looks ahead as last Count me in census is published - Care Quality
Commission (cgc.org.uk).
197 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-
survey/adult-psychiatric-morbidity-survey-survey-of-mental-health-and-wellbeing-england-2014
198 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-act-statistics-
annual-figures/mental-health-act-statistics-annual-figures-2016-17-experimental-statistics
<sup>199</sup> amhe-resource.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
<sup>200</sup> NHS England » Advancing mental health equalities
<sup>201</sup> position-statement-ps02-21---detention-of-people-with-mental-disorders-in-immigration-removal-
centres---2021.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
NHS Long Term Plan » Children and young people's mental health services
<sup>203</sup>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7
78897/M odernising the Mental Health Act - increasing choice reducing compulsion.pdf
<sup>204</sup> https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20170720 stateofmh report.pdf
```

- ²⁰⁵ https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/improving-care/nccmh/sexual-safety-collaborative
- ²⁰⁶ RCPsych analysis of CQC provider ratings, July 2022.
- ²⁰⁷ RCPsych analysis of CQC provider ratings, July 2022.
- ²⁰⁸ NHS England » Learning from deaths in the NHS
- ²⁰⁹ repsych mortality review guidance.pdf
- 210 Mental Health Children and Young People's Services Getting It Right First Time GIRFT
- ²¹¹ Improving care (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- 212 Advancing Mental Health Equality | Royal College of Psychiatrists (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ²¹³ Our Mission (choosingwisely.org)
- ²¹⁴ MindEd Hub
- https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
- ²¹⁶ RCPsych. Outcome Measures in Psychiatry. (currently unpublished)
- ²¹⁷ position-statement-ps03-21-climate-and-ecological-emergencies-2021.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ²¹⁸ Greener NHS » National ambition (england.nhs.uk)
- 219 B1728-delivering-a-net-zero-nhs-july-2022.pdf (england.nhs.uk)
- ²²⁰ Hope and Horizon NHS Children's Woodland Retreat Blue Forest
- 221 Doctors' early retirement triples in a decade | The BMJ
- ²²² Microsoft Word Front Cover 2019 (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ²²³ Microsoft Word RCPsych COVID 19 fifth survey summary other issues
- How would you rate morale across your multidisciplinary team in the last 3 months | Mental Health Watch (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ²²⁵ summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- Premature mortality in adults with severe mental illness (SMI) GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- Premature mortality in adults with severe mental illness (SMI) GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- summary-of-evidence-on-pmh-interventions-june-2022.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ps01_22.pdf (repsych.ac.uk)
- 230 Singles-MMH 3273 Our Report LiveCopy DIGITAL SINGLE.pdf (moneyandmentalhealth.org)

 231 Draft Mental Health Bill 2022 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- ²³²https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins /suicidesintheunitedkingdom/2020registrations
- ²³³ Self-harm and suicide in adults (CR229) (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- 234 MBRRACE-UK Maternal CORE Report 2021 FINAL.pdf (ox.ac.uk).
 235 MBRRACE-UK: Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and Confidential Enquiries across the UK | NPEU (ox.ac.uk)
- 236 Statistics » Children and Young People with an Eating Disorder Waiting Times (england.nhs.uk)
- ²³⁷ Mental Health of Children and Young People in England 2021 wave 2 follow up to the 2017 survey - NHS Digital

 238 Health and social care review: leadership for a collaborative and inclusive future - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- ²³⁹ NHS Long Term Plan v1.2 August 2019
- 240 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-mental-health-dashboard/
- ²⁴¹ development-of-the-mental-health-investment-standard---recommendations-november-2020.pdf (hfma.org.uk)
- https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gdp-deflators-at-market-prices-and-money-gdp-june-2022-quarterly-national-accounts
- ²⁴³https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/6 07725/N aylor review.pdf
- 244 https://nhsproviders.org/media/689187/mental-health-services-meeting-the-need-forcapitalinvestment.pdf.
- ²⁴⁵ Delirium and the risk of developing dementia: a cohort study of 12 949 patients | Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry (bmi.com)

246
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/8
35657/he alth-infrastructure-plan.pdf

247 https://procure22.nhs.uk/

- ²⁴⁸ https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-confirms-37-billion-for-40-hospitals-in-biggest-hospital-buildingprogramme-in-a-generation
- ²⁴⁹ https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/writtenquestion/Commons/2020-06-16/59733/
- 250 https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/writtenquestion/Commons/2020-06-16/59733/
- https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-2022-to-2023/public-health-ringfenced-grant-2022-to-2023-local-authority-circular#:~:text=In%202022%20to%20203%2C%20the,or%20indirectly%20from%20COVID%2D1
- ²⁵² Local authority revenue expenditure and financing GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- 253 https://files.digital.nhs.uk/pdf/r/1/adult psychiatric study ch10 web.pdf
- 254 https://files.digital.nhs.uk/pdf/3/k/adult psychiatric study ch11 web.pdf
- 255 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-two-report/review-ofdrugs-part-two-prevention-treatment-and-recovery
- ²⁵⁶ https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/members/your-faculties/addictionspsychiatry/training-in-addiction-psychiatry-current-status-and-future-prospects
- Review of drugs part two: prevention, treatment, and recovery GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- 258 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/record-36-billion-investment-to-reform-nhs-and-social-care
- 259 https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/fair-funding-for-mental-health
- ²⁶⁰ https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/gdp-deflators-at-market-prices-and-money-gdp-june-2022-quarterly-national-accounts
- Modernising the Mental Health Act final report from the independent review GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- ²⁶² NHS England » Lord Carter's review into unwarranted variations in mental health and community health services
- ²⁶³ What Good Looks Like framework What Good Looks Like NHS Transformation Directorate (nhsx.nhs.uk)
- ²⁶⁴ Mental health digital playbook Digital playbooks NHS Transformation Directorate (nhsx.nhs.uk)
- ²⁶⁵ NHS England » Global Digital Exemplars
- ²⁶⁶ Digital Aspirants Key tools and information NHS Transformation Directorate (nhsx.nhs.uk)
- 267 NHS Accelerated Access Collaborative » Innovation and Technology Payment (england.nhs.uk)
- ²⁶⁸https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2022-05-23/6740
- 269 https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2021-10-15/57046
- 270 medical-clinical-academic-staffing-levels-2017.pdf (medschools.ac.uk)
- ²⁷¹https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5 56596/apms-2014-full-rpt.pdf
- ²⁷² board-item-5-251121-update-on-mental-health-services.pdf (england.nhs.uk)
- 273 NHS Workforce Statistics January 2022 (Including selected provisional statistics for February 2022) NHS Digital
- 274 Stepping forward to 202021 The mental health workforce plan for england.pdf (hee.nhs.uk)
- ²⁷⁵ NHS Long Term Plan » NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan 2019/20 2023/24
- ²⁷⁶ Microsoft Word Front Cover 2019 (repsych.ac.uk)
- ²⁷⁷ Microsoft Word Front Cover 2019 (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ²⁷⁸ Microsoft Word Front Cover 2019 (rcpsych.ac.uk)
- ²⁷⁹ https://data.gmc-uk.org/gmcdata/home/#/reports/The Register/Stats/report
- 280 20210127 mhareport printer.pdf (cqc.org.uk)
- 281 https://data.gmc-uk.org/gmcdata/home/#/reports/The Register/Stats/report
- ²⁸² Reforming the Mental Health Act: government response to consultation: impact assessment (publishing.service.gov.uk)

²⁸⁴ 40 per cent of all GP appointments about mental health | Mind, the mental health charity - help for mental health problems

Contact

The College would be happy to provide further detail on any of the information contained within this paper and would welcome feedback on these proposals. We recognise this is an iterative process and, as such, we will be building on our recommendations over the coming months. You can find the version number and date on the front cover of this briefing.

Holly Paulsen, Deputy Head of Policy and Campaigns, Royal College of Psychiatrists Holly.Paulsen@rcpsych.ac.uk

Emily Gibbons, President Policy Support Officer, Royal College of Psychiatrists Emily.Gibbons@rcpsych.ac.uk

²⁸³ Estimating the impact of the proposed reforms to the Mental Health Act on the workload of psychiatrists | The Strategy Unit (strategyunitwm.nhs.uk)

²⁸⁵ amhe-resource.pdf (rcpsych.ac.uk)